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Highlights in 2018

The new plant of Harvest Epoch in Haining, Zhejiang was

constructed and has commenced operation.

New plant of Harvest Epoch in Haining

The new plant of Jiaxing Steel Barrels was constructed
and has commenced operation, which passed the supplier

qualification verification by Covestro and BASF.

v e — ol

Supplier qualification verification of Jiaxing Steel Barrels

CPMC Holdings Limited

CPMC Investment Co., Ltd. cooperated with Haoneng Group,
a shareholder of lllochroma Haoneng Belgium, to invest in the
establishment of a two-piece can factory in Belgium with
an aim to provide aluminum packaging service for world-
renowned beer and beverage brands; Mr. Vink Marc, the
Belgian Ambassador to China, warmly met Mr. Zhang Xin, the
Chairman of CPMC, and expressed the full support from the
government of Belgium for the implementation of the project.

The Belgium Ambassador to China met the chairman of CPMC

The second production line of the plant-within-a-plant of
Longjiang Feihe has commenced operation.

The second production line of the plant-within-a-plant of Feihe



Highlights in 2018

CONTENTS
CPMC Tianjin was awarded Outstanding
Supplier by Yili for the fourth consecutive
year and received the Quality Control
Award from Unilever. CPMC Panyu was
awarded Outstanding Supplier by Lanju.
Awarded Outstanding Supplier by Yili Awarded Quality Control Awarded Outstanding |N28FF({|\F;|(/JXFT%T5

Award from Unilever Supplier by Lanju

CPMC Tianjin won the Award of Tianjin I -33“1;1
Advanced Enterprises with Foreign =
Investment. CPMC Hangzhou won the % 3 5 R o M
Hi-Tech Enterprise Certificate, issued ,|:)j s i
. . . e §
jointly by Zhejiang Provincial Department i saem wasmewamen EE89. s
f . Il mesm, sns%nnmnn Aum =n |T
of Science and Technology, Zhejiang P - HIGHLIGHTS
Provincial Department of Finance and { IN 2018
by 7
Zhejiang Provincial Office of the State [iet S
Administration of Taxation for the firsttime.  Awarded Tianjin Advanced Enterprises Awarded Hi-Tech Enterprise Certificate

with Foreign Investment

CPMC won the title of “Most Valuable
Small & Mid-Cap Company” in Golden
Hong Kong Stocks Awards 2017.

CHAIRMAN'S
LETTER

Awarded “Most Valuable Small & Mid-Cap Company”

GENERAL
MANAGER'S
REPORT
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Chairman’s Letter

CPMC Holdings Limited




Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”)
of CPMC Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | am
pleased to present the audited annual results of
the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the
“Group” or “CPMC?”) for the year ended 31 December
2018 (the “Year”).

In 2018, the global economy experienced volatility and
slowdown due to protectionism. In the face of a complex
and grim external environment, the government of
the PRC adhered to the keynote of pursing progress
while maintaining stability, focusing on the supply-side
reform to advance the structural adjustments to the
economy. The three tough battles, namely major risk
prevention and resolution, targeted poverty alleviation
and pollution prevention, have achieved a good start,
and consumption has played an increasing role as a key
economic growth driver. In 2018, the economy of the
PRC continued to run within a reasonable range, with a
6.6% GDP growth rate. During the Year, the per capita
disposable income of domestic residents increased by
8.7%, outpacing the GDP growth, and the total retail
sales of consumer goods grew by 9.0%.

In 2018, with the advancement of “cutting overcapacity,
reducing excess inventory, deleveraging, lowering
costs and strengthening areas of weakness”, upstream
commodity prices remained at high levels, causing
the prices of raw materials such as tinplate and plastic
particles to rise further. With growing concentration and
slowdown of the downstream market, the midstream
packaging industry was slowly passing on the rising
costs to the downstream customers, posing challenges
to the short-term performance of the industry. With
continuously shifting competition pattern, China’s
packaging sectors, though at different stages, were
gradually changing for the better. The tinplate packaging
and plastic packaging sectors, currently in the early
stage of integration, are relatively segmented and
dominated by small and medium-sized enterprises
and low-end production capacity. We believe that with
the strict implementation of safety and environmental
measures and the promotion of consumption upgrade,
inferior production capacity will be phased out. The
aluminium packaging sector is highly concentrated.
Driven by the rapid growth of downstream demand after
2010, many players scrambled to expand production
capacity of two-piece cans, causing supply to grow
faster than demand in a short period of time and thus
intensifying competition. Since the prices of raw and
auxiliary materials bounced in 2016, the sector has
been shifting from craze to rationality under profitability
pressure, and the survival of the fittest has begun. The
steady growth and diversification of demand have also
digested some excess capacity. Presently, the landscape
of the packaging industry is becoming clearer. Foreign-
funded enterprises are withdrawing from the Chinese
market due to declining competitiveness, while domestic
weak players are being merged and marginalised.
And high-quality players are carefully expanding and
integrating. Overall, the industry is recovering and
profitability is expected to improve. Rooted in the

Chairman’s Letter

domestic market, the Group seized opportunities from
the Belt and Road Initiative and closely cooperated
with international famous brand customers for overseas
expansion with advantageous products. In the Year, the
Group launched the first overseas project to promote the
internationalisation of packaging business. The project is
now running smoothly. Meanwhile, the Group continued
to strengthen technological innovation, improve supply
chain competitiveness, make benchmarking-based
improvements, strictly control costs with multiple
measures, enhance operation and management level
and labour efficiency, undertake corporate social
responsibility, and carry out safety and environmental
protection work to maintain green environment and
conserve water.

Looking ahead, in view of the changes in the
competitive landscape of the packaging industry and
the balance between supply and demand, the overall
profitability of the packaging industry is expected to
improve. Under such a context, the Group will actively
tackle the challenges and seize the opportunities by
continuing to expand market segments with potential
and enhance capacity deployment, strengthening
industry synergies, conducting R&D and boosting
innovation for continuous improvement in the
competitiveness and performance of the Company.

Lastly, on behalf of the Board, | wish to express
our sincere gratitude to the management and all
the staff of the Group for their valuable service and
contribution during the past year. | would also like
to express our heartfelt gratitude to our customers,
suppliers, business partners, and shareholders for
their continuous support to the Group.

Zhang Xin
Chairman of the Board
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| am pleased to present to shareholders that for the year
ended 31 December 2018, the Group’s sales revenue
was approximately RMB6,591 million, representing a
year-on-year increase of approximately 10.3%; and the
profit attributable to shareholders of the Company was
approximately RMB255 million, representing a decrease
of approximately 17.9% from RMB311 million in 2017.
The basic earnings per share for the year ended 31
December 2018 amounted to RMBO0.22.

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend
of RMBO0.048 (equivalent to HK 5.6 cents) (2017:
RMBO0.061 (equivalent to HK 7.5 cents)) per ordinary
share for the year ended 31 December 2018, subject
to the approval to be obtained at the annual general
meeting to be held on 3 June 2019. The proposed final
dividend will be distributed on or after 26 June 2019 to
the shareholders of the Company whose names appear
on the shareholders’ register on 13 June 2019.

A year of forging ahead against adversity for CPMC, the
year 2018 witnessed a complex and changing external
environment, fierce market competition and persistent
high raw material prices, but the overall profitability of
the industry gradually improved due to further industry
consolidation and the rebalancing of demand and
supply in downstream product segments. The Group
internally focused on benchmarking management, and
innovation, whereas externally attached great importance
to the needs of strategic customers in line with market
changes. Leveraging our differentiated premium
products and services as well as innovative cooperation
model, the Group achieved steady sales revenue growth
and maintained a reasonable profit margin in 2018.
Meanwhile, an agreement was signed for the Group’s
first overseas project to introduce a brand-new two-piece
can production line in Belgium, aiming to offer products
an services to our European customers in the first half
of 2020.

The Group has been in the tinplate packaging business
for a long time, with an array of products targeting
different market segments. The advancement of
supply-side reform and the increasing concentration
of downstream industry, coupled with the prices of
major raw materials still hovering at a high level in
2018 since the sharp rebound in prices from the
third quarter of 2016, imposed great challenges to
packaging companies. To address them, the Group
differentiated product markets to focus on expanding
into market segments with considerable potential and
paid close attention to the need of strategic customers
by developing and launching tailored new products and
tightening control of quality and delivery, thus leading
to an approximately 7.7% increase in the sales revenue
of tinplate packaging business. Differentiated products
such as steel barrels, three-piece beverage cans, round
and square shaped cans all recorded a double-digit
growth in sales revenue.

During the year, due to the rapid growth of the Group’s
two-piece can and one-piece can products, aluminium
packaging business registered a year-on-year growth
of approximately 12.7% in sales revenue and slightly
improved profitability. In the aluminium two-piece can
segment, as ORG acquired Ball Asia Pacific’s business
in China and the industry consolidation carried out in
an orderly manner to gradually rebalance demand and
supply, the Group steadily promoted the unleashing of
acquired capacity, continued to sharpen our competitive
edge in the industry by addressing the market demand
for product variety, high quality and multiple batches

General Manager’s Report

in an joint effort to support the sound and rational
development of the industry. Meanwhile, the Group
seized the right opportunity at the right time, resulting in
an approximately 12.6% increase in sales revenue from
the two-piece can business during the year. In the one-
piece can segment, the Group persistently concentrated
on the enhancement of manufacturing capacity and
actively tapped into the market of potential customers,
achieving outstanding results in both production
and sales and recording a year-on-year growth of
approximately 13.8% in sales revenue.

In the plastic packaging segment, the Company
continued to reinforce the cooperation with customers
in the household chemical product market while further
developing the non-household chemical product market,
posting a strong growth in sales revenue gained from
customers in food and condiments sectors. The Group
continued to refine the customer structure, facilitated
new product research and development, explored new
customers and product items, and stepped up efforts
to carry out plant-within-a-plant collaborative projects
so as to enhance customer stickiness. In 2018, sales
revenue from the plastic packaging business increased
by approximately 15.8% year on year.

During the year, as the related parties of the JDB project
failed to perform their commitment to capital injection
under the agreement, the Group stepped up its effort
in response to the challenge by ceasing to supply cans
to JDB and promptly adjusting our order structure with
increased supplies to other quality customers during
the second and third quarter of the year. In addition,
we sought for legal actions to ensure proper protection
of our shareholders’ and the Company’s interests,
while maintaining close communication with related
parties to explore and negotiate a deal for resolving the
issue. Considering the dedication of the newly formed
management team of JDB to streamlining human
resource structure, consolidation of sales channels
and improvement of management standard in the
subsequent period, the Group gradually resumed
supplying cans to JDB from the end of September,
provided that JDB agrees on a “cash before delivery”
basis, to help maintain its inventory level and prepare for
the peak season of the retail industry during the Lunar
New Year with a view to protecting our brand value and
the benefits arising from the long-term cooperation.

Looking ahead, China’s steady economic growth and
continuous improvement in residential consumption
will create great opportunities for further development
of the downstream consumer good packaging sector.
Meanwhile, changes in the competitive landscape will
further highlight the competitive edge of the quality
enterprises in the sector. The Group will pay close
attention to the market changes at home and abroad
and take actions accordingly, pursue opportunities in
different market segments, carry out benchmarking
for enhancement in response to increasing industry
concentration, make full use of production capacity,
strictly control investment return, gain the advantage
of product differentiation, reinforce environmental and
safety protection, fulfil social responsibilities and adhere
to quality development, thus benefitting our customers
by providing premium products and delivering greater
value for shareholders.

Zhang Ye
Executive Director and General Manager
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Business Introduction

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacturing and sale of packaging products used for consumer
goods such as food, beverages and household chemical products, extensively covering the packaging markets
of tea beverages, carbonated beverages, fruit and vegetable beverages, beer, dairy products, household
chemical products and other consumer goods. In addition, the Group provides comprehensive packaging
solutions including high technological packaging design, printing, logistics and comprehensive customer
services. As a leading metal packaging provider in the PRC, the Group is committed to developing into the
leader of the comprehensive consumer goods packaging industry in the PRC. The products of the Group mainly
include tinplate packaging, aluminium packaging and plastic packaging. The Group carries out operations
through 32 operating subsidiaries, an associate, a joint venture and their branches which are strategically
located in different regions of the PRC in order to serve customers more efficiently. Ranking first in multiple
market segments, the Group has earned the appreciation and trust of many well-known brands domestically
and abroad, and established a solid customer base, including domestically and internationally renowned high-
end consumer goods manufacturers.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Tinplate Packaging

The Group uses tinplate as the primary raw material for its tinplate packaging, the products of which include
milk powder cans, aerosol cans, metal caps, steel barrels, three-piece beverage cans, round and square
shaped cans, printed and coated tinplate and other metal packaging. The Group is in a leading position in a
number of market segments such as milk powder cans and twist caps.

In 2018, tinplate prices experienced a drastic rise. With a significant year-on-year increase in 2017, the price
of tinplate during the year increased by approximately 7.2%, posing greater challenges to the overall profit
from tinplate packaging products. The Group actively responded to the issue and achieved growth in both the
sales and revenue from most tinplate packaging products. As at 31 December 2018, the sales revenue from
the Group’s tinplate packaging business amounted to approximately RMB3,522 million (2017: approximately
RMB3,269 million), representing an increase of approximately 7.7% from 2017, and accounted for approximately
53.4% of the total sales (2017: approximately 54.7%). Due to the slight delay in the passing of the rapidly rising
cost of raw materials to the selling price of products, the gross profit margin of the tinplate packaging business
in 2018 was approximately 14.1% (2017: approximately 16.5%).

Milk Powder Cans

Milk powder cans are mainly used for the packaging of infant formula milk powder, health food and other
products. The Group is the largest milk powder can manufacturer in the PRC. In 2018, the sales revenue from
the milk powder can business amounted to approximately RMB594 million (2017: approximately RMB570
million), representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 4.2%. Since the implementation of the formula
milk powder registration system a year ago, the brand concentration in the domestic market has been higher,
the market shares of domestic brands have gradually increased, and the overall demand has remained stable
and seen an upward trend occasionally. Aligning closely with the opportunities arising from the accelerating
market consolidation amid the new policy environment, the Group increased its investment in key areas and
gave full play to the advantage of the factory-within-a-factory business. The Group also catered to the needs of
major customers and provided differentiated products and services accordingly to further enhance customer
stickiness and garner the appreciation of branded customers. Renowned customers of the Group’s milk powder
cans include Yili, Feihe Dairy, Junlebao, Mengniu and Nestle.

Aerosol Cans

Aerosol cans are primarily used for the packaging of household chemical products (e.g. car maintenance
products, air fresheners, personal care products and pesticides) and other chemical products. The Group
strengthened its strategic cooperation with the leading enterprises in the industry segments, explored
business opportunities in the regional markets, developed new products, and increased production capacity
at a moderate pace to prepare for subsequent development. In 2018, the Group recorded sales revenue of
approximately RMB355 million (2017: approximately RMB382 million), representing a year-on-year decrease
of approximately 7.1%. Renowned customers of the Group’s aerosol cans include Gunuo Tianjin, Shenzhen
Rainbow, Johnson Shanghai, Zhongshan Lanju and Hebei Kangda.

Metal Caps

Metal caps include twist caps and crown caps. In 2018, the Group’s sales revenue from the metal cap business
amounted to approximately RMB472 million (2017: approximately RMB455 million), representing a year-on-
year increase of approximately 3.7%. In prompt response to the market changes, the Group actively facilitated
the application of new international standards in its twist cap business and improved the sales and profitability
of products by leveraging the technical advantage of new product research and development. Renowned
customers of the Group’s metal caps include Haiday, Jiajiahong, Chubang, Lao Gan Ma, Anheuser-Busch
InBev, China Resources Snow Beer and Tsingtao Brewery.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Steel Barrels

The Group produces steel barrels with a volume of 200 litres or above, which are mainly used for carrying
raw food ingredients (e.g. bulk edible oil) and chemical products. In 2018, the Group continued to promote
the development of and cooperation with international brand customers, improved the order share of quality
customers, coordinated production and marketing activities precisely, promoted the unleashing of new
production capacity effectively, ensured the quality and timely delivery of products, increased investment in
environmental protection, strengthened price management and obtained the trust of major customers. The sales
revenue was approximately RMB815 million (2017: approximately RMB677 million), representing a year-on-year
increase of approximately 20.4%. Renowned customers of the Group’s steel barrels include Sinopec, Exxon
Mobil, PetroChina, BASF, COFCO and Yihai Kerry.

Three-Piece Beverage Cans (Three-Piece Cans)

Three-piece beverage cans (“three-piece cans”) are used widely for the packaging of protein drinks, energy
drinks, mixed congee, fruit and vegetable juice, coffee, etc. The Group paid attention to the new products
opportunities of the downstream market closely, served major customers actively and increased the supply
proportion of quality customers diligently. The sales revenue from three-piece cans was approximately RMB528
million (2017: approximately RMB461 million), representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 14.5%.
Renowned customers of the Group’s three-piece beverage cans include Red Bull, Yangyuan, Yili, Yinlu and
Lulu.

Round and Square Shaped Cans

The Group’s round and square shaped cans products are mainly used in the packaging of various chemical
oil paint, paint and small package of oils and fats products, etc. In 2018, the Group promoted the application
of new craft and technology internally, continually reduced cost and improved efficiency, strengthened
the development of new customers and price management externally, and achieved rapid growth in sales
performance. During the year, the Group’s sales revenue from round and square shaped cans business was
approximately RMB254 million (2017: approximately RMB220 million), representing a year-on-year increase of
approximately 15.5%. Renowned customers of the Group’s round and square shaped cans include Whistler
Group, Akzo Nobel, Carpoly, Foster and Yihai Kerry.

Printed and Coated Tinplates

The Group’s printed and coated tinplates are mainly used in various gift candy boxes, food, chemicals, caps,
batteries and other electronic and electric appliances (e.g. rice cookers). The products are also used to satisfy
the Group’s internal demand arising from the manufacture of cans (i.e. milk powder cans and three-piece
beverage cans) and metal caps (i.e. twist caps and crown caps). In 2018, the Group’s total production capacity
of printed and coated tinplates increased by approximately 6.2% year on year. Limited by the increased internal
demand, external sales revenue from the printed and coated tinplates business was approximately RMB311
million (2017: approximately RMB350 million), representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately 11.1%.
Renowned customers of the Group’s printed and coated tinplates include ORG, Supor, Lao Gan Ma, T.G.
Battery and Panasonic.

CPMC Holdings Limited



Management Discussion and Analysis

Aluminium Packaging

The Group uses aluminium as the main raw material for its aluminium packaging products, which mainly
include two-piece beverage cans (two-piece cans) and one-piece cans. Aluminium packaging products are
characterised by a high degree of automatic production and full product recyclability, etc., and have been one
of the core business developments of the Company in recent years.

In 2018, aluminium price remained at a high level, but decreased slightly since the third quarter. Demand
from the domestic two-piece cans industry maintained steady growth, but newly-added production capacity
was limited and the landscape of industry supply and demand gradually improved. The Group promoted the
steady unleashing of new production capacity from mergers and acquisitions, developed multi-can-type supply
capacity, dealt with market changes, adjusted order structure and proactively focused on overseas expansion
opportunities. Meanwhile, the Group continued to improve the production efficiency of one-piece cans, leading
to a continuous growth in sales revenue of aluminium packaging products. In 2018, the Group’s sales revenue
from aluminium packaging was approximately RMB2,461 million (2017: approximately RMB2,184 million),
representing an increase of approximately 12.7% over 2017, and accounted for approximately 37.4% of the
total sales (2017: approximately 36.5%). Gross profit margin of the aluminium packaging business in 2018 was
approximately 16.4% (2017: approximately 16.2%).

Two-piece Beverage Cans (Two-piece Cans)

Two-piece cans products are primarily used for the packaging of beers, carbonated drinks and tea beverages.
Since 2018, total market demand continued to maintain growth, and trend for product diversification demand
began to emerge. However, newly-added production capacity was limited, adjustment frequency of production
line model-switching increased, and industry supply and demand dynamics became more balanced.
Meanwhile, as industry consolidation continued to progress in an orderly way, the whole two-piece can industry
developed steadily. The Group steadily implemented the commissioning of a new production line of its acquired
Haining-Jihong and gradually unleashed production capacity in the second half of 2018 to meet market
demand. The Group also closely focused on overseas market opportunities, on 12 December 2018, the Group’s
subsidiary and Jiaxing Haoneng entered into a framework agreement, intending to set up a joint venture and
establish a two-piece can factory in Belgium to provide quality products and services for local customers in
the beer and beverage industries. In 2018, the Group’s sales revenue from the two-piece can business was
approximately RMB2,280 million (2017: approximately RMB2,025 million), representing a year-on-year increase
of approximately 12.6%. Renowned customers of the Group’s two-piece cans include Snow Beer, Coca-Cola,
Anheuser-Busch InBev, Tsingtao Brewery and JDB.

One-Piece Cans

One-piece cans products are primarily used for the packaging of household chemical products, beers,
carbonated drinks and medical products. The Group continued to invest in research on and development
of market segments, strengthened strategic cooperation with leading enterprises in the industry, and further
improved production capacity and delivery capability while continuing to focus on the development of new
products and new customers. In 2018, the Group’s sales revenue from one-piece cans was approximately
RMB181 million (2017: approximately RMB159 million), representing a year-on-year increase of approximately
13.8%. Renowned customers of the Group’s one-piece cans include Anheuser-Busch InBev, Tsingtao Brewery,
Carlsberg, and South Ocean (F)¥Z43E), etc.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Plastic Packaging

The Group’s plastic packaging products are mainly used for the packaging of personal care, household
chemical and food and beverage products. In 2018, the Group continued to enhance customer and order
structure, improve production efficiency and product quality, and further secured its dominant position in
the household chemical products market by further boosting automation and implementing the plant-within-
plant model. The Group also expanded the food customer market rapidly and increased the revenue of
plastic business so as to improve the profitability. The sales revenue from the plastic packaging business was
approximately RMB608 million in 2018 (2017: approximately RMB525 million), representing a year-on-year
increase of approximately 15.8%, and accounted for approximately 9.2% of the total revenue (the same period
of 2017: approximately 8.8%). Due to the initial investment in new plants and accounting adjustments, the gross
profit margin of the plastic packaging business in 2018 was approximately 11.7% (the same period of 2017:
approximately 12.7%). Renowned customers of the Group’s plastic packaging include P&G, Blue Moon, Reckitt
Benckiser, Haiday, Pigeon and Heinz.

Outlook for 2019

In 2019, with the continuous improvement in people’s living standards, consumption, as the major driver of
economic growth, will continue to push forward the steady growth of the Chinese economy. Meanwhile, the
gradual balance between supply and demand in relevant industries, the improving competitive landscape
and the stable prices of raw materials can also boost the quality development of enterprises. The Group will
keep closely aligned with customers’ needs, dig opportunities in the industry, consolidate the market position
of advantageous and profitable products, develop potential markets, give full play to the synergies of multi-
product lines, promote the unleashing of new production capacity, continue to enhance the deployment of
production capacity and ensure the sound implementation of overseas projects while keeping domestic
footprints. The Group will solve the JDB project disputes properly, serve customers with quality products and
reward shareholders with satisfactory performance.

Financial review

For the year ended 31 December 2018, revenue of the Group amounted to approximately RMB6,591 million
(2017: approximately RMB5,978 million), representing an increase of approximately RMB613 million or 10.3%.
The increase in revenue was primarily due to the increase in the sales volume of our products. Gross profit
margin reached approximately 14.7% in the year of 2018 (2017: approximately 16.1%), representing a slight
decrease as compared with the same period in the previous year. The decrease was primarily due to the impact
of the rise in the prices of raw materials.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, net profit amounted to approximately RMB265 million (2017:
approximately RMB312 million), representing a decrease of approximately RMB47 million or 14.9% as compared
to the same period in the previous year, primarily due to the decreased gross profit margin of the products.

GROUP’S PROFIT

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group’s profit before income tax was approximately RMB346 million
(2017: approximately RMB410 million), representing a decrease of approximately RMB64 million or 15.6% as
compared to the same period in the previous year.

Finance costs were approximately RMB90 million (2017: approximately RMB44 million), representing a larger
increase as compared to the same period in the previous year, which was mainly due to the increase in the
financing scale.

Income tax expenses were approximately RMB80 million (2017: approximately RMB98 million). The effective
income tax rate of the Group in 2018 was approximately 23.3% (2017: approximately 24.0%).

CPMC Holdings Limited



Management Discussion and Analysis

CASH FLOW, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND GEARING RATIO

In 2018, the Group’s main sources of funding were cash generated from operating activities and bank loans.

31 December 2018 31 December 2017

RMB (million) RMB (million)
Net assets 5,249 5,292
Cash and cash equivalents 894 711
Total borrowings 4,093 3,248
Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company 4,897 4,976
Current ratio 1.1 1.5
Gearing ratio* 65.3% 51.0%

* The gearing ratio is calculated as net borrowings divided by equity attributable to equity holders of the Company, in
which the net borrowings are calculated as total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had net assets of approximately RMB5,249 million (31 December 2017:
approximately RMB5,292 million). Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company was approximately
RMB4,897 million, which has slightly decreased as compared to approximately RMB4,976 million as at 31
December 2017.

The current ratio and gearing ratio as at 31 December 2018 were approximately 1.1 and approximately 65.3%,
respectively (31 December 2017: approximately 1.5 and approximately 51.0% respectively). The current ratio as
at 31 December 2018 was approximately 1.1, which has decreased by approximately 0.4. It was mainly due to
the fact that certain bank loans will be matured within one year. The increase in gearing ratio from approximately
51.0% as at 31 December 2017 to approximately 65.3% as at 31 December 2018 was mainly due to the
increase in the bank loans of the Company. Interest-bearing bank loans were approximately RMB4,093 million
as at 31 December 2018. The Group did not have any assets that were pledged for the outstanding bank loans
as at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE, COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group’s capital expenditure was approximately RMB658 million,
which was as follows:

RMB Percentage of

million capital expenditure

Acquisition of new companies and related investment 120 18.2%
Investments in a joint venture 78 11.9%
Tinplate project 94 14.3%
Two-piece cans project 148 22.5%
Steel barrels project 67 10.2%
Plastics project 68 10.3%
Other equipment purchases 83 12.6%
Total 658 100.0%

Annual Report 2018

MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
REPORT

ENVIRONMENTAL,
SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE
REPORT

DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR
MANAGEMENT
PROFILE

REPORT OF THE
DIRECTORS

17



MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
REPORT

ENVIRONMENTAL,
SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE
REPORT

DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR
MANAGEMENT
PROFILE

REPORT OF THE
DIRECTORS

18

Management Discussion and Analysis

At 31 December 2018, the Group had total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases falling due as follows:

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’'000
Within one year 5,510 4,624
In the second to fifth years, inclusive 6,959 185
After five years 243 -
12,712 4,809

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had the following capital commitments:
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000

Contracted, but not provided for:

property, plant and equipment 514,337 361,417
capital contribution payable to a joint venture 1,122,759 1,200,935

As at 31 December 2018, save as mentioned above, the Group had no other significant commitments and
contingent liabilities.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group’s main operations are located in China. Other than some of the bank loans and bank deposits
which are denominated in U.S. dollars and Hong Kong dollars, most of the assets, income, payments and cash
balances are denominated in RMB. The Directors consider that exchange rate fluctuations have no significant
impact on the Company’s results.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had 6,743 full-time employees (2017: 6,488), of which approximately 1,815
were engineers and technical staff or employees with higher education backgrounds. The table below shows
the number of employees of the Group by function as at 31 December 2018:

No. of Percentage of total

Function employees no. of employees
Management and Administration 886 13.2%
Sales and Marketing 259 3.8%
Research and Development in Technology and Engineering 798 11.8%
Production and Quality Control 4,800 71.2%
Total 6,743 100.0%

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s total staff cost was approximately RMB626 million, as compared to
RMB572 million in the same period last year. The Group determined the salary of the employees based on their
performance, the standard of salary in the respective regions, and the industry and market conditions. The
benefits of the employees in the mainland China included pension fund, medical insurance, unemployment
insurance, maternity insurance and employment-related injury insurance and housing fund contributions. In
addition to the requirements of the PRC law, the Group has made voluntary contributions to an annuity plan,
which was implemented with effect from 1 January 2009, for the benefit of the Group’s employees when they
reach certain seniority. The benefits of the employees in Hong Kong included mandatory provident fund, life
insurance and medical insurance.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Major risks and uncertainties

In order to stabilise business operation, the Company’s management shows great concern on the risk factors
which the Company may face in its operation. Based on critical risk indicators and through assessment and
analysis, the following major possible risks are identified:

1. Operational risks from macroeconomic control:

Macroeconomic control has considerable impact on downstream companies and will indirectly affect the
sales and profits of packaging companies (including the Group).

2. Operational risks from fluctuations in raw material prices and exchange rates:

Raw material costs represent a relative high proportion in our production costs, hence, fluctuations in raw
material prices will have considerable impact on the generation of profits.

3. Risks from market competition:

With relatively low concentration in our sector, companies with considerable scale and capacity have
viewed further expansion of their production and marketing scale and maximisation of market share as
their main objectives. This will give rise to keen market competition.

4. Risks from food safety:

Failure to meet the national or industrial safety standards in food production will cause food safety issues
to customers. This will give rise to the risks of return of goods or financial losses.

5. Quality risks:

Failure to satisfy the statutory standards or customers’ needs in relation to product quality or performance
will give rise to lot quality problem, of which defective lots or inventories will result in losses.

ARBITRATION

As disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated 6 July 2018 and 9 July 2018, CPMC Investment
Co., Ltd. ("CPMC Investment”), an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the capital
increase agreement (the “Capital Increase Agreement “) with Wong Lo Kat Limited (“Wong Lo Kat”), Wisdom
Kingdom Limited (“Wisdom Kingdom”) and Qingyuan JDB Herbal Plant Technology Co., Ltd.* (E&INZEE AR
EYMREHEERAF]) (“Qingyuan JDB Herbal”) on 30 October 2017 (details of which are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 30 October 2017 and the circular dated 30 November 2017). Nonetheless, since Wong Lo
Kat has not performed its undertaking to inject the JDB Trademarks to Qingyuan JDB Herbal as its asset capital
contribution pursuant to the Capital Increase Agreement, CPMC Investment has filed an arbitration application
to Hong Kong International Arbitration Centre against Wong Lo Kat, Wisdom Kingdom and Qingyuan JDB
Herbal with regard to the aforesaid matter on 6 July 2018 (the “Arbitration”). As at the date of this report, there
was no material development on the Arbitration application. Having considered the legal advice and that the
Arbitration is in a preliminary stage, the Board consider that the ongoing Arbitration is not likely to have material
adverse financial impact upon the Group at this stage. As at the date of this report, the board of directors of
Qingyuan JDB Herbal has been established in accordance with the Capital Increase Agreement and currently
comprises three members, including one member appointed by Wisdom Kingdom, one member appointed by
CPMC Investment and one member appointed by Wong Lo Kat. At the board meeting of Qingyuan JDB Herbal
held in August 2018, the directors representing Wisdom Kingdom and Wong Lo Kat had voted against the
resolution regarding distribution of the Committed Dividend because the Group was undergoing the Arbitration
with Wisdom Kingdom, Wong Lo Kat and Qingyuan JDB Herbal. As such, no Committed Dividend was
recognised pursuant to HKFRSs. Apart from instructing the director representative of CPMC Investment to vote

* For identification purpose only
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Management Discussion and Analysis

for the resolution regarding distribution of the Committed Dividend at the said board meeting of Qingyuan JDB
Herbal, CPMC Investment had also requested for distribution of the Committed Dividend at the general meeting
of Qingyuan JDB Herbal held in August 2018, and sent written requests in this regard to Qingyuan JDB Herbal
during the course of Arbitration but received no reply. Currently, the Group is trying to pursue the Committed
Dividend through the Arbitration. In the event an award is rendered in favor of the Group’s claim for damages,
the Group may receive the amount covering the Committed Dividend. No provision in respect of the Arbitration
was made in the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018. The
Company will keep the shareholders informed on the status of this Arbitration.

MANAGEMENT’S VIEWS ON THE QUALIFIED OPINION

As disclosed on pages 166 to 173 of this annual report, the Company’s auditor, Ernst & Young (“EY”),
expressed a qualified opinion in relation to the impairment assessment (the “Impairment”) of the Group’s
investment in Qingyuan JDB Herbal with carrying amount of RMB1,209,099,000 as at 31 December 2018 since
EY were unable to obtain reliable historical financial information related to Qingyuan JDB Herbal to evaluate
the assumptions adopted by the Company’'s management in their impairment assessment. For EY to conduct
the evaluation, they have to obtain and consider a basket of factors, information and documents, which they
consider necessary but the evidence available to them was limited because they were not appointed as auditor
of Qingyuan JDB Herbal.

Despite there was insufficient reliable historical financial information for EY to assess the Impairment, the
management formed the view that Impairment was not necessary after having considered the following factors:

1. Merits of the Arbitration and Litigation

Despite the Company'’s legal advisors are unable to provide the legal opinions on the anticipated results
of the Arbitration and the litigation application (the “Litigation”) filed by the Group against Wong Lo Kat on
31 August 2018 in relation to preservation of the JDB trademarks owned by Wong Lo Kat in the PRC at this
stage since the trial hearings of both cases have not yet commenced, the management was confidence in
the overall progress and expected a favourable result of the Arbitration and Litigation.

During the period from June 2018 to March 2019, the management had held 9 meetings with its
Arbitration legal advisor. The Arbitration application was made by the Group after having various rounds of
consultation and analysis with its legal advisors and based on the facts, agreements and applicable laws
and regulations of the case. The management believes that the Group’s proposition in the Arbitration has
contractual, legal and reasonable basis in both facts and laws. The Arbitration currently is under progress
in accordance with the timetable stipulated in the Procedure Order. According to the practical experiences
of the Company’s legal advisors, the management is optimistic that there is no unreasonable circumstance
beyond expectation which might adversely affect the Company’s case found at this stage.

During the period from June 2018 to March 2019, the management had held 12 meetings with its Litigation
legal advisor. In order to timely preserve the JDB trademarks and secure the legitimate interest of the
Group, the Group had filed a shareholder’s claim in the court of Guangdong to request Wong Lo Kat to fulfil
its capital contribution obligation in accordance with the Shareholders’ Meeting Resolutions of Qingyuan
JDB Herbal dated 30 November 2017 after having rounds of analysis with the legal advisor on the facts,
laws and regulations of the case, and formed the ideas to carry out the Litigation in the PRC which
could target on the differences between PRC laws and the Hong Kong laws and arbitration rules in the
perspective of parties, litigation claim, liabilities, and legal relationship. After reviewing the claim, the court
of Guangdong supported the Group’s view and rejected Wong Lo Kat's objection on jurisdictional power.
Although Wong Lo Kat has filed a second claim on the objection on jurisdictional power, according to the
practical experiences of the Company’s legal advisor, comprehensive analysis and legal argumentation,
the management is optimistic on the result of the second claim brought by Wong Lo Kat and the result of
the Litigation.

CPMC Holdings Limited



Management Discussion and Analysis

Financial information of JDB Group

Since Wong Lo Kat was obliged to arrange the JDB trademarks to be injected into Qingyuan JDB Herbal
under the Capital Increase Agreement, therefore the updated value of the JDB trademarks was relevant to
the Impairment assessment on Qingyuan JDB Herbal and an updated version of the valuation report on
the JDB trademarks which was prepared for the Group’s investment in Qingyuan JDB Herbal in 2017 (the
“2017 Valuation”) is required for the assessment of the Impairment. However, such updated version of the
2017 Valuation could not be obtained since the JDB trademarks’ owners, namely Wong Lo Kat, Wisdom
Kingdom and their associated companies (collectively, the “JDB Group”), are the disputing parties to the
Group in the Arbitration and Litigation and did not cooperate and provide the JDB trademarks’ owners’
authorization for conducting the reassessment of the JDB trademarks.

As the Group was unable to obtain an updated version of the 2017 Valuation, the management had
alternatively considered the financial information including the profit and loss statements of Qingyuan JDB
Herbal and JDB Group (being the owner of the JDB trademarks whose financial information may reflect
the value of the JDB trademarks to a certain extent) provided by JDB Group in early March 2019 (the “JDB
Financial Information”) in the Impairment assessment.

Pursuant to the Capital Increase Agreement, CPMC Investment and Wong Lo Kat had to inject RMB2 billion
and RMBS billion respectively into Qingyuan JDB Herbal. Such injection comprised (i) contribution to the
registered capital and (ii) contribution to the capital reserve of Qingyuan JDB Herbal. As at the date of this
report, the contribution status of Qingyuan JDB Herbal is as follow:

Percentage Percentage

sharing in sharing in the

Registered the registered Actual paid actual paid up

Shareholder capital capital up capital capital
(USD million) (%) (USD million) (%)

Wisdom Kingdom 40 23.55 40 43.51
CPMC Investment 51.94 30.58 51.94 56.49
Wong Lo Kat 77.91 45.87 0 0
Total 169.85 100.00 91.94 100.00

As at 31 December 2018 and up to the date of this report, CPMC Investment had contributed RMB877.24
million™® in Qingyuan JDB Herbal, among which RMB343.64 million (approximately USD51,940,000)
was applied as full settlement for its contribution to the registered capital of Qingyuan JDB Herbal, and
RMB533.60 million was contributed to the capital reserve of Qingyuan JDB Herbal. On the other hand,
Wong Lo Kat has not yet made any capital contribution into Qingyuan JDB Herbal. Despite Wong Lo Kat
has not paid up its shares in the registered capital of Qingyuan JDB Herbal, the voting rights exercisable
by a shareholder is proportion to the registered capital of the Company under the law of the PRC and the
articles of association of Qingyuan JDB Herbal, no matter such contribution in the registered capital has
been paid up or not. Therefore, Qingyuan JDB Herbal was accounted for as a 30.58%-owned joint venture
of CPMC Investment pursuant to the registered capital of Qingyuan JDB Herbal as set out in the industrial
and business registration record and the articles of association of Qingyuan JDB Herbal.

Note:

The amount of RMB877.24 million is exclusive of an amount of RMB331.9 million, being the value of the aluminum
beverage cans already supplied by the Group as its asset capital contribution in Qingyuan JDB Herbal made pursuant
to the Capital Increase Agreement, which was accounted for “other non-current receivables”. Such asset capital
contribution could not be accounted for share capital contributed to Qingyuan JDB Herbal since the same has not been
valuated due to the on-going Arbitration and the shareholders of Qingyuan JDB Herbal have not agreed on the making
of the valuation report on the said asset capital contribution.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

MANAGEMENT Accordingly, as Qingyuan JDB Herbal could not be accounted for as a subsidiary of the Company and
DISCUSSION EY was not the auditor of Qingyuan JDB Herbal and JDB Group, the Company and EY only have limited
AND ANALYSIS access to the financial records of Qingyuan JDB Herbal as the other shareholders of Qingyuan JDB Herbal,
both being counter-parties to the Group in the Arbitration, did not grant the authorisation of full assessment
to the Company and EY during the Arbitration. Therefore, as the JDB Financial Information received by
the Group was prepared by JDB Group, and EY was not the auditor of Qingyuan JDB Herbal and JDB
Group and was not authorized to have full access to the financial records of Qingyuan JDB Herbal nor any
access to the financial records of JDB Group, EY could not adopt the JDB Financial Information as reliable
historical financial information in its Impairment assessment pursuant to Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
("HKSASs").

ESCES{,‘QLECE Despite the JDB Financial Information was prepared by JDB Group and the Group was unable to verify

REPORT the contents therein since JDB Group is not a public company and there was no available audited
financial information of JDB Group in public domain, the management found no obvious reason to doubt
on the contents of the JDB Financial Information, and considered it as the major source for assessing the
necessity of the Impairment in the absence of an updated 2017 Valuation.

Qingyuan JDB Herbal principally engages in supply of concentrates, aluminum beverage cans and other
raw materials of herbal tea products to members of the JDB Group. Since Wong Lo Kat failed to fulfil its
obligation to inject the JDB Trademarks into Qingyuan JDB Herbal as its asset capital contribution pursuant

to the Capital Increase Agreement, the Group ceased to supply aluminum beverage cans to Qingyuan
Eg\é‘&(ﬁ’mgm“ JDB Herbal in May 2018. After negotiations, the parties resolved in October 2018 that, apart from the asset
GOVERNANCE capital contribution by the Group, the Group must receive the deposit from Qingyuan JDB Herbal in full
REPORT before producing aluminum beverage cans for Qingyuan JDB Herbal. The Group believes that this measure
can control credit risk and can also restore the operation of Qingyuan JDB Herbal as well as JDB Group as
soon as practicable. Save for this suspension, the Group has been supplying aluminum beverage cans to
Qingyuan JDB Herbal pursuant to the Aluminum Beverage Cans Framework Agreement and the Aluminum
Beverage Cans Framework Agreement has been operated normally. For the year ended 31 December
2018, Qingyuan JDB Herbal has purchased aluminum beverage cans from the Group only, which was not
lower than 70% of JDB Group’s annual demand for aluminum beverage cans. Based on the purchase order

of aluminum beverage cans placed by Qingyuan JDB Herbal with the Group, the meetings and interviews
g‘EF:\EBEORSAND conducted between the management of the Company and JDB Group and other information available to
MANAGEMENT the Group, the management believed the business of Qingyuan JBD Herbal has been operated normally.
PROFILE
For the year ended 31 December 2018, Qingyuan JDB Herbal recorded a revenue of approximately
RMB304 million and a net loss of approximately RMB7 million. Such net loss included the adjustment
regarding an increase in depreciation expenses (net of tax effect) of approximately RMB9 million arising
from the difference between fair value and book value of the item of property, plant and equipment at the
acquisition date. Excluding such adjustment, Qingyuan JDB Herbal recorded a net profit of approximately
RMB2 million for the year ended 31 December 2018.

B‘EFE’SCRTTO%FSTHE Comparing the JDB Financial Information with the financial information of JDB Group obtained by the

Group in 2017 during the major transaction of the Investment, the management observed that the
operating performance of JDB Group has been improving over time. Besides, after having reviewed the
actual operation performance of JDB Group as shown in the JDB Financial Information and the amount
of purchase orders placed by JDB Group with the Group, the management believed JDB Group should
be able to maintain its daily operation and have sufficient cash to meet with its daily operation needs.
Furthermore, the Group has also conducted numerous meetings and interviews with the management
of JDB Group to understand its state of operation (including JDB Group’s sale strategy, employees and
expenses reduction measures, etc.) and based on the information available to the Group, the Group
believes that the operation of JDB Group has been improving and thus the fair value of the JDB trademarks
as of 31 December 2018 was unlikely to be materially different from that in the 2017 Valuation.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The management understands and agrees that pursuant to the HKSAs, EY has to make a qualified opinion MANAGEMENT
in its auditor’s report on the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December DISCUSSION
2018 (the “Auditor’'s Report”) since EY could not obtain reliable historical financial information to justify the AND ANALYSIS
management’s assumption on the Impairment assessment. However, since the management was not abide
by HKSAs and could comprehensively take into account all available factors and information (including
those could not be adopted by EY) in determining the necessity of the Impairment, the management
formed the view that the Impairment was unnecessary while EY has scope limitation on the impairment
assessment.

As the qualified opinion was caused by the limited reliable information for assessment of the impairment
of the Group’s investment in Qingyuan JDB Herbal provided to EY, and such unavailability of reliable
information was arose from the Arbitration, the Company believes the qualified opinion can be addressed CORPORATE

and resolved by the closing or settlement of the Arbitration. GOVE@'&,’;&E

The Group will continue to proceed with the Arbitration. After obtaining the parties’ opinions and pursuant
to the applicable arbitration rules, the arbitration tribunal tentatively fixed the first date of hearing on 8
July 2019, and it is likely that the arbitration award will be ready in several months after completion of
the hearing. In the event the award is granted in favour of the Group and orders the injection of the JDB
trademarks into Qingyuan JDB Herbal, the Group will arrange the recognition and enforcement of the
award accordingly.

Apart from the Arbitration, the Group will also actively communicate and discuss with JDB Group to explore ENVRONVENTAL
the opportunity to settle the disputes through other measures and hopefully shorten the time for resolving SOCIAL AND
the disputes. GOVERNANCE

REPORT
In light of the expected timeline of the Arbitration and on the basis that no unforeseeable event or event of
force majeure in relation to the Arbitration takes place, the Company expects the qualified opinion will be
removed in next year’s auditor’s report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE’S VIEWS ON THE QUALIFIED OPINION

Having considered the JDB Financial Information, the work done reported by the management and that the

- . DIRECTORS AND
Group were not aware or notified of any adverse development on the Investment since the announcement of the SENIOR
Company’s 2018 interim results, the Audit Committee did not object the management’s view that the Impairment MANAGEMENT
was not necessary after taking into account the executive Directors and management’s (1) understanding on PROFILE
the operation status of JDB Group; (2) analysis on the Arbitration and Litigation; and (3) consideration on the
proposal of resolving the issues in relation to the Investment.

On the other hand, as EY was not provided with reliable historical financial information related to Qingyuan
JDB Herbal to evaluate the assumptions adopted by the management in its Impairment assessment, the Audit

Committee understands and agrees to EY’s basis for the qualified opinion in the Auditor’s Report.

REPORT OF THE
DIRECTORS
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Corporate Governance Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE
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The Board is fully aware of the importance of corporate ethics in running a successful company and believes
that a good and solid corporate governance framework has given the Company the edge in attracting and
retaining talent, enhancing customers’ loyalty and reinforcing relationships with suppliers, and retaining its
position as a leading manufacturer of packaging products of integrated consumer goods. During the Year, the
Company had adopted all the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out
in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Listing Rules”) as its own code of corporate governance. The Directors consider that since the listing
of the shares of the Company on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on 16 November 2009, save for those disclosed in this annual report, the Company has complied
with the code provisions under the CG Code.

The Board will continue to review and monitor its current corporate practices and procedures of the Company
from time to time and will maintain and further enhance the standard of corporate governance practices of the
Company in order to ensure that formal and transparent procedures are in place to protect and maximise the
interests of the current and potential shareholders, investors, employees, business partners and the community
as a whole.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiries to all Directors,
all the Directors have confirmed that they had complied with the required standards as set out in the Model
Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2018.

CPMC Holdings Limited



Corporate Governance Report

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board composition

The Board is responsible for leading and controlling the business operations of the Group. Decisions made
are in the best interests of the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholder(s)”) and for maximising the
Shareholders’ return. The Directors formulate strategic directions, oversee the operations and monitor the
financial and management performance of the Group as a whole. During the Year and up to the date of this
annual report, the Board comprise a combination of two executive Directors, four non-executive Directors and
three independent non-executive Directors as follow:

Executive Directors:
— Mr. Zhang Xin (Chairman)
— Mr. Zhang Ye (General Manager)

Non-executive Directors:
— Ms. Yu Youzhi

— Mr. Chen Qianzheng

— Mr. Zhou Yuan

— Mr. Shen Tao

Independent non-executive Directors:
— Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo

— Mr. Fu Tingmei

— Mr. Pun Tit Shan

The members of the Board are well-balanced in abilities with each Director having sound industry knowledge,
extensive corporate and strategic planning experience and/or expertise relevant to the business of the Group.

The biographical information of the Directors is set out on pages 64 to 67 of this annual report. Save as
disclosed in the section headed “Directors and Senior Management Profile” in this annual report, there is no
financial, business, family or other material or relevant relationship among members of the Board and senior
management.

The Company has appointed three independent non-executive Directors representing one-third of the Board.
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo, being one of the independent non-executive Directors, has professional qualifications
in accountancy. One of the important duties of the independent non-executive Directors is ensuring and
monitoring the basis for an effective corporate governance framework. Their participation provides adequate
checks and balances to safeguard the interests of the Group and its shareholders, including the review of
continuing connected transactions described in other sections of this annual report. The Board confirms that the
Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors a confirmation of independence
for the year ended 31 December 2018 pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers such Directors
to be independent.

Although each of Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo and Mr. Fu Tingmei served as an independent non-executive Director for
more than nine years, the Board considers that each of Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo and Mr. Fu Tingmei is a person of
integrity and independent in judgement and character. They are independent of management and free from
any business or other relationships or circumstances which could materially interfere with the exercise of their
independent judgement. The Board considers that each of Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo and Mr. Fu Tingmei meets the
independent guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and is of the view that their independence is
not affected by their long service with the Company.
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Functions of the Board
The Board is responsible for overseeing the management of the Company’s business and affairs with the goal
of maximising the Shareholders’ return. The Board has the following major duties:

° determination of all the corporate matters;

e Dbe responsible for the management, direction and supervision of the business of the Group;
e to ensure the effectiveness of the Group’s financial reporting and compliance;

e formulation of business strategies and business plans;

e planning and overseeing mergers, acquisitions or divestments and other major capital expenditure
projects;

° internal control and risk management;
e  evaluation of the performance of the Group and the senior management; and
e be responsible for the annual and interim financial results and shareholder communications.

The Board, led by the chairman of the Company (the “Chairman”), is responsible for the leadership and control
of the Company, formulation of overall strategies and policies, evaluation of the performance of the Group and
management, and approval of matters or transactions of a material nature or those requiring disclosure under
the Listing Rules.

The management, under the leadership of the general manager of the Company (the “General Manager”), is
responsible for the business and day-to-day operations of the Group and implementation of the strategies and
policies set by the Board. The General Manager is responsible for overseeing and monitoring the operations of
business units or functional divisions.

Delegation by the Board

To assist the Board in the execution of its duties and facilitate effective management, certain functions of the
Board have been delegated by the Board to an audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), a remuneration
committee (the “Remuneration Committee”), a nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”), a risk
management committee (the “Risk Management Committee”) and the senior management. On 23 October
2009, the Board approved the forming of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee upon the listing of the Shares on the Stock Exchange. On 22 December 2016, the Board approved
the formation of the Risk Management Committee. The Board delegates the authority and responsibility of
the daily operations, business strategies and day-to-day management to the General Manager and senior
management. The final decision(s) are still under the control of the Board unless otherwise provided for in the
terms of reference of the four committees.

Chairman and General Manager

Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of Chairman and General Manager should be
separate and should not be performed by the same individual. In effect, the Chairman, Mr. Zhang Xin, had
been responsible for the Group’s business strategic and effective operation of the Board during the Year.
Furthermore, the role of the Chairman is to encourage and facilitate active contribution of Directors in Board
activities and constructive relations between executive and non-executive Directors. With the support of the
executive Directors and the senior management, Mr. Zhang Xin had ensured the Directors to have receive
adequate information, which is complete and reliable, in a timely manner during the Year. The General Manager,
Mr. Zhang Ye, is primarily responsible for the executive management of the Group’s daily operations and to
ensure the Group’s business plans and strategies are effectively implemented to achieve the goals of the Group
during the Year.
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Directors’ Appointments, Re-election and Removal
Each of the Directors has a specific term of appointment for three years.

The Articles of Association (the “Articles”) of the Company provides that any Director appointed by the Board,
either to fill a casual vacancy in the Board or as an addition to the existing Board, shall hold office only until
the next following general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election. Further, under the
Articles, one-third of all Directors (whether executive or non-executive) is subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at each annual general meeting provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at least
once every three years, and a retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election.

Members of the Company may, at any general meeting convened and held in accordance with Articles, remove
a Director at any time before the expiration of his period of office notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the
Articles or in any agreement between the Company and such Director.

Board meetings and Board practices

Under code provision A.1.1 of the CG Code, the Board shall meet regularly and at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals. The Board has scheduled to meet at least four times a year in approximately
quarterly intervals in accordance with the Articles. The Board meets physically and regularly. During the year
ended 31 December 2018, 8 Board meetings were held. The Directors attended the meetings in person or by
telephone in accordance with the Articles. A summary of the Directors’ meeting attendance during the Year is
as follows:

Attendance/Total board
meetings held during the Year*

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Xin 8/8
Mr. Zhang Ye 8/8
Non-executive Directors

Ms. Yu Youzhi 8/8
Mr. Chen Qianzheng 8/8
Mr. Zhou Yuan 8/8
Mr. Shen Tao 8/8

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo 8/8
Mr. Fu Tingmei 8/8
Mr. Pun Tit Shan 8/8

*

During the Year, there was 1 out of the 8 Board meetings related to connected transaction, in which Directors who were
deemed to have material interest had abstained from voting at that Board meeting.
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According to the current Board practice, notices of the Board meetings are served to all Directors before the
meeting. Generally, at least 14 days’ notice is given for regular Board meetings by the Company to all Directors.
Reasonable notice is given for all other Board meetings. The company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”) assists the Chairman to prepare Board meeting agenda and papers together with all appropriate,
complete and reliable information. Each Director may request the Company Secretary to include any matters
in the agenda during the Board meetings. All substantive agenda items together with comprehensive briefing
papers will be sent to all Directors at least 3 days before each Board meeting or committee meeting to keep
the Directors apprised of the latest developments and financial position of the Company and to enable them to
make informed decisions.

General meetings with the Shareholders
The 2018 annual general meeting (the “2018 AGM”) was held on 28 May 2018. A summary of the general
meeting attendance during the Year is as follows:

Attendance/Total general
meetings held during the Year

Executive Directors
Mr. Zhang Xin 171
Mr. Zhang Ye 11

Non-executive Directors

Ms. Yu Youzhi 0/1
Mr. Chen Qianzheng 0/1
Mr. Zhou Yuan 0/1
Mr. Shen Tao 0/1

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo 11
Mr. Fu Tingmei 1/1
Mr. Pun Tit Shan 11

Code provision A.6.7 of the Code stipulates that the independent non-executive Directors and other
non-executive Directors should attend general meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the views of
the shareholders of the Company. Ms. Yu Youzhi, Mr. Chen Qianzheng, Mr. Zhou Yuan and Mr. Shen Tao were
unable to attend the annual general meeting of the Company held on 28 May 2018 as they had other business
engagement.

Supply of and access to information

All Directors may access the advice and services of the Company Secretary. Minutes of the Board and meetings
of the Board committees are kept by the Company Secretary and such minutes are open for inspection at any
reasonable time upon reasonable notice by the Directors. Any Director may request the Company to provide
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense to discharge his duties to the Company.
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Important matters are usually dealt with by way of written resolutions so that all Directors (including independent
non-executive Directors) can note and comment on, as appropriate, the matters before approval is granted.
Moreover, a Director must declare his interest in matters or transactions to be considered and approved by
the Board. If a substantial Shareholder or a Director has an interest in a matter to be considered by the Board
which the Board has determined to be material, the Company will not deal with the matter by the way of
written resolution. The independent non-executive Directors shall take an active role and make an independent
judgment on all issues relating to such matter. If any Director or his close associates have any material interest
in any proposed Board resolutions, such Director shall not vote (nor shall be counted in the quorum) at a
meeting of the Directors on any resolutions approving any contract or arrangement or concerning a matter in
which he or any of his close associates has directly or indirectly a material interest (save as provided under the
Articles).

Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance

The Company has arranged directors’ and officers’ liability insurance for all Directors and senior management
of the Company for the year 2018/2019. The insurance covers the corresponding costs, charges, expenses and
liabilities for legal action of corporate activities against them.

Responsibilities of directors

The Company ensures that every newly appointed Director has a proper understanding of the operations and
business of the Group and that he or she is fully aware of his or her responsibilities under statute and common
law, the Listing Rules, applicable legal requirements and other regulatory requirements and the business and
governance policies of the Company.

The non-executive Directors exercise their independent judgement and advise on the business direction
and strategic plans of the Company. The non-executive Directors also review the financial information and
operational performance of the Company on a regular basis.

The independent non-executive Directors take an active role in Board meetings and make independent
judgment on issues relating to matters or transactions of a material nature. They will take the lead where
potential conflicts of interest arise. In compliance with Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules, there are three
independent non-executive Directors, representing one-third of the Board. Among the three independent
non-executive Directors, Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo has the appropriate professional qualifications in accounting or
related financial management expertise as required by Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

Company secretary
Mr. Yim Ming Chung had been appointed as the Company Secretary with effect from 6 March 2016. He has
complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules in relation to the professional training requirements.

Corporate Governance Duties

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties as set out in the Code Provision D.3.1.
During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Board had reviewed and discussed the corporate governance
policy of the Group and was satisfied with the effectiveness of the corporate governance policy of the Group.
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Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

All Directors are provided with monthly updates on the Company’s operation performance, position and
prospects to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties. Furthermore, all Directors
acknowledge the needs to continue to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills for making contributions
to the Company. The table below shows the participation of individual directors in continuous professional
development during the year ended 31 December 2018.

Attending
Reading external
regulatory seminars/
updates programmes
Executive Directors:
Mr. Zhang Xin v v
Mr. Zhang Ye v v
Non-executive Directors:
Ms. Yu Youzhi v v
Mr. Chen Qianzheng v v
Mr. Zhou Yuan v v
Mr. Shen Tao v v
Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo v v
Mr. Fu Tingmei v v
Mr. Pun Tit Shan v v

Audit Committee

On 23 October 2009, the Company approved the formation of the Audit Committee upon the listing of the
Shares on the Stock Exchange with written terms of reference stating its authority and duties. A majority of the
members of the Audit Committee are independent non-executive Directors.

The Audit Committee held 3 meetings during the year ended 31 December 2018. The composition and the
details of the attendance records of members of the Audit Committee are as follows:

Members of Audit Committee Attendance/Total meetings
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo (Committee Chairman)* 3/3
Mr. Fu Tingmei* 3/3
Mr. Zhou Yuan”® 3/3

*

Independent non-executive Director
Non-executive Director

The Company Secretary also attended the meetings. Minutes drafted by the Company Secretary had been

circulated to members of the Audit Committee within a reasonable time after the meetings. No member of the
Audit Committee is a former partner of the existing auditing firm of the Company.
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The Board has adopted the terms of reference for the Audit Committee, which follow closely the requirements
of the code provisions of the CG Code, details of which are published on the Stock Exchange’s website and the
Company’s website.

The Audit Committee’s main responsibilities include the following:

e review and supervision of the Group’s financial reporting process and completeness of financial reports;
e monitor the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems; and

e  consider the independence of the external auditor.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Audit Committee had performed the following work:

e reviewed with the senior management the accounting policies and practices adopted by the Group and
discussed auditing and internal control systems and financial reporting matters;

e reviewed the financial statements of the Company and the Company’s interim and annual reports, the
letter to the management from the auditor of the Company, the audit scope and fees for the year ended 31
December 2018;

° reviewed continuing connected transactions; and

e met with the external auditor to discuss the general scope of their audit work for the year ended 31
December 2018.

The Audit Committee has also recommended to the Board that, subject to the Shareholders’ approval at the
forthcoming annual general meeting, Ernst & Young be re-appointed as the Company’s external auditor for the
year ending 31 December 2019.

The senior management of the Group is required to provide adequate and timely support to the Audit
Committee to discharge its duties. The Audit Committee has also been advised that the Company Secretary can
arrange independent professional advice at the expense of the Company should the seeking of such advice be
considered necessary by the Audit Committee.

Nomination Committee

On 23 October 2009, the Company approved the formation of the Nomination Committee upon the listing of
the Shares on the Stock Exchange. The Board has also adopted the terms of reference for the Nomination
Committee which are in line with the code provisions set out in the CG Code and are published on the Stock
Exchange’s website and the Company’s website. A majority of the members of the Nomination Committee are
independent non-executive Directors.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee are mainly to (i) review the structure, size and composition
of the Board and make recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed changes; (ii) make
recommendations to the Board on the nominees for appointment as Director and senior management of the
Group; and (iii) assess the independence of the independent non-executive Directors.
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During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Nomination Committee had performed the following work:

° reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board to ensure that it has a balance of skills,
knowledge and experience appropriate to the requirements of the business of the Group;

° made recommendation to the Board for the re-election at the 2018 AGM; and

e assessment of the independence of all the independent non-executive Directors.

Nomination Policy
In assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate as a member of the Board, the Nomination Committee
would consider factors including:

(a) Reputation;

(b) Skills, knowledge, experience, cultural and educational background, gender, age and other qualities
required, with due regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board;

(c) The extent to which the proposed candidate is likely to contribute to the overall effectiveness of the Board
and work constructively with the existing Directors;

(d) The skills and experience that the proposed candidate brings to the role and how they will enhance the
efficiency and performance of the Board as a whole;

(e) The nature of existing positions served by the proposed candidate including directorships or other
relationship with the Company and/or its Directors and impact they may have on his ability to exercise
independent judgment; and

(f)  Factors which may affect the proposed candidate’s time commitment to the Company.

These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination Committee
has the discretion to nominate any person, as it considers appropriate.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy and discussed all measurable objectives set for implementing
the policy during the year ended 31 December 2018. The Company recognises and embraces the benefits
of diversity of Board members. It endeavours to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience
and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business. Pursuant to the
board diversity policy, all Board appointments will continue to be made on a merit basis with due regard for
the benefits of diversity of the Board members. Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, experience
(professional or otherwise), skills and knowledge. The ultimate decision will be made upon the merits and
contributions that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee held 1 meeting during the year ended 31 December 2018. The composition and the
details of the attendance of the members of the Nomination Committee during the Year are as follows:

Members of Nomination Committee Attendance/Total meetings
Mr. Zhang Xin (Committee Chairman)" 1/1
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo* 1/1
Mr. Fu Tingmei* 1/1

Executive Director
* Independent non-executive Director
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Remuneration Committee

On 23 October 2009, the Company approved the formation of the Remuneration Committee upon the listing of
the Shares on the Stock Exchange with written terms of reference to state its authority and duties. A majority of
the members of the Remuneration Committee are independent non-executive Directors.

The duties of the Remuneration Committee are mainly to (i) make recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors and senior management to ensure that no
Director or any of his/her associates is involved in deciding his/her own remuneration; (ii) determine the specific
remuneration packages of the Directors and senior management; and (iii) review and approve performance
based remuneration by reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the Board. The Remuneration
Committee may have access to independent professional advice at the Company’s expense if considered
necessary.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Remuneration Committee had performed the following work:

e review and discuss the remuneration policy of the Group and the remuneration packages of the Directors
and senior management of the Company; and

o made recommendation to the Board on the emolument of the executive Directors, non-executive Directors,
independent non-executive Directors and senior management of the Group.

Details of the remuneration of each Director for the year ended 31 December 2018 are set out in Note 8 to the
financial statements.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee, which closely follows the requirements of the code
provisions of the CG Code, are published on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.

The human resources and administration department of the Company provides administrative support to the
Remuneration Committee, and implements the approved remuneration packages and other human resources
related decisions.

The Remuneration Committee held 1 meeting during the year ended 31 December 2018. The composition and
the details of the attendance of members of the Remuneration Committee during the Year are as follows:

Members of Remuneration Committee Attendance/Total meetings
Mr. Fu Tingmei (Committee Chairman) 1/1
Mr. Chen Qianzheng” 1/1
Mr. Pun Tit Shan* 1/1

*

Independent non-executive Director
Non-executive Director
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Risk Management Committee

The Risk Management Committee was established on 22 December 2016 and the Board has adopted the terms
of reference for the Risk Management Committee which are in line with the code provisions set out in the CG
Code and are published on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.

The principal duties of the Risk Management Committee are mainly to (i) review the Group’s enterprise risk
management framework, and the guidelines, policies and procedures for risk assessment and risk management;
(ii) review the Group’s major risks and key emerging risks and the controls in place to mitigate such risks; and
(iii) review the effectiveness of the enterprise risk management function.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Risk Management Committee had performed the following work:

e review and discuss the overall risk management framework, and the guidelines, policies and procedures
for risk assessment and risk management;

e review and discuss the major risks of the Group such as credit risk and market risk; and
e review the effectiveness of the overall risk management function.
The Risk Management Committee held 2 meetings during the year ended 31 December 2018. The composition

and the details of the attendance of the members of the Risk Management Committee during the Year are as
follows:

Members of Risk Management Committee Attendance/Total meetings
Mr. Pun Tit Shan (Committee Chairman) (Note 1) 2/2

Mr. Shen Tao (Note 2) 2/2

Mr. Zhang Ye (Note 3) 2/2

Notes:

1. Independent non-executive Director.

2. Non-executive Director.

3. Executive Director.
ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ and Auditor’s Acknowledgement

The Audit Committee and the Board have reviewed the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2018. The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing accounts, the
financial statements, performance position and prospects of the Group. Management has provided information
and explanation to the Board to enable it to make an informed assessment of financial and other information
put before the Board for approval. The Directors believed that they have selected suitable accounting policies
and applied them consistently, made judgment and estimates that are prudent and reasonable and ensured the
financial statements are prepared on a “going concern” basis.

Ernst & Young, the auditor of the Company, acknowledged their reporting responsibilities in the Independent
Auditor’s Report on the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018.
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Risk Management and Internal Controls

The Board has the responsibility to maintain appropriate and effective risk management and internal control
systems in order to safeguard the interest of the Group and the Shareholders, review and monitor the
effectiveness of the internal control and risk management systems on a regular basis to ensure that the systems
in place are adequate. Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement
or loss.

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems comprise, among others, the relevant financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management procedures, a well-established organisational
structure with clearly defined lines of responsibility and authority. Each department is accountable for its daily
operations and is required to implement the business strategies and policies adopted by the Board from time to
time.

The internal audit department and the risk management department of the Company supported the Board,
the Audit Committee and the Risk Management Committee in reviewing the effectiveness of risk management
and internal control systems and performed its functions during the Year following annual plans and submitting
their reports of their findings to the Board, the Audit Committee and the Risk Management Committee at
the meetings. The Audit Committee and the Risk Management Committee provides independent review on
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of the Group and gives their recommendation
to the Board. The Board is responsible for reviewing the internal audit report and approving policies and
procedures designed by the management.

In order to enhance the Group’s system of handling inside information, and to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy,
completeness and timeliness of its public disclosures, the Group has adopted and implemented an inside
information procedure. Certain reasonable measures have been taken from time to time to ensure that proper
safeguards exist to prevent a breach of a disclosure requirement in relation to the Group, which include the
maintaining of a good control environment with defined organisational structure, limit of authority, reporting
lines and responsibilities in accordance with the Company’s guidelines and the regulatory requirements.
Appropriate control measures have been taken place to facilitate a good control environment for handling and
dissemination of inside information. The access of information is restricted to a limited number of employees
on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are in possession of inside information are fully conversant with their
obligations to preserve confidentiality.

The Board conducted a review and assessment of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems and procedures during the financial year ended 31 December 2018 by way of
discussions with the management of the Group, members of the Audit Committee, members of the Risk
Management Committee and the external independent auditor. The Board considered major investigation
findings of the external consultant on risk management and internal control matters and management’s
response to these findings.

The Board believes that the existing risk management and internal control systems are adequate and effective.
The Board also reviewed the resources, qualification and experience of staff of the Group’s accounting and
financial reporting function and their training schemes and budget and was satisfied with their adequacy.

The Board also assessed the effectiveness of the Group’s internal audit function and external audit process, and
satisfied itself, through the work of its Audit Committee, that the internal audit function is adequately resourced
and is effective at providing assurance to the Board on the relevant risks faced by the Company, and that the
external audit process is effective.

Furthermore, the Group also implemented the SAP system to enhance the efficiency of the operational process
and improving segregation of duties and better internal control system.

Annual Report 2018

MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
REPORT

ENVIRONMENTAL
SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE
REPORT

DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR
MANAGEMENT
PROFILE

REPORT OF THE
DIRECTORS

37



MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
REPORT

ENVIRONMENTAL,
SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE
REPORT

DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR
MANAGEMENT
PROFILE

REPORT OF THE
DIRECTORS

38

Corporate Governance Report

Auditor’s Remuneration
An analysis of the remuneration of the Company’s auditor, Ernst & Young, for the year ended 31 December 2018
is set out as follows:

Services rendered Fee paid/payable

RMB’000
Audit services 1,950
Non-audit services 800
Total 2,750

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining clear, timely and effective communication with
shareholders of the Company and investors; and also recognises the effective communication with investors is
the fundamental element to build up the Shareholders’ confidence and attract more new investors.

The Company communicates with the Shareholders mainly in the following ways:

(i) the holding of annual general meeting which provides an opportunity for the Shareholders to communicate
directly to the Board;

(i) the publication of announcements, annual reports, interim reports and/or circulars of the Company as
required under the Listing Rules and press releases providing updated information of the Group;

(i) updating the Company’s website regularly and disclosure of information on a timely basis via the
Company’s and the Stock Exchange’s website;

(iv) the holding of face to face meetings or teleconferences with analysts and fund managers from time to
time. There is regular dialogue with institutional Shareholders and presentations are made when financial
results are announced. Shareholders and investors are welcome to visit the Company’s website and raise
enquiries through our Investor Relations Department whose contact details are available on the Company’s
website; and

(v) Shareholders can contact Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, the share registrar of the
Company, for any enquiries of their shareholdings and dividend entitlements.
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Shareholders’ Right

The annual general meeting of the Company which is proposed to be held on Monday, 3 June 2019 (the
“2019 AGM”) will provide opportunities for the Shareholders to meet and raise questions to our Directors, the
management and the external auditor. At the 2019 AGM, the chairperson of the annual general meeting and
the chairman/member of each of the Audit Committee, the Risk Management Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee will be available to answer questions from the Shareholders.

Pursuant to the Articles, the Company should send a notice to the shareholders at least 21 clear days or 14
clear days before the annual general meetings or all other general meetings respectively.

Pursuant to the Articles, any two Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the issued Share carrying the
right of voting at general meetings may request the Company to convene an extraordinary general meeting by
sending a written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary. The objects of the meeting must be stated
in the written requisition.

Shareholder(s) may send written enquiries to the Company for putting forward any enquiries or proposals to the
Board. Contact details are as follows:

Address: 33/F, COFCO Tower, 262 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
Fax: (852) 2833 0554

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholder(s) must deposit and send or fax the original duly signed written
requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address or fax number and
provide their full name, contact details and identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’ information
may be disclosed as required by law.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company has not made any changes to the Articles. An
up-to-date version of the Articles is available on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website.
Shareholders may refer to the Articles for further details of their rights.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and the poll
voting results will be posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company
(www.cofco-pack.com) immediately after the relevant general meetings.

Voting by Poll

Pursuant to the Articles, all resolutions will be conducted by poll at the 2019 AGM. The Shareholders will be
allowed to have one vote for every Share they hold. The results of the voting by poll will be declared at the
meeting and published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company, respectively.

Policy on Payment of Dividends

The Company will declare and/or recommend the payment of dividends to Shareholders after considering
the Company’s ability to pay dividends, which will depend upon, among other things, its actual and expected
financial performance, its current and future business operation, level of liquidity, capital requirements,
contractual and regulatory restrictions and so on. The Board has complete discretion on whether to pay a
dividend, subject to Shareholders’ approval, where applicable. Even if the Board decides to recommend and
pay dividends, the form, frequency and amount will depend upon its actual financial performance, its current
and future business operation, level of liquidity, capital requirements, contractual and regulatory restrictions of
and affecting the Group. The Board may also consider declaring special dividends from time to time, in addition
to the interim and/or final dividends. The Company would review and reassess the Dividend Policy and its
effectiveness on a regular basis or as required.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

The Group is committed to becoming a leader in China’s comprehensive consumer goods packaging industry
and is principally engaged in the production and sales of packaging products used for consumer goods. We
endeavour to serve customers, shareholders and employees wholeheartedly while providing safe and green
packaging products and high-quality services for the society. In 2018, the Group strictly implemented COFCOQO’s
inspection and rectification measures, comprehensively strengthened party-oriented political and systematic
construction, and promoted development and performance improvement with party building. The Group has
a leading technology R&D institution that led and participated in the formulation of a series of packaging
industry standards, has a number of packaging technology patents in China, and has won many international
packaging awards. The Group boasts a well-established product quality control system and food hygiene and
safety management system, with product quality meeting US and EU standards. We put emphasis on talent
development, take concrete actions to care for employees, and safeguard their rights and interests, in an effort
to create harmonious labour relations. In addition, the Group focuses on source control, process control and
terminal treatment and adopts new technologies, new processes and new materials for energy conservation
and emission reduction, in a drive to create social value.

In 2018, while consolidating its leading industry position in China, the Group actively explored opportunities
for overseas expansion, and worked with partners to advance the establishment and preparation of a
two-piece can factory in Belgium, marking the first step towards internationalisation. On the basis of
increasing performance-based compensation and strengthening the compliance of business expenses, we
managed to reduce selling and administrative expenses through continuous rigid control of expenses and
benchmarking-based improvements. We also strictly controlled the asset-liability ratio within the target limit
through such measures as centralised management of funds and contraction of accounts receivable and
inventories. In addition, by optimising our business landscape, increasing economies of scale and building a
super product line, we achieved continuous growth in sales revenue in the year with stable profitability.

. Employees
(1) Career Growth and Development of Employees

The Group always focuses on talent development and strictly abides by national and local laws and
regulations to build harmonious labour relations.

In terms of employee recruitment, the Group has established a sound mechanism with standardised
procedures for recruitment, promotion and dismissal based on work performance and in accordance
with relevant laws and regulations, strictly complying with the principles of diversity and anti-
discrimination and unaffected by race, gender, physical fithess or religious beliefs to make
recruitment, promotion and dismissal more scientific, reasonable and effective. The Group has strict
policies to prohibit child labour and compulsory labour and all business operations comply with
relevant laws and regulations of the PRC, and it also adopts stringent measures and verification
procedures to prevent the occurrence of such cases in its business. To its knowledge, the Group has
no cases of non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations in terms of recruitment, promotion and
dismissal, anti-discrimination, and prevention of child labour and forced labour that had a significant
impact on the Group.

CPMC Holdings Limited
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Particulars of employees in 2018

Category Number Percentage (%)
By gender Male 4,622 67%
Female 2,221 33%
By type Senior management 685 10%
Middle management 1,538 23%
General employees 4,520 67%
By age Aged under 30 2,173 32%
Aged 30-50 4,197 62%
Aged over 50 373 6%

Employee turnover in 2018
Category Turnover
By gender Male 22%
Female 9%
By age Aged under 30 61%
Aged 30-50 34%
Aged over 50 5%

As employees of the Group were all employed in the PRC during 2018, the Company did not classify
their particulars and the turnover by region.

The Group regards employees as the foundation for its long-term development. With this mindset,
we help them plan career development paths, encourage them to achieve self-improvement
during working hours, and stimulate their creativity and vitality to build a diversified team. For
career development of employees, we adopt the “dual channel” approach, i.e. the “administrative
management channel” and the “professional and technical channel”, and have established a job
evaluation and employment mechanism to allow employees to compete for certain management
positions and professional and technical positions based on job evaluation regularly, so as to
encourage employees to give full play to their strengths. In order to meet the training needs of
employees, we organised a total of 5,873 internal training sessions with 5,032 attendees and 18,070
class hours through various means including on-site training, telephone and video conferencing.
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Employee training in 2018

MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION
DAL Percentage Number of
of employees training hours
Category trained per employee
By type Senior management 12% 169
Middle management 8% 151
General employees 80% 20
In 2018, based on the existing training system, the Group carried out a variety of training programs
CORPORATE in line with its own business characteristics. For HR team building and enhancement of HR functional
GOVERNANCE REPORT capabilities, for example, we organised a total of six training sessions for HR system upgrade. In each

session, the heads of human resources of branches were arranged to share their experience and
know-how on special topics, and the participants were asked to evaluate the sharing sessions. Each
session had around 30 participants and the topics covered include “management of new-generation
employees”, “improving the stability of front-line employees and those graduating from colleges and
technical secondary schools”, “training matrix”, etc. In order to enhance our comprehensive strength
in tinplate production with lean production, we developed production system training sessions to
instill high and stringent standards, with an aim to identify gaps and improve weak links. In 2018, we
organised four training sessions on production management improvement for 26 trainees. For the
ENVIRONMENTAL, technology training of key personnel of the plastic bottle blowing business, we organised two training
SOCIAL AND sessions for key personnel on bottle blowing technology in 2018 to enhance their technical skills and

GOVERNANCE - .
REPORT the utilisation rate of equipment.

Theme Series of “Carry Forward the Spirit of Craftsmen and Strive to be Great Craftsmen”
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(2) Employee Protection, Motivation and Care

For salary distribution, the Group adheres to the principle of “making post-specific distribution based
on competence and performance and with a balance between fairness and sustainability”. We pay
statutory social security contributions for employees in full, allow them to enjoy statutory holidays
and leave and other benefits, and make adjustments to their salaries according to government
requirements and the actual conditions. In terms of leave, in 2018, the Group improved its leave
management policy in a timely manner in accordance with relevant laws and regulations and
according to internal conditions by specifying the types of leave and related preconditions, leave
approval procedures and leave benefits, thus safeguarding the equal and legal leave rights for male
and female employees.

In terms of production safety, the Group strictly and conscientiously implemented and complied with
the safety and quality standards stipulated in national, industry and local regulations, and endeavored
to improve the production safety management system, strengthen education and training in this
regard, and emphasise production safety responsibilities. For example, the Group took CPMC Tianjin
as an experimental unit to deepen and improve the dual mechanism of hidden danger screening
& treatment and tiered risk management for production safety risks. In order to strengthen on-site
safety management and prevent the occurrence of safety accidents, we formulated the Eleven Basic
Measures for On-site Safety Management of CPMC to help improve on-site safety management of
branches; organised special inspections for safe operation of forklifts with a focus on the safety of
forklifts, safety driving training, and examination of key activity areas to eliminate accident risks; and
specified directive plans for entities involved in the production of three-piece cans and bottle caps,
carried out fire-proof and explosion-proof upgrading of printing and coasting machines to enhance
the electric explosion-proof level of workshops housing these machines, so as to reduce the risk of
accidents and losses arising from equipment and facilities. There were no quality and safety accidents
of Class Il or above during the year.

Field Training on Safe Forklift Driving
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MANAGENENT In 2018, in order to further enhance the vitality and cohesion of employees, the Group designed a
DISCUSSION variety of theme activities based on the characteristics of various employee groups from various
AND ANALYSIS perspectives to disseminate the values and culture of the Company and spread positive spirits. These
activities were designed to encourage employees to love their own duties, dare to fight for the first
place, and make contributions, stimulate their vitality, enhance their sense of cohesion, and enrich
their life. The activities organised included the fun sports meet with a theme of “Work More Efficiently,
Live Happier, and Exercise to be Stronger”, the “Guo Feng” karaoke contest, the 906 walking activity
themed “Healthy Life, Happy Work”, the little ones’ visit day, the craftsmanship event, the cake
decorating activity named “Romantic Cake Decorating with Youth”, the Dragon Boat Festival event of
“Convey Love with Zongzi”, and the Father’s Day series activities. These activities, rich in forms and
with different characteristics, created a positive, upbeat and healthy working and living atmosphere.
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In order to guide employees to pursue a healthy and positive lifestyle, enrich their life in spare time,

relieve their work pressure, improve their physical and mental fitness, and enable them to work MS‘NSACGUES“@J
more energetically, the Group organised a diverse of artistic, recreational and fitness activities for AND ANALYSIS
employees, such as the yoga training class of “Yoga With U”, the Latin dance training class themed
“Sunshine Charm, Dancing Youth Melody”, the “906 Fishing Club”, and the “906 Ping-pong &
Badminton Club”.
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MANAGEMENT The Group effectively protects the vital interests of employees and earnestly takes care of their needs.
DISCUSSION On the Spring Festival and New Year’'s Day each year, we mobilise the trade unions of various entities
AND ANALYSIS to carry out poverty relief activities. In 2018, we made around 300 visits to those employees in need,
and offered timely financial support to those in difficulty. For example, the wife of an employee of
CPMC Kunshan suffered from acute myeloid leukemia, and the high cost of hospitalisation became
a heavy burden on the employee’s family. After learning about the situation, the party branch of
CPMC Kunshan worked with the trade union to organise a charity fundraising campaign among all
employees. Moreover, CPMC Kunshan offered the family spiritual support and a sum of consolation
money as financial support to help them through the difficult times in life.

L™
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(3) Employee Communication

In 2018, the Group continued to carry out and deepen the party’s public education activities. While
getting deeper into the grassroots to carry forward the “culture of loyalty and decency”, we devoted
more effort in communicating with employees, listening to their feedback, and addressing their needs.
For example, we continued to upgrade our corporate intranet, post updates on our operations in a
timely manner and create a diversified communication platform, while setting up a whistle-blowing
channel to collect opinions and reports from employees and reinforcing communication and feedback
of information. To sincerely listen to our employees and help them solve their difficulties, we hosted
a variety of talks including face-to-face communication with excellent managers, talks with new
employees, talks with old employees, meal planning committee forums, party member forums and
technician forums. Through “heart-to-heart and face-to-face” exchanges, we bridged the gap between
the management and the grassroots employees. After listening to the voices of employees, we helped
solve their confusions in work and life and made targeted improvements. Before issuing any measures
and rules relevant to the interests of employees, we would hold an employee representative assembly
to openly solicit and collect opinions and suggestions from employees in order to better serve them.

"906 Youth Growth Classroom” Event on May Fourth Youth Day
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~wweer | Nl Independent Innovation, Energy Conservation and Environmental
DISCUSSION .
AND ANALYSIS Protection

() Independent Innovation
1. Construction of Innovation Culture
Under the spirit of “working hard and forging ahead with technological innovation as the core

competitiveness of CPMC”, the Group has integrated R&D innovation into all aspects of its
technology development. Each year, a technological innovation conference is held to summarise

CORPORATE the innovation work of the previous year and envision the next milestone in technology
GOVERNANCE REPORT

development. At the conference, the Group shares and promotes the fruitful achievements in
technology innovation and vows to improve technology management in an all-round manner
to better promote technological progress and add new impetus to its development. By offering
rewards for technology innovation projects, dissecting scientific papers and giving honorary
awards for outstanding papers, the Group inspires technical personnel to forge ahead with
technology innovation, so as to enhance the Group’s technological innovation capabilities and
consolidate its dominant position in this regard.

Meanwhile, the Group proactively promotes a culture of innovation with its own characteristics.

ENVIRONMENTAL, The Group has developed a technical section in its intranet portal and regularly updates its
g?;m%E professional sub-sections such as Technology Frontier, Food Safety, Project Management,
REPORT Inspection and Testing, Intellectual Property and Shelf Life, making the section a technology

innovation publication platform for internal technicians. To further promote technology innovation
ideas, each quarter, we release the Technology News of CPMC to disseminate the latest
developments of the industry in five major aspects, i.e. patent search, industry trends, innovative
products, packaging safety and industry statistics, with a view to helping technicians broaden
their ideas and start technical discussions and providing them with a source of creativity.

In order to strengthen technological competitiveness and protect inventions and creations, the

DIRECTORS AND Group encourages technicians to apply for patent protection of the inventions derived from
fmggEMENT their R&D and innovation activities. After years of hard work and accumulation, the Group has
PROFILE maintained a leading position in patents, demonstrating its technical strength and innovation

capabilities. In 2018, in order to further stimulate and inspire the innovation enthusiasm of
technicians, the Group offered rewards to contributors of patents that are highly valuable and
have yielded great benefits for the Company. A series of measures have further strengthened the
Group’s construction of independent innovation culture and encouraged internal technicians to
devote more enthusiasm to R&D and innovation activities.

REPORT OF THE
DIRECTORS
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Management of Innovation Projects and Technology R&D Projects

(1)

Innovation Projects

In 2018, the Group further improved and standardised the management processes of its
packaging R&D projects under its R&D innovation system pursuant to the Management
Measures for the R&D Innovation System of COFCO and the Management Measures of
CPMC for Technology Innovation. In 2018, we carried out more than 20 R&D innovation
projects, including the development of Haitian 33 anti-slide cap product, the innovative
optimisation of SCHULER’s cup punching machine feeding system, the development
of real-time detection system of flat edge trimmers, Nanning Canmaking’s innovation in
speed-up single color printing technology, the development of new high-safety inner coating
technology for aluminum bottles, the research of technology based on aluminum bottle
necking processing, the research and application of optical composite technology in metal
printing, and the development of packaging rapid prototyping technology platform. The
R&D innovation projects covered such areas as material and energy saving, new product
development and food safety, and were under full life-cycle management. Most of the
projects were going well and had yielded good economic and social benefits.

Technology R&D Projects

The Group’s key R&D innovation projects in 2018 included the composite anti-counterfeiting
printing technology R&D project: The principle of lens and a variety of composite printing
technologies are used to print a variety of special effects such as water cubes, fireworks,
and honeycombs on metal printing surfaces, thus making the products more differentiated
and high-end. In 2018, the technology was employed to complete the production of three
batches of Huamei Mooncake boxes which were well-received by the client. Also, the gross
margin increased by 3.5 percentage points. As of now, our clients Xiamen Tea, Enfamil
and Lanju have decided to use products based on such technology, which will bring great
economic benefits. As the first to develop and apply metal composite anti-counterfeiting
printing technology, the Group won the first prize in 2018 for metal packaging among
technological innovation products in the packaging and printing industry, signaling its strong
technical support for new clients/new product development.

Haitian 33 anti-slide cap product development project: The 33 anti-slide cap is a new
high-end claw-type unscrewing cap product, which is difficult to realise technically. As
such, the Group set up a multi-department development team to work closely with the
glass bottle factory and Haitian. After more than one year’s efforts, we overcome several
technical difficulties, successfully completed the project development task and put it into
mass production, which has been highly appreciated by the client Haitian. In the year,
approximately 160 million 33 anti-slide caps were sold, generating a revenue of over RMB3
million.

Chengdu Canmaking’s project for optimisation of SCHULER’s cup punching machine
feeding system:. Through the innovative design and optimisation of SCHULER’s cup
punching machine feeding system, we improved SCHULER’s cupping efficiency and
production capacity by more than 45%, thus meeting the production efficiency demand for
1600CPM or higher across the production line. Such technology is worth promoting and has
remarkable environmental benefits.
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MANAGEMENT LED-UV printing technology research and application project: LED-UV is a new generation of
DISCUSSION UV curing technology and an upgraded version of UV curing, which is more energy-saving
AND ANALYSIS and environment-friendly and represents the development direction of metal printing. After a
lot of laboratory tests and analyses, we determined the properties of the materials, LED-UV
light sources and lamp configuration, and realised mass production of LED-UV printing for
the first time in Panyu. The final product met food safety and environmental standards and
the performance requirements. We have formulated relevant operational specifications to
prepare for the promotion and application of such packaging product. The implementation
of this project will realise zero VOC and ozone emissions and save more than 50% of
electricity. In the future, after being popularised and applied in various business lines, it
— will further transform and upgrade CPMC’s metal packaging printing process, making the
GOVERNANCE REPORT process more energy-saving and environment-friendly.

(8) Patents and Formulation of National and Industry Standards

The Group vigorously promotes the protection of intellectual property rights. In 2018, we
applied for 25 patents (six inventions) and obtained 19 patents (one invention). As of now,
we have been granted 269 patents, including 55 invention patents, and have developed a
mechanism for verification of patent papers and other intellectual property rights.

In 2018, the Group presided over or participated in the review and revision of four sets
ENVIRONMENTAL,

SOCIAL AND of national and industry standards covering two-piece cans, milk powder cans and

ggggs_?ANCE metal printing, which have been submitted to relevant state departments for approval.

Our application for “National Metal Printing Standardisation Research and Development
Test Base” has been approved by the National Technical Committee 170 on Printing of
Standardisation Administration of China and will be implemented upon the approval of the
State Administration of Press, Publication, Radio, Film and Television. In addition, we helped
formulate a metal printing standards system and a three-year plan for implementation of
industry standards on behalf of the metal packaging industry, presided over the preparation
of ISO standards for aerosol cans, and participated in the work related to standards for easy
peelable ends.

DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR
’F\,"Ff\g‘F‘}LGEEMENT () Energy Conservation and Environmental Protection
1. Environmental Management
In 2018, the Group formulated and issued the Environmental Management Measures of CPMC
in accordance with newly promulgated Environmental Protection Law and other relevant laws
and regulations as well as COFCO’s requirement to further standardise its environmental
management system and systematically manage environmental protection work. According to
REPORT OF THE the actual situation, we also formulated the Work Plan of CPMC for Comprehensively Screening

DIRECTORS and Controlling Ecological Environment Protection Problems and organised group-wide risk
screening. In 2018, we inspected 29 branches to screen ecological environment protection
problems and rectified the hidden dangers found.
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The Group achieved good social benefits through technological innovation in key aspects of
energy conservation and emission reduction, application of new energy-saving technologies
and ongoing implementation of energy-saving projects. In 2018, the Group implemented 38
energy conservation and environmental protection projects, including R&D innovation projects
on material saving, energy saving, UV printing and automation technologies. Its total power
consumption was approximately 140.19 million kWh, representing a power saving of 2.08 million
kWh; total gas consumption was approximately 19.35 million m?, representing a saving of 900,000
m®. The Group attaches great importance to conservation and efficiency use of water through
formulating administrative measures on energy conservation and emissions reduction, as well as
conducting monthly checks on the water usage of various factories by benchmarking. Through
energy conservation and emissions reduction directives, projects such as water conservation
related to can-washing machines for two-piece cans and Kunshan Barrel's use of recycled grey
water and phosphate-free phosphating treatment, water usage can be lowered. The Group has
not experienced any problems or difficulties in securing suitable water sources; and total water
consumption was approximately 1.24 million tonnes, representing a saving of 16,000 tonnes.
The total carbon dioxide emissions of the Group amounted to 314,000 tonnes, and in total,
we reduced more than 10,000 tonnes of carbon dioxide emissions. The key projects achieved
great results. For example, CPMC Panyu completed the project for energy-saving renovation
of its printing factory’s drying room, which can save 405,000 m® of natural gas per year; CPMC
Tianjin’s project for energy-saving renovation project of can-washing machines can save 60,000
kWh of electricity per year. Our branches Guangzhou Steel Barrels, Shandong Steel Barrels,
Jiaxing Steel Barrels, Fujian Canmaking, Epoch Packaging and Chengdu Canmaking have all
obtained ISO14001 Environmental Management System Certification.

Environmental Protection Practices

In 2018, all branches of the Group effectively controlled the source, production process and
treatment of waste gas, waste water and solid waste. Hazardous waste was handed over to
qualified third-party agencies for disposal in strict accordance with the requirements of the state.
Meanwhile, we carried out benchmarking management among the product lines of branches
to reduce the generation of hazardous waste and the impact on the surroundings and natural
resources. In 2018, with a focus on temporary storage of hazardous waste in Fujian, Jiaxing
and Guangzhou, we further standardised the procedures for temporary storage of hazardous
waste and improved their effectiveness, in an effort to implement corporate social responsibility.
The Group consumes natural gas, electricity and water, and produces waste gas, wastewater,
and solid waste during its production process. To reduce the impact on the environment and
natural resources, effective administrative measures have been formulated and adopted. Firstly,
the Administrative Regulations of CPMC on Environmental Protection (Trial) and administrative
measures on energy conservation and emissions reduction have been formulated in accordance
with the requirements of relevant laws and regulations and COFCO’s Administrative Regulations
of COFCO on Energy Conservation and Environmental Protection by taking into consideration
the actual circumstances of CPMC, so as to stipulate and regulate environmental protection
administration for new projects, emission control of pollutants, prevention and treatment of
pollution and environmental enhancement. Secondly, indicators for consumption reduction
have been incorporated into the annual letter of responsibility undertakings and the energy
consumption of each factory will be assessed on a monthly basis by benchmarking, and energy
conservation and emissions reduction projects have been implemented to reduce energy
consumption. Meanwhile, treatment facilities for wastewater and waste gas have been set up
to treat the waste gas and wastewater produced in the production process to ensure reliable
and effective operation, and that emissions can meet the required standards. Recycling and
disposal of general solid waste and construction waste must be handled by relevant municipally
accredited units; and hazardous waste produced in the production process must be collected
by qualified units for disposal. Moreover, raw and ancillary materials as well as procedures

Annual Report 2018

MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE REPORT

ENVIRONMENTAL,
SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE
REPORT

DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR
MANAGEMENT
PROFILE

REPORT OF THE
DIRECTORS

53



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

MANAGEMENT and production have been enhanced to reduce the generation of pollutants. We promote clean

DISCUSSION production to eliminate or reduce pollutants in the production process. We also enforce national

AND ANALYSIS provisions and policies for comprehensive use, and carry out comprehensive use of the three
types of wastes across the board, turning scraps into useful materials and wastes into precious
materials.

(1) Our non-hazardous waste mainly includes scrap aluminum and scrap iron, which are
disposed of by recycling. In 2018, the Group recycled 15,739 tonnes of scrap aluminum
and 30,689 tonnes of scrap iron.

CORPORATE (2) Our hazardous waste mainly includes wastewater, waste liquid and waste gas.

GOVERNANCE REPORT
Wastewater treatment: The amount of wastewater produced by the Group in 2018 was 1,240,000

tonnes. Wastewater is treated up to standard in sewage treatment stations and subject to online
testing before being discharged through pipes. In 2018, we completed the diversion of rain and
sewage in Kunshan and Hangzhou.

Waste liquid treatment: The amount of liquid waste produced by the Group in 2018 was 662
tonnes. Third-party agencies on the qualified list maintained by the environmental protection
authorities are selected and engaged to dispose of waste liquid, with the “five-in-one form” being
issued for government supervision.

ENVIRONMENTAL,
SOCIAL AND

ggggs_?ANCE Waste gas treatment: The amount of waste gas produced by the Group in 2018 was 5,356,000

tonnes. Catalytic combustion, regenerative combustion and activated carbon adsorption and
desorption devices are used to treat waste gas for up-to-standard and reduced emissions.
During the year, almost all waste gases from the steel barrel production line were treated, while
the tinplate production line had its main waste gases treated; six factories completed waste
gas treatment for the two-piece can production line; and three factories completed waste gas
treatment for the plastic production line.
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The emissions of the Group mainly comprise VOCs. In 2018, emissions of VOCs, SO2 and
NOx amounted to 1,204 tonnes, 20.7 tonnes and 36.8 tonnes respectively. In 2018, in terms of
emission reduction, the Group focused on minimising VOC emissions generated in the production
process and achieved initial success in this regard while ensuring that its exhaust gas emissions
meet national standards.

After analysing the trends of material technology development and environmental protection, the
Group vigorously pushed ahead with the application of LED/UV/water-based material/film coating
technologies to reduce VOC emissions from the source and lay a foundation for future emission
reduction. As a result, we reduced VOC emissions by 270 tonnes in total.

Meanwhile, on the basis of meeting VOC emission standards, our branches effectively controlled
their total VOC emissions. In 2018, the mandatory project for back-end exhaust gas treatment
was advanced with a total annual investment of over RMB23.4 million. As a result, the RTO
projects of CPMC Wuhan, CPMC Hangzhou and CPMC Chengdu were completed, attaining a
VOC removal rate of over 95% and reducing VOC emissions by over 1,000 tonnes.

In addition, all branches of the Group made great efforts to live up to their commitment to
environmental protection. In particular, Nanning CPMC Canmaking Co., Ltd. was awarded the
title of *Advanced Unit in Production Safety Management” by the Guangxi ASEAN Economic and
Technological Development Zone; CPMC Wuxi received the title of “Excellent Unit in Production
Safety Responsibility Assessment of Wuxi”; CPMC Hangzhou’s waste gas treatment project for
one-piece cans received a government subsidy of RMB333,000.

lll. Social Welfare

The Group is committed to passing on the torch of love in society. To this end, we actively carry out public
welfare activities to promote harmonious development of society and mutual love. In 2018, the Group
energetically promoted social prosperity and stability and performed its social responsibility in areas such
as community building, poverty alleviation and volunteer services.

For example, on June 13, Nanning Canmaking organised its staff to make charity donations to the poor
primary school in Qingfeng Village of Luowei Town on a voluntary basis, and to learn about the students’
difficulties in life and study.
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Nanning Canmaking organised education donation & poverty alleviation activity among party members
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On 26 July 2018, the Group mobilised personnel in Hangzhou to participate in the voluntary blood donation

MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION activity of “Giving my Blood for July 1” organised by the Xiasha Development Zone, which demonstrated
AND ANALYSIS our social spirit as packaging personnel and won the recognition of relevant authorities of the development

zone.

On 28 September 2018, the Chairman of the Group, on behalf of CPMC, donated more than RMB682,000
to Ganzi Tibetan Autonomous Prefecture for dropout rate reduction and education poverty alleviation. As
a result, kitchen facilities and equipment for 13 schools and 640 sets of washing tools for students were
purchased, reflecting the fulfilment of the Group’s responsibility in targeted poverty alleviation as a state-
owned enterprise.

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE REPORT

ENVIRONMENTAL,
SOCIAL AND :
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CPMC assisted Ganzi of Sichuan in targeted poverty alleviation

DIRECTORS AND On 28 October 2018, the Group mobilised young employees to participate in the 2018 Charity Walk
fm%EMENT themed “Walking with Love” in Hangzhou organised by the One Foundation and Coca Cola. This charity
PROFILE event was to raise donations for the One Foundation’s initiatives including Water Purification Program,

Warm Bag, One Paradise, Hand Washing Program and Children’s Safety Program.

On 28 October 2018, we organised employees to participate in the volunteer activities for the 2018
Hangzhou International Women’s Marathon. During the marathon, our participating employees helped
organising and guiding audience and patiently gave directions to audience to ensure the safety of the
track. The experience was helpful for the Group to prepare to provide volunteer services in the Asian
Games in the future.

REPORT OF THE
DIRECTORS

IV. Supply Chain Management

The Group not only lives up to its corporate social responsibility, but also values and promotes the
improvement of corporate social responsibility performance of suppliers. Currently, the Group’s major
supply partners include Baosteel, Shougang, Nanshan Aluminum, Chalco, Sinopec and CSPC. We
selectively partner with suppliers that meet product quality and safety standards and honour their corporate
social responsibility, and guide suppliers to improve their product quality and safety and corporate social
responsibility performance.
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Working With Suppliers to Build a “Product Quality and Safety Network”

We strictly control product quality and safety through classified management of our suppliers. We
have developed a rigorous supplier quality management system with a complete set of measures and
standards covering the selection, admission, day-to-day management, and continuous improvement
and exit of suppliers and materials. We strengthen the inspection and verification of raw materials,
carry out on-site audit and assessment of suppliers, organise exchanges regarding technical quality,
convene supplier quality and safety meetings and reward excellent suppliers, with a view to improving
the quality and safety awareness of suppliers and their management and encouraging them to make
continuous improvements. As a result, raw material qualification rate has been steadily on the rise.

We work together with our suppliers to advance the control of food safety risks and constantly improve
our food safety capabilities. We have signed technical agreements with our suppliers containing food
safety provisions to effectively communicate food safety commitments and statements throughout
the supply chain. We motivate suppliers to enhance their food safety control and traceability
management by adding devices for online monitoring of suppliers to strengthen production process
control, increasing laboratory investment to enhance inspection capabilities and regularly engaging
authoritative agencies to perform third-party testing, so as to guarantee zero food safety incident and
zero major quality incident. In addition, we work with key suppliers to develop materials with higher
food safety standards, with a view to enabling CPMC to take the lead in using materials with higher
food safety standards and improving overall food safety in the industry.

Working Hard to Build a “Green Supply Chain” and Promoting “Emission Reduction” of the
Industry Chain

In terms of production process, we work with our upstream suppliers to reduce raw material
consumption by thinning materials, increasing the use of coil and corrugated materials. We are at the
forefront of the industry in aluminum thinning.

In terms of emission reduction, we collaborate with our upstream suppliers to reduce VOC emissions
by expanding the use of coated iron and other environment-friendly coatings such as UV and
water-based coating. In 2018, we further increased the proportion of environment-friendly coatings.

In terms of recycling of materials, we increase the recycling of packaging materials and reduce
the consumption of packaging materials by replacing wood pallets with plastic ones and replacing
corrugated lining paper with plastic lining paper. In 2018, plastic pallets accounted for more than 60%
of the total, while the proportion of plastic lining paper increased to approximately 40%. The recovery
rate of wood pallets was more than 80%, while that of plastic pallets and plastic lining paper was
more than 95%.

In terms of waste recycling, we cooperate with our upstream suppliers to promote the reuse of metal

waste through equipment and technology upgrade. In 2018, our supplier Nanshan Aluminum recycled
approximately 2,700 tonnes of scrap aluminum.
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MANAGEMENT (3) Working with Suppliers to Build a “Transparent Supply Chain”
DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS Internally, we work to build a transparent procurement model centering on strategic procurement
under collective decision making, tendering and online procurement. We also strengthen the
monitoring of the practices of procurement personnel through regular internal and external audits. In
2018, we launched a special campaign against hidden corruption activities throughout the supply
chain system, intensified anti-corruption efforts, and strengthened professional ethics education for

procurement personnel.

Externally, we advocate “good-faith transactions” and give preference to suppliers with good social
CORPORATE responsibility performance when selecting suppliers. We sign a “Sunshine Agreement” with each of
GOVERNANCE REPORT our suppliers, shippers and scrap buyers to guide our suppliers and partners to comply with social
responsibility standards and adhere to sustainable development, while issuing the “No Gift Notice” on
a regular basis and building a whistle-blowing platform.

V. Product Responsibility

Adhering to the customer-oriented philosophy and based on the quality and food safety principles of
“commitment by every employee, assurance in every step, reliability of every product and satisfaction of
every customer”, the Group practices its corporate culture of “full dedication to best customer service” and
ENVIRONMENTAL, follows the code of conduct of “welcome feedback; immediate response, success in one go; no excuse”. In
SOCIAL AND 2018, while improving the customer complaint handling mechanism and implementing the work concerning
OIS the compliance with the new national standards for food safety, we continued to conduct customer
satisfaction surveys, MSA benchmarking and Quality Month campaigns, and carried out various quality
improvement activities including benchmarking management, project quality improvement, prevention
and correction of typical defects, and One Lesson for One Solution. We also provided value-added
services such as new product development, mold making and technical support to our customers through
technology innovation and development of new products and technologies, so as to continuously enhance
customer satisfaction and loyalty.

REPORT

DIRECTORS AND (1) Improving the Customer Complaint Handling Mechanism and Product Quality

SENIOR

MANAGEMENT . .

PROFILE In 2018, the Group further optimised such measures as the Customer Complaints Management

Measures and Customer Service Management Procedures.

In order to respond quickly to customer needs, the Group has set up a customer service department
with customer service personnel in each grassroots unit, set up customer service personnel for
the manufacturing departments of various product lines such as two-piece cans, and established
the Quality and Safety Management Department at the headquarters to comprehensively and
systematically identify the needs of customers, provide technical services, handle complaints,
REPORT OF THE analyse data, take corrective and preventive measures and make continuous improvements. For
DIRECTORS key customers, a special service team consisting of sales, technology, production, quality and other
personnel is set up to provide one-on-one special services in respect of product technology and
quality improvement. Regarding the critical issues complained by customers, difficult quality issues
and key process issues, in 2018, the Group conducted 28 production quality benchmarking projects
through monitoring of KPIs such as CDK and capacity analysis, tackled 16 quality issues, enhanced
the capacity of 21 key processes, prevented and corrected 42 typical defects, and make more
than 460 improvements under One Lesson for One Solution, thereby improving product quality and
reducing quality defects and customer complaints.

The loss rate caused by customer complaints in recent years has been controlled below 0.1%.
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Customer Satisfaction Survey

Focusing on the measurement of customer satisfaction, the Group has established and continuously
optimises its customer satisfaction evaluation program. Targeting at different customer groups,
we design different questionnaires to comprehensively collect and analyse user feedback and
comments in multiple dimensions such as quality, delivery, transportation and services through
various channels including satisfaction surveys, customer visits, business loss analyses and product
delivery performance evaluation. Each year, the Group conducts surveys and analyses on customer
satisfaction to compile a customer satisfaction survey report which serves as the basis for planning
and improving the quality system.

In recent years, the level of customer satisfaction of the Group has remained high in the industry.
Taking Hangzhou CPMC Canmaking Co. Ltd. as an example, its customer satisfaction rate remained
above 90% in the past three years. The Group’s brand awareness, corporate image, product quality
and market profile have far-reaching influence on our customers, and the Group has been recognised
and highly praised by many well-known enterprises at home and abroad in recent years.

Food Safety Control of Packaging Products

With the release and coming into force of the new Food Safety Law and the National Food Safety
Standards — General Safety Requirements for Food Contact Materials and Articles, the Group, in
accordance with the latest laws and regulations and standards at home and abroad and according
to COFCQ'’s requirements and its own conditions, timely revised such measures as the Food Safety
Management Measures and the Work Requirements for Food Safety Supervision and Inspection
of Packaging Products, and carried out the work concerning the compliance with the new national
food safety standards. We urged our suppliers and their upstream suppliers, our branches and
customers to abide by the new national food safety standards for food contact materials. Through a
variety of specialised training sessions and exchanges, as well as comprehensive, systematic and
stringent compliance inspections, the Group required all upstream and downstream players along
its supply chain to provide food safety compliance statements, thus honouring our corporate social
responsibility.

In order to ensure the food safety of raw materials, the Group conducts food safety management from
the source by refining the approval procedures for food-safety-related suppliers and raw materials,
standardising the raw material inspection procedures, conducting supplier qualification reviews and
on-site audits, and introducing the red and yellow cards system for supplier management.

The Group implements a food safety risk control program for each product line and monitors
the key control points in real time to prevent food safety problems. We adhere to a three-level
verification mechanism. Each branch conducts random inspection of raw materials and products on
a batch-by-batch basis and sends samples to a third-party agency for inspection and verification
on a regular basis. The headquarters conducts random inspection of products to check food safety
indicators on a monthly basis. We also regularly organise our branches, key customers, third-party
agencies and the experimental center to conduct laboratory comparison and verification, so as to
ensure product safety and compliance.

We continuously carry out supplier audits, cross inspections among branches, flight inspections
by the headquarters and product traceability drills, organise annual evaluation exchanges and
technical cooperation with major suppliers, branches and key customers, and develop and apply
new high-safety materials and new technologies, so as to improve food safety and reliability across
the upstream and downstream packaging industry chain while realising full-process compliance,
monitoring and traceability of packaging products.
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In 2018, the Group had no food safety incidents and received no customer complaints about food

MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION safety. The Group’s products involved in the spot checks by the State Administration of Market
AND ANALYSIS Regulation and local authorities in 2018 were 100% qualified. Moreover, 100% of the Group’s products
involved in internal and external inspections were qualified.
(4) Cases of Recognitions from Customers for Providing Satisfactory Services
In 2018, by virtue of its reliable quality and satisfactory services, CPMC won the annual “Quality
Control Award”, “Excellent Supplier Award”, “Excellent Service Award” and “Excellent Partner” from
our key customers Unilever, By-Health, Lanju and Tiandiyihao, respectively.
CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE REPORT (5) Advertising, Labeling and Privacy Matters Relating to Products and Services Provided and

Methods of Redress

The Group has obtained the printing business license and the commodity barcode printing
qualification certificate in accordance with the requirements of the Regulations on the Administration
of Printing Industry and the Measures for the Administration of Commodity Barcodes, and is engaged
in printing business activities within the permitted scope of business in the license. The Group
has established and maintained an internal control system in accordance with the Administrative
Regulations on the Undertaking of Presswork Printing, the Measures for the Administration of

ENVIRONMENTAL, Commodity Barcodes, the Trademark Law and other relevant laws and regulations. For instance,
(sg‘:,'é;m%ls the Group has formulated the Sales Contract Control Procedures, pursuant to which the proof of the
REPORT qualifications of an entrusting party, including its registered trademarks and product barcodes, shall

be collected and reviewed before accepting any printing orders/contracts therefrom; the Group has
also established the Pre-press Control Procedures, which requires re-verification and double-check of
the entrusting party’s registered trademarks, product barcodes and other qualification proof to ensure
compliance before printing the printed matter.

In accordance with relevant laws and regulations, national standards and COFCO’s requirements
and according to its own situation, the Group has formulated the Technical Specifications of CPMC

DIRECTORS AND for the Construction of Traceability System and the Management Measures for Product Recalls to

ﬁﬂi\Nh'lggEMENT guide all branches and product lines through the construction of a tracing system. In addition, we

PROFILE constantly improve the product traceability and shorten the traceback time through the construction
of information platforms such as the SAP\SPC\QMS\OA\barcode management systems. The
headquarters regularly organises branches to conduct product recall and traceability drills to test the
rationality and effectiveness of the product recall control procedures. In the event of a product quality
failure that requires a recall, the Group will immediately investigate the range of products involved,
recycle the batches of products concerned, study the reasons for the failure, formulate and implement
corrective measures, and verify and follow up the improvement results.

B\EFEE()CRTTO%ETHE In 2018, the Group complied with laws and regulations of the PRC regarding product quality and

safety as well as advertising and labelling, and did not have any recalls due to product quality or
advertising and labelling problems.
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VI. Anti-corruption

As a subsidiary of COFCO, the Group strictly abide by the PRC laws and regulations as well as the
anti-corruption-related rules and regulations stipulated by the SASAC Discipline Inspection Committee
and the Discipline Inspection Team of COFCO to effectively advance the construction of party conduct
and integrity and prevent bribery, extortion, fraud, money laundering and corruption. The Group has
set up a discipline inspection committee to be responsible for the discipline inspection and supervision
of the Group, and subordinate enterprises have discipline inspection commissioners in place to be in
charge of their discipline inspection and supervision work. In 2018, the Party Work Department and the
Supervision Department of the Group merged into the Party and Mass Supervision Department which
serves as a level-1 functional department to implement the work requirements of the party committee
and the disciplinary committee on party and corporate governance and advance the specific discipline
inspection and supervision tasks of the Company. The Group has set up and published whistle-blowing
channels including mailbox, hotline and email to encourage employees and any third parties to report,
in a confidential manner, any violations of laws and regulations in connection with the Group’s business
activities. The Group will carry out investigations in accordance with relevant procedures. In the case
of violation of discipline and laws, the Group will, after verification of the violation, impose disciplinary
sanctions and demand compensation for economic losses in light of the seriousness of the case. If the
violation constitutes a crime, the case will be handed over to the judicial authority according to law for
criminal justice.

In 2018, the Group achieved good results in implementing the responsibility system for clean and honest
administration, observing the CPC Central Committee’s Eight-point Regulation, carrying out inspections
and rectification and the three major special campaigns, increasing supervision and integrity awareness,
and strengthening the construction of discipline inspection team. In 2018, the Group was not involved in
any corruption cases and litigations.

(1) Implementing the Responsibility System for Clean and Honest Administration under the
Leadership of the Party Committee and the Supervision of the Disciplinary Committee

Guided by Xi Jinping’s socialism with Chinese characteristics in the new era and the spirit of the 19th
National Congress of the CPC, the party committee of the Group is keenly aware of the urgency of
strict party governance and arranged the primary organisations of the party to sign party building
responsibility statement and clean administration responsibility statement for the implementation of
the two responsibilities. We continuously enhanced the awareness of responsibility and unexpected
hardship in the construction of clean administration and anti-corruption battle, further clarified the
leading responsibility of the party committee, and established and improved the relevant work
procedures and guarantee mechanism to realise “one post with two responsibilities”. We promoted
the performance of the disciplinary committee’s supervisory responsibility with rule of law thinking
and methods, stressed its supervisory role, constantly improved its supervision ability, enhanced
its independence and authority in the construction of clean and honest administration, and flexibly
applied the four norms of supervision and discipline enforcement.
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MANAGEMENT (2) Deepening the Implementation of the Spirit of the CPC Central Committee’s Eight-point

DISCUSSION Regulation
AND ANALYSIS
We stepped up our study, understanding and comprehension of the CPC Central Committee’s
Eight-point Regulation, continued to better understand and implement the essence and spirit of the
Eight-point Regulation, timely organised personnel to study the newly revised Management Measures
for Performance-based Compensation and Business Expenses of the Company, and carried out
special supervision and inspections. We strictly implemented the supervision and inspection reporting
mechanism accordingly to the requirements of superiors, issued notices and reminders prior to
holidays through the Intranet, email and WeChat to warn against rule-breaking behaviour such as
CORPORATE banquets and gift giving at public expenses, private use of public vehicles, excessive bonuses and
GOVERNANCE REPORT allowances, and submitted supervision and inspection reports after holidays in a timely manner.

(3) Inspection and Rectification and Three Special Campaigns

In 2018, under the arrangement of the Central Inspection Work Leading Group, the 13th Inspection
Team of the CPC Central Committee conducted a special inspection of COFCO. The Group carried
out a series of self-inspection and self-correction measures in accordance with the “six requirements”
of COFCO. We deepened the rectification measures, improved the relevant rules and measures,
and held relevant personnel accountable. Following the inspection, we carried out three special
ENVIRONMENTAL, campaigns, i.e. the rectification of hidden and disguised acts of corruption, the self-examination and
SOCIAL AND self-correction of the Wang Xiaolin case, and the correction of personnel selection and recruitment.
GOVERNANCE : . o . - .

REPORT Particularly, in the rectification of hidden and disguised acts of corruption, we screened out 20 types
of corruption risk points and 11 forms of hidden and disguised corruption problems. The functional
departments concerned deeply analysed the reasons behind such problems, the loopholes in the
system and institutional deficiencies, and put forward a number of long-term rectification measures to
strengthen prevention and control of corruption in a targeted manner.
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Strengthening Supervision and the Awareness of Integrity

To strengthen external supervision, we regularly sent the “No Gift Notice” to suppliers, shippers,
purchasers and construction contractors in the name of the Company, reiterated to them the
“Sunshine Agreement” and specified the whistle-blowing channels. We established and improved
the internal mechanism for joint supervision of the business management department, finance
department, audit department and supervision department. In 2018, the audit department worked with
multiple departments to complete the audit of construction projects and special audits of sales and
administrative management. In 2018, the Group reviewed and revised the “Integrity Risk Prevention
and Control Manual”, regularly issued warning bulletins, and carried out integrity education in various
business units and supply chain systems. The Group conducted 24 talks and 4 training sessions on
integrity for the managers of the party committee, organised managers to take integrity knowledge
tests, and required managers to sign a letter of commitment to self-examination of integrity. Through
the talks, training, tests and self-examination, we strengthened the managers’ awareness of integrity.

Strengthening the Construction of Discipline Inspection Team

In 2018, in accordance with the requirements for the appointment of discipline inspection personnel,
we implemented strict criteria for such appointment, re-screened the discipline inspection cadres
of the Group and set up a special discipline inspection team. The Party and Mass Supervision
Department formulated a list of discipline inspection and supervision work duties, clarified the
division of responsibilities, and required the discipline inspection team to strengthen their awareness
of confidentiality and strictly perform their duties in supervision, discipline enforcement, and
accountability. The disciplinary committee of the Group held a series of meetings including a forum
for discipline inspection cadres, a training meeting for discipline inspection cadres and a meeting for
the promotion of party-mass supervision to provide professional training and guidance to discipline
inspection cadres and strengthen the political, policy and professional construction of the team.
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Directors and Senior Management Profile

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

ZHANG Xin, aged 56, is an executive Director and the chairman of the
Board. Mr. Zhang is primarily responsible for the overall management,
major decision-making, strategic planning and business development
of the Group. Mr. Zhang joined the Group in January 1995, and was
appointed as an executive Director and the Chairman of the Board on
23 June 2008 and 23 March 2015, respectively. He has over 20 years
of experience in the packaging industry. Mr. Zhang has been the vice
president of the China Packaging Federation since November 2011.
Mr. Zhang received a bachelor’s degree in Aeronautical Machinery
Processing from Nanchang Institute of Aeronautical Technology (now
known as Nanchang Hangkong University) in 1983 and a master’s
degree in Business Administration from the University of Southeastern
China in 2002. In 2005, Mr. Zhang was awarded the Governmental
Special Allowance by the State Council of the PRC for his outstanding
contributions to the development of engineering technology in the PRC.
He is a senior engineer.

ZHANG Ye, aged 45, is an executive Director and the General Manager.
Mr. Zhang is primary responsible for the daily operation and management
of the Group. Mr. Zhang joined the Group in April 1995, and had served
as sales manager, sales director, general manager of the subsidiaries
of the Company, assistant to the General Manager, deputy General
Manager, etc. He also served as the chief legal consultant of the Group
concurrently during the period from July 2011 to January 2016. He
was appointed as an executive Director and a general manager of the
Company on 22 December 2016 and 19 July 2016 respectively and
currently serves as directors of certain subsidiaries of the Company. He
has over 20 years of experience in the packaging industry. Mr. Zhang
obtained an associate degree in physics from Shanghai Fudan University
(E/B1EBKE) in 1995, and obtained a bachelor degree in business
management from the Continuing Education School of Shanghai Fudan
University (/818 B KEBAZE Z0t) in 1999.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

YU Youzhi, aged 55, is a non-executive Director. Ms. Yu was appointed
as a non-executive Director on 15 August 2017. Ms. Yu had served as
the deputy director of communist party committee office of China Foods
Import and Export (Group) Co., Ltd. (FFEIEhR G HO(EB)FRAR])
(currently known as COFCO Corporation) from April 2003 to April 2006,
and as the director of the communist party committee office of China
Foods (Group) Co., Ltd. (FEEHRGH(ER)FRAR]) (currently known
as COFCO Corporation) from April 2006 to December 2008. She had also
served as the deputy minister as well as the director of the labour union
office of the communist party office (corporate culture department), and
the vice chairman of the labour union of COFCO Corporation from 2008
to 2016. Ms. Yu received a bachelor degree in philosophy from Wuhan
University in 1985.



Directors and Senior Management Profile

CHEN Qianzheng, aged 55, is a non-executive Director. Mr. Chen was MANAGEMENT
appointed as a non-executive Director on 22 December 2016. Mr. Chen DISCUSSION
had served as a manager, assistant to general manager, deputy general AND ANALYSIS
manager and general manager successively at Wuhan COFCO Import
and Export Co., Ltd. (BUZF &% H O2A]), a wholly owned subsidiary of
China Foods Import and Export (Group) Co., Ltd. (FFEIEHRRE LD
(E£8)AR 2 7)) (currently known as COFCO Corporation), from Feb 1987
to May 2006. From May 2006 to July 2008, Mr. Chen worked at China
Foods (Group) Co., Ltd. (FEIERRMA(ER)ER AR (currently known
as COFCO Corporation) as a general manager of its meat department.
He was the deputy general manager and also serves as the general

CORPORATE

manager of the marking department, the general manager of the trading GOVERNANCE REPORT
department and the deputy general manager of cold chain logistics
< department of COFCO Meat Investment Company Limited (FFi@ARE

ZABFR/AT]) successively from July 2008 to November 2016. Mr. Chen
received a bachelor degree from Huazhong Agricultural University (Z
FREZKE) in July 1985, and was accredited as a Senior International
Business Engineer in May 2002.

ZHOU Yuan, aged 32, is a non-executive Director. Mr. Zhou was
appointed as a non-executive Director of the Company on 25 February ROENTAL
2016. Mr. Zhou was a vice chairman and a director of ORG Packaging, SOCIAL AND
a listed company on Shenzhen Stock Exchange and a substantial GOVERNANCE
shareholder of the Company, since November 2010 and as a director of RO
Huang Shan NOVEL Company Limited (“Huang Shan NOVEL”), a listed
company on Shenzhen Stock Exchange, since January 2016. Mr. Zhou
received a Bachelor degree of Engineering (with Honours) in the field of
Mechanical Engineering from Monash University in Australia in December
2010.

DIRECTORS
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ZHOU Yuan

SHEN Tao, aged 48, is a non-executive Director. Mr. Shen was appointed
as a non-executive Director on 25 February 2016. Mr. Shen has had
over 23 years of senior management experience in the packaging
industry including acting as the general manager of Shanghai Shenjing
Steel Processing Company Limited (J:iEE#EWMJDIﬁIZE Al), the
general manager of Shanghai Baoyi Can Company Limited (/&% 255
BBRZAF]), the assistant general manager of Shanghai Baosteel Property
Development Company Limited (/8 ZMEZERERAF]), and the
. .. e a0 REPORT OF THE
assistant general manager of Baosteel Metal Company Limited (2 DIRECTORS
£ BAMRAT]). Mr. Shen joined ORG Packaging in July 2008 and has
been a director of ORG Packaging since October 2010. He worked
as the vice general manager of ORG Packaging from October 2008 to
February 2014, and has been the general manager of ORG Packaging
since February 2014 and a director of Huang Shan NOVEL since January
2016. Mr. Shen received a Master degree in Business Administration from
Peking University in January 2015. He also obtained the qualification of
senior business operator (B ARAL & RM) from the Occupational Skill Testing
and Instruction Centre of China* (FBlR B 2R A %IETE’:HJ/U) and
State Senior Business Operator Assessment Committee* (2 Bl e A48 & Al
FFEEE ) in March 2004.
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Directors and Senior Management Profile

CHENG Yuk Wo

CPMC Holdings Limited

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

CHENG Yuk Wo, aged 58, is an independent non-executive Director. Mr.
Cheng was appointed as a Director on 23 June 2008. Mr. Cheng has
been a member and a fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales since December 1987 and August 1998 respectively,
a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since
January 1999, and a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of
Ontario, Canada since November 1990. Mr. Cheng has over 30 years of
experience in auditing, finance and business management. He has been
the sole proprietor of Erik Cheng & Co., Certified Public Accountants in
Hong Kong since 1999.

Mr. Cheng also serves as a director of Chiu Chow Chamber of Commerce
and an Honorary Director of Hong Kong Rehabilitation Power.

Mr. Cheng currently acts as an independent non-executive director
of a number of companies listed on the Stock Exchange, namely, CSI
Properties Limited, HKC (Holdings) Limited, C.P. Lotus Corporation,
Chong Hing Bank Limited, Top Spring International Holdings Limited, Liu
Chong Hing Investment Limited, Goldbond Group Holdings Limited, Chia
Tai Enterprises International Limited, DTXS Silk Road Investment Holdings
Company Limited, Miricor Enterprises Holdings Limited, Somerley Capital
Holdings Limited and Kidsland International Holdings Limited.

Mr. Cheng graduated from the University of Kent, England with a
Bachelor’'s degree in Accounting in July 1983 and obtained a Master’s
degree in Accounting and Finance from the London School of Economics,
England in August 1984.
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FU Tingmei, aged 52, is an independent non-executive Director. Mr. MANAGEMENT
Fu was appointed as a Director on 23 June 2008. Mr. Fu has extensive DISCUSSION
experiences in investment, finance, law and business management. AND ANALYSIS
Between 1992 and 2003, he conducted many corporate finance
transactions in several investment banking firms based in Hong Kong
including serving as a director of Peregrine Capital Limited, and a deputy
managing director and subsequently promoted as a managing director
of BNP Paribas Peregrine Capital Limited. Mr. Fu is currently engaged
in private investments business. He is currently also an independent
non-executive director of Guotai Junan International Holdings Limited,
Postal Savings Bank of China Co., Ltd., China Resources Pharmaceutical CORPORTE
Group Limited and COFCO Meat Holdings Limited, both listed on the GOVERNANCE REPORT
Stock Exchange. In the last 3 years, Mr. Fu was also an independent
non-executive director of Beijing Enterprises Holdings Limited which is
listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Fu graduated from the University of
London with a master's degree and a doctorate degree in Law in 1989
and 1993, respectively.

PUN Tit Shan, aged 58, is an independent non-executive Director.
Mr. Pun was appointed as a Director on 1 September 2016. He holds
a master of business administration degree (with honour) from the RO
University of Manchester. Mr. Pun is currently acted as head of investment SOCIAL AND
of Concord Asset Management (HK) Ltd. and was the chief executive GOVERNANCE
officer of Asia Wealth Securities Limited and the chief investment FeroR
officer of Astrum Capital Management Limited. He has over 32 years of
experience in the finance field, such as strategic dealing and arbitraging
in the derivatives market, sales and marketing management in the
primary and secondary equity market and sales and assets managing of
high net-worth clients and investment advisory.

’ Currently, he is the vice-chairman of Institute of Financial Analyst and
PUN Tit Shan . DIRECTORS
Professional Commentator and the Honorary Consultant of Hong Kong AND SENIOR

Ningxia Youth Association (& /&% B & F &) since 2015. Mr. Pun was MANAE:([\,II'I:EI':E

previously a board director of Hong Kong Futures Exchange Ltd.
(1995-1999); a board director of Hong Kong Stock Exchange Options
Clearing House Ltd. (1997-2000); a membership committee member
of Hong Kong Securities Institute (1998-2002); a panel member of
Derivatives Market Consultative Panel (2000-2003); a committee member
of Hong Kong Securities Institute Professional Education Committee
(2002-2004); and a member of Lions Club of Hong Kong Shouson Hill.

. . . . REPORT OF THE
Mr. Pun is currently an independent non-executive director of each of DIRECTORS

China New Economy Fund Limited (Stock Code: 80) and Convoy Global
Holdings Limited (formerly known as Convoy Financial Holdings Limited)
(Stock Code: 1019), the shares of all of which are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange.
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Report of the Directors

The Directors are pleased to present this annual report together with the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of the subsidiaries of the
Company are manufacturing of packaging products for consumer goods. There was no significant change
in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year ended 31 December 2018. An analysis of the
Group’s performance during the year using financial key performance indicators is provided in the Management
Discussion and Analysis section on pages 10 to 23 of this annual report.

Further discussion and analysis as required by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), including a fair review of the business of the Group, a discussion of the principal risks and
uncertainties facing the Group and an indication of likely future development in the Group’s business, are set
out in the “Chairman’s Letter”, “General Manager’s Report”, “Management Discussion and Analysis” and “Notes
to Financial Statements” sections of this annual report. The above sections form part of this report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group's profit for the year ended 31 December 2018 and the Group’s financial position as of that date are
set out in the financial statements on pages 174 to 305 of this annual report. The Directors recommended the
payment of a final dividend of RMB0.048 (equivalent to HK5.6 cents) per ordinary Share for the year ended 31
December 2018 (2017: RMBO0.061, equivalent to HK7.5 cents). An interim dividend of RMBO0.060 (equivalent to
HK®6.8 cents) per ordinary share was paid on 26 September 2018 (2017: RMBO0.071, equivalent to HK8.2 cents).

The proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2018 will be distributed on or after Wednesday,
26 June 2019 to shareholders whose names appear on the shareholders’ register of the Company on Thursday,
13 June 2019 (the “Record Date”).

Pursuant to “Notice Regarding Matters on Determination of Tax Residence Status of Chinese-controlled Offshore
Incorporated Enterprises under Rules of Effective Management”( (BB B INeEfh SRR (> K IE BB B IR HE
ZHREBTEAERCEBBMEERNIBL)) (the “Notice”) which was issued by the State Administration of Taxation
(the “SAT”) of the PRC on 22 April 2009 and implemented on 1 January 2008, enterprises controlled by Chinese
enterprises or enterprises groups and registered outside China shall be regarded as resident enterprises with
de facto management bodies located in China, or “offshore-registered resident enterprises” (GESEREMERE
%), if all of the following criteria are present or effected in the PRC: (1) senior management in charge of daily
operations and offices; (2) decision-making or authorised departments regarding financial management and
human resources; (3) primary assets, accounting books, seals, records and files of shareholders’ meetings or
board of directors’ meetings; and (4) directors or senior management with 50% or more voting rights ordinarily
reside in China. Whether or not a Chinese-controlled offshore enterprise is an offshore-registered resident
enterprise is subject to preliminary review by the local tax bureau where the de facto management body of
Chinese-controlled offshore enterprise or its controller is based and is subject to final confirmation by SAT.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 9 June 2013, the Company had received the SAT
approvals which confirmed that the Company is regarded as a Chinese Resident Enterprise, effective from 1
January 2013. Therefore, the Company will implement enterprise income tax withholding arrangement for the
proposed year 2018 final dividend.

CPMC Holdings Limited



Report of the Directors

Pursuant to the Notice, the Enterprise Income Tax Law and the Implementation Rules of the laws of PRC, the
Company is required to withhold 10% enterprise income tax when it distributes the proposed year 2018 final
dividend to its non-resident enterprise shareholders. In respect of all shareholders whose names appear on
the Company’s register of members on the Record Date who are not individuals (including HKSCC Nominees
Limited, corporate nominees or trustees such as securities companies and banks, and other entities or
organisations, which are all considered as non-resident enterprise shareholders), the Company will distribute
the proposed year 2018 final dividend after deducting enterprise income tax of 10%. The Company will not
withhold and pay the income tax in respect of the proposed year 2018 final dividend payable to any natural
person shareholders whose names appear on the Company’s register of members on the Record Date.

If any resident enterprise (as defined in the PRC’s Enterprise Income Tax Law) listed on the Company’s register
of members which is duly incorporated in the PRC or under the laws of a foreign country (or a region) but with a
PRC-based de facto management body, does not desire to have the Company withhold the said 10% enterprise
income tax, it should lodge with the Company’s Registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited,
documents from its governing tax authority confirming that the Company is not required to withhold and pay
enterprise income tax in respect of the dividend that it is entitled at or before 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 6 June
2019.

Investors should read the above carefully. If anyone would like to change the identity of the holders in the
Company’s register of members, please enquire about the relevant procedures with the nominees or trustees.
The Company will withhold for payment of the enterprise income tax for its non-resident enterprise shareholders
strictly in accordance with the relevant laws and requirements of the relevant government departments and
adhere strictly to the information set out in the Company’s register of members on the Record Date. The
Company assumes no liability whatsoever and will not entertain any claims arising from any delay in, or
inaccurate confirmation of, the status of the shareholders or any disputes over the mechanism of withholding.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last
five financial years, as extracted from the audited consolidated financial statements and restated/reclassified
as appropriate, is set out on page 306 of this annual report. This summary does not form part of the audited
financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Company and the Group during the Year are
set out in note 13 to the audited financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2018 are set out in
note 28 to the financial statements.

A share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) was conditionally approved by a written resolution of the
Shareholder passed on 23 October 2009. The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of
ten years commencing from 16 November 2009. The terms of the Share Option Scheme are in compliance with
the provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, where appropriate.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to attract, retain and motivate senior management personnel and
key employees of the Group. The Board may, at its discretion and on such terms as it may think fit, grant to any
Directors (executive or non-executive), supervisors, senior executives, key technical staff, managers, employees
of the Group an option to subscribe for the Shares under the Share Option Scheme.
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Report of the Directors

An offer for grant of options under the Share Option Scheme must be accepted within 28 days on which such
offer was made. The amount payable by each grantee of options to the Company on acceptance of the offer
for the grant of options is HK$1.00. The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular option granted
under the Share Option Scheme shall be a price at the discretion of the Board, provided that it shall be at
the highest of: (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange on the date of offer; (ii) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotations
sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the date of the offer;
or (iii) the nominal value of the Shares on the date of Offer. No Shares was available for issue under the Share
Option Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2018.

The Company shall be entitled to issue options, provided that the total number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme
of the Company does not, in aggregate, exceed 10% of the total number of Shares in issue on the date when
the Shares were first listed on the Stock Exchange. Where any grant of options to be made to a substantial
shareholder of the Company or any of his associates would result in the Shares in issue and to be issued
upon exercise of all options already granted and to be granted (including options exercised, cancelled and
outstanding) to such person in any 12-month period up to and including the date of such grant: (i) representing
in aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares in issue; and (ii) having an aggregate value, based on the closing price
of the Shares at the date of grant, in excess of HK$5 million, then such grant of options shall be subject to
approval of the Shareholders in general meeting taken on a poll.

The options previously granted to the participants on 12 October 2011 were all lapsed on 20 December 2017,
and the Company has not granted any options since then. During the year ended 31 December 2018, the
Company has no outstanding options, and thus there were no options exercised, cancelled or lapsed during the
period.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not adopted any other share option scheme during the year ended
31 December 2018.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 December 2018, the Company’s reserves available for distribution, calculated in accordance with the
provisions of sections 291, 297 and 299 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, amounted to approximately
RMB64,106,000 (2017: approximately RMB84,408,000), of which approximately RMB56,379,000 (2017:
approximately RMB71,648,000) has been proposed as a final dividend for the Year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2018, aggregate sales to the Group’s largest and five largest customers
accounted for approximately 7.3% and 31.4%, respectively, of the Group’s total sales. The Group’s largest and
five largest suppliers of the Group, in aggregate, accounted for approximately 17.8% and 41.1%, respectively,
of the Group’s total purchases for the Year.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the

Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued Shares) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five
largest customers or five largest suppliers during the year ended 31 December 2018.
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors:
Mr. ZHANG Xin (Chairman)
Mr. ZHANG Ye (General Manager)

Non-executive Directors:
Ms. YU Youzhi

Mr. CHEN Qianzheng

Mr. ZHOU Yuan

Mr. SHEN Tao

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. CHENG Yuk Wo

Mr. FU Tingmei

Mr. PUN Tit Shan

In accordance with Article 103 of the Articles, Messrs. Zhang Xin, Zhang Ye and Chen Qianzheng will retire
and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the 2019 AGM.

Each of the Directors has a specific term of appointment for three years.

No Director proposed for re-election at the 2019 AGM has a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all the independent
non-executive Directors meet the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and are
independent in accordance with the terms of the guidelines.

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

The names of directors who have served on the boards of directors of the Group’s subsidiaries during the Year
and up to the date of this annual report were:

Zhang Xin
Zhang Ye

Shi Yu

Lv Qing

Feng Ping*
Cheng Bincai*
Zhao Wei

Gu Xiao Lei
Huang Jin

Yang Xiaoyan
Wang Jiliang
Goh Hock Huat*
Robert Henry Bourque Jr
Ji Lifang

Peng Wei*

Hong Yuanxiang*
Gai Jun

Gong Xielong
Ma Binyun
Chan Yin Leng
Zhang Xingsong

* He/She has resigned as a director of the relevant subsidiary(ies) of the Group.
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Report of the Directors

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Group are set out on pages 64 to 67 of
this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENT OR
CONTRACTS

No Director nor a connected entity of a Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any
transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to the Group to which the holding company of the
Company, the Company or any of the Company’s subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to the Shareholders’ approval at the general meetings. Other emoluments
are determined by the Remuneration Committee pursuant to the Articles with reference to market conditions,
Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the Group.

Details of the remuneration for Directors are set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2018, save as disclosed below, none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company
had any interest or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)) which would have to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which any Director or
chief executive of the Company was deemed or taken to be under such provisions of the SFO), or which were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register kept by the Company or which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

Interests in underlying shares of the Company

Approximate
percentage of

Capacity/Nature Number of underlying interests
Name of Directors of Interests shares held in long position (Note 1)
Mr. Zhang Xin Beneficial owner 14,111,000 (Note 2) 1.20%
Mr. Zhang Ye Beneficial owner 9,200,000 (Note 3) 0.78%

Notes:

(1) The percentages are calculated based on the total number of Shares in issue as at 31 December 2018, i.e.,
1,174,560,000 Shares.

(2) Zhang Xin is interested in 14,111,000 Shares comprising (i) 12,500,000 Shares being the shares subscribed by him from
the Company pursuant to the Subscription Agreement dated 22 May 2016, which are held by Majestic Merge Limited on
behalf of him; and (ii) 1,611,000 Shares which is held by himself.

(3) Zhang Ye is interested in 9,200,000 Shares comprising (i) 8,500,000 Shares being the shares subscribed by him from

the Company pursuant to the Subscription Agreement dated 22 May 2016, which are held by Majestic Merge Limited on
behalf of him; and (ii) 700,000 Shares which is held by himself.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2018, so far as was known to the Directors, the following persons (other than the Directors
or chief executive of the Company) had an interest or short position in the Shares and underlying Shares which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as
recorded in the register required kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO:

Substantial shareholders
and other persons

Capacity/Nature of
Notes Interests

Approximate

percentage

of aggregate

interests in

issued share

capital of the

Number of Company
Shares held (Note 6)

China Foods (Holdings) Limited
(“China Foods (Holdings)”)

COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited
(“COFCO (HK)")

COFCO Corporation (“COFCQ”)

ORG Technology Co. Ltd.
(formerly known as ORG
Packaging Co. Ltd)
("ORG Technology”)

(1) Registered owner

(M &(2) Interests of controlled
corporations

(1) & (3) Interests of any parties
to an agreement to
acquire interests in
a particular listed
corporation required
to be disclosed
under s.317(1)(a)
and s.318 of the
SFO

(1) & (4) Interests of controlled

corporations

(1), (3) & (4) Interests of any parties
to an agreement to
acquire interests in
a particular listed
corporation required
to be disclosed
under s.317(1)(a)
and s.318 of the
SFO

(1) & (3) Interests of controlled
corporations

(1) & (3) Interests of any parties
to an agreement to
acquire interests in
a particular listed
corporation required
to be disclosed
under s.317(1)(a)
and s.318 of the
SFO

330,658,800 28.15%

330,658,800 28.15%

269,341,200 22.93%

330,658,800 28.15%

269,341,200 22.93%

269,341,200 22.93%

330,658,800 28.15%
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MANAGEMENT Approximate
DISCUSSION percentage
AND ANALYSIS of aggregate

interests in

issued share
capital of the

Substantial shareholders Capacity/Nature of Number of Company
and other persons Notes Interests Shares held (Note 6)
Shanghai Yuanlong Investment (1) &(3) Interests of controlled 269,341,200 22.93%
Limited (L8 REREBRAR]) corporations
(“Shanghai Yuanlong”) (1) & (3) Interests of any parties 330,658,800 28.15%
CORPORATE to an agreement to
GOVERNANCE REPORT acquire interests in

a particular listed
corporation required
to be disclosed
under s.317(1)(a)
and s.318 of the
SFO

Mr. Zhou Yunijie (1 &(3) Interests of controlled 269,341,200 22.93%
corporations

oo (1)&(3)  Interests of any parties 330,658,800 28.15%

GOVERNANCE to an agreement to

REPORT acquire interests in

a particular listed

corporation required

to be disclosed

under s.317(1)(a)

and s.318 of the

SFO

DIRECTORS AND Wing Lung Bank (Trustee) Limited (1) & (5) Trustee of a trust 88,500,000 7.53%
SENIOR

MANAGEMENT
PROHLGE Antopex Limited (1) & (5)  Nominee for another 88,500,000 7.53%

person

Chuang Neng Enterprises Limited (1) & (5) Interest of controlled 88,500,000 7.53%
corporations

Majestic Merge Limited (1) & (5) Registered owner 88,500,000 7.53%

REPORT Notes:

OF THE L
DIRECTORS (1) Long positions in the Shares.

(2) China Foods (Holdings) is a wholly-owned subsidiary of COFCO (HK). COFCO (HK) is therefore deemed to be
interested in the 330,658,800 Shares held by China Foods (Holdings).

(3) On 8 November 2015, COFCO (HK) and ORG Technology entered into a sale and purchase agreement (the “Sale
& Purchase Agreement”), pursuant to which COFCO (HK) has conditionally agreed to sell and ORG Technology
has conditionally agreed to purchase in the maximum of 269,341,200 Shares. On 27 January 2016, the completion
of the Sale & Purchase Agreement took place, following which COFCO (HK) sold and ORG Technology purchased
269,341,200 Shares. The Sale & Purchase Agreement is an agreement to which s.317(1)(a) applies as it contains a
lock-up obligation on the part of ORG Technology. Such shares were transferred to ORG Development Limited, which
is wholly-owned by ORG Packaging International Holdings Limited which in turn is wholly-owned by ORG Technology.
ORG Technology is owned as to approximately 48.33% by Shanghai Yuanlong and approximately 0.74% by 1t/ =+
—LREEBR AR which in turn are owned as to approximately 78.00% and 80.00% respectively by Mr. Zhou Yunijie.
Therefore, Mr. Zhou Yunjie, Shanghai Yuanlong and ORG Technology are deemed to be interested in all the Shares held
by ORG Development Limited under the SFO.
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(4) COFCO (HK) and China Foods (Holdings) are wholly-owned subsidiaries of COFCO. COFCO is therefore deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by COFCO (HK) and China Foods (Holdings).

(5) The entire share capital of Majestic Merge Limited is held by Chuang Neng Enterprises Limited, and the entire share
capital of Chuang Neng Enterprises Limited is held by Antopex Limited, a nominee which is wholly-owned by Wing Lung
Bank (Trustee) Limited.

(6) The percentages are calculated based on the total number of Shares in issue as at the 31 December 2018, i.e.,
1,174,560,000 Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, the Company had not been notified of any other persons
other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company who had an interest or short positions in the Shares
or underlying Shares, which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provision of Divisions 2 and 3
of the Part XV of the SFO, or which were required to be recorded in the register of interests required kept under
section 336 of the SFO.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company has not entered into any equity-linked agreement.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the
Directors confirmed that the Company has maintained the amount public float as required under the Listing
Rules as at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this annual report.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

The companies now comprising the Group had entered into a number of transactions with parties which
were connected persons of the Company under the Listing Rules. These transactions are considered to be
connected transaction and continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules, which need to be
disclosed herein in compliance with the requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Details of the
connected transaction and continuing connected transactions are as follows:

I.  Connected Transaction
1. Capital Contribution to Harvest Epoch Packaging (Zhejiang) Co., Ltd.* (“Epoch Packaging”)

On 30 November 2018, CPMC Investment Co., Ltd. (“CPMC Investment”), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, Harvest Epoch International Limited (“Epoch International”) and Duilong
Honghui New Material Technology Co., Ltd. (“Duilong Honghui”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of ORG Technology, entered into the Equity Adjustment Agreement in relation to the increase of the
registered capital of Epoch Packaging, pursuant to which CPMC Investment and Harvest Epoch
International will each make capital contribution to Epoch Packaging for a total cash of US$13,050,000
and US$6,950,000 respectively. Upon completion of the capital contribution, the enlarged registered
capital in Epoch Packaging will be held as to (i) 54.7% by the CPMC Investment; (ii) 31.2% by Harvest
Epoch International; and (iii) 14.1% by Duilong Honghui, respectively.

* For identification purposes only
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Duilong Honghui is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of ORG Technology, a substantial Shareholder
of the Company, therefore it is a connected person of the Company at the issuer level pursuant to
Rule 14A.07(1) of the Listing Rules. Epoch Packaging is a non wholly-owned subsidiary of CPMC
Investment and Duilong Honghui holds 10% or more interest in it. Therefore, Epoch Packaging is a
connected subsidiary pursuant to Rule 14A.16(1) of the Listing Rules and a connected person of the
Company under Rule 14A.07(5) of the Listing Rules. Therefore, the capital contribution constitutes a
connected transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Details of the above connected transaction were disclosed in the announcement of the Company
dated 30 November 2018.

Il. Continuing Connected Transactions

1.

2016 Financial Services Agreement with COFCO Finance

On 15 September 2016, the Company and COFCO Finance entered into a financial services
agreement (the “2016 Financial Services Agreement”) in respect of the renewal of a financial services
agreement entered into between the Company and COFCO Finance on 18 September 2013 (the “2013
Financial Services Agreement”). Details of the 2016 Financial Services Agreement and 2013 Financial
Services Agreement were disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 15 September 2016
and 18 September 2013, respectively, and the circular of the Company dated 5 October 2016 and
11 October 2013, respectively. The approval of the independent Shareholders was obtained at the
extraordinary general meeting held on 24 October 2016.

Pursuant to the 2016 Financial Services Agreement, COFCO Finance has agreed to provide to the
Group the following financial services for a term of three years commencing on 24 October 2016,
the date on which the approval of the independent Shareholders was obtained at the extraordinary
general meeting:

(a) Deposit services

The maximum daily deposit amount (including accrued interests) placed by the Group with
COFCO Finance shall not exceed equivalent of RMB900 million. The deposit services and the
above annual cap were subject to the reporting, announcement, annual review and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

(b) Entrustment loan services and other financial services

COFCO Finance has agreed to provide (i) the entrustment loan services to the Group pursuant
to which COFCO Finance only acts as agent of the Group and charge handling fees and other
services fees in connection with the entrustment loan services; and (ii) other financial services,
including settlement services, forex trading services and other related consultancy and agency
services to be provided by COFCO Finance to the Group under the 2016 Financial Services
Agreement. COFCO Finance will charge handling fees in connection with the entrustment loan
services and the other financial services for a maximum annual cap not exceeding RMB4 million.
The above entrustment loan services and the other financial services were only subject to the
reporting, announcement and annual review requirements but are exempt from the independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the maximum daily deposit amount (including accrued
interests) amounted to RMB801,340,000 and there was no transaction of the entrustment loan
services and the other financial services between the Company and COFCO Finance under the
2016 Financial Services Agreement.
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2017 COFCO Packaging Materials Agreement

On 24 October 2017, the Company entered into a supply framework agreement (the “2017 COFCO
Packaging Materials Agreement”) with COFCO in respect of the renewal of the 2014 Framework
Agreement. Pursuant to the 2017 COFCO Packaging Materials Agreement, the Group will supply
Products and Related Services to COFCO Group with reference to the prevailing market prices of
same or similar products and services of the same period for a term of three years commencing on
1 January 2018. The 2017 COFCO Packaging Materials Agreement may be renewed by agreement
between the parties subject to obtaining the necessary consents and approvals (if necessary)
required by the Listing Rules. Details of the 2017 COFCO Packaging Materials Agreement were
disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 24 October 2017 and the circular of the
Company dated 30 November 2017. The approval of the independent Shareholders was obtained at
the extraordinary general meeting held on 20 December 2017.

The approved maximum aggregate annual value of the Products and Related Services to be
supplied to COFCO Group in 2018, 2019 and 2020 are expected not to exceed RMB480,000,000,
RMB570,000,000 and RMB670,000,000 respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the aggregate value of the Products and Related Services
to be supplied to COFCO Group under the 2017 COFCO Packaging Materials Agreement was
approximately RMB403,403,000.

2017 COFCO IT Agreement

On 24 October 2017, the Company entered into a supply framework agreement (the “2017 COFCO
IT Agreement”) with COFCO in respect of the renewal of the 2014 IT Services Framework Agreement.
Pursuant to the 2017 COFCO IT Agreement, COFCO together with its subsidiaries and associates
other than the Group (“COFCO Group”) agrees to procure IT software and IT facilities for the Group,
supply IT services and market consulting services, and leasing to the Group at the respective
annual caps for a period commencing on 1 January 2018 and ending on 31 December 2020 (the “IT
Products and Services”). The 2017 COFCO IT Agreement may be renewed by agreement between
the parties subject to obtaining the necessary consents and approvals (if necessary) required by the
Listing Rules. Details of the 2017 COFCO IT Agreement were disclosed in the announcement of the
Company dated 24 October 2017.

Pursuant to the 2017 COFCO IT Agreement, the annual caps in respect of the supply of IT Products
and Services by COFCO Group to the Group from 2018 to 2020 in relation to (i) the purchase of IT
software and IT facilities is RMB800,000, RMB800,000 and RMB800,000 respectively; (i) the supply
of IT services and market consulting services is RMB3,000,000, RMB3,000,000 and RMB3,000,000
respectively; and (iii) leasing is RMB4,000,000, RMB3,500,000 and RMB4,000,000 respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the aggregate value in relation to (i) the purchase of IT

software and IT facilities; (ii) the supply of IT services and market consulting services; and (iii) leasing
under 2017 COFCO IT Agreement were RMB469,000, Nil and RMB2,703,000, respectively.
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Report of the Directors

4. 2017 ORG Packaging Materials Agreement

On 24 October 2017, the Company entered into a framework agreement (the “2017 ORG Packaging
Materials Agreement”’) with ORG Packaging in respect of the renewal of the 2016 Sales and
Purchases Framework Agreement. Pursuant to the 2017 ORG Packaging Materials Agreement,
(i) the Group has agreed to sell to ORG Group and ORG Group has agreed to purchase from the
Group printed tinplates, printed aluminium and caps and related can production services of such
packaging materials, and (i) ORG Group has agreed to sell to the Group and the Group has agreed
to purchase from ORG Group tinplates, laminated steel and aluminium and related can production
services of such packaging materials, from 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2020. Details of the 2017
ORG Packaging Materials Agreement were disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated
24 October 2017 and the circular of the Company dated 30 November 2017. The approval of the
independent Shareholders was obtained at the extraordinary general meeting held on 20 December
2017.

Pursuant to the 2017 ORG Packaging Materials Agreement, the approved annual caps in respect
of (i) the sale of printed tinplates, printed aluminium and caps and related can production services
of such packaging materials by the Group to ORG Group from 2018 to 2020 are RMB450,000,000,
RMB520,000,000 and RMB550,000,000; (ii) the sale of tinplates, laminated steel and aluminium and
related can production services of such packaging materials by ORG Group to the Group from 2018
to 2020 are RMB400,000,000, RMB450,000,000 and RMB500,000,000.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the aggregate value in relation to (i) the sale of printed
tinplates, printed aluminium and caps and related can production services of such packaging
materials by the Group to ORG Group; and (ii) the sale of tinplates, laminated steel and aluminium
and related can production services of such packaging materials by ORG Group to the Group under
2017 ORG Packaging Materials Agreement were RMB 134,823,000 and RMB71,337,000 respectively.

Annual review of continuing connected transactions

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above continuing connected transactions
numbered 1 to 4 for the year ended 31 December 2018 and confirmed that the above continuing connected
transactions were:

1. entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group,

2. entered into on normal commercial terms or on terms no less favorable than those available to or from
independent third parties, and

3. in accordance with the terms of respective agreements governing the above continuing connected
transactions that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a
whole.

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditor, were engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information and with reference to Practice
Note 740 Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Ernst & Young have issued their unqualified letter
containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions disclosed above
by the Group in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been
provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.
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Certain related party transactions as disclosed in note 36 to the audited financial statements of this annual
report also constituted connected transactions or continuing connected transactions of the Company under the
Listing Rules which are required to be disclosed in this report in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. The related party transactions in relation to the key management personnel remuneration as disclosed
in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report include connected transactions
exempt from reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval requirements pursuant to Rule
14A.73(6) of the Listing Rules. Save as the aforesaid and the connected transaction and continuing connected
transactions disclosed above, the Directors consider that all other related party transactions disclosed in note
36 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report did not fall under the definition of “connected
transactions” or “continuing connected transactions” (as the case may be) under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules which are required to comply with any of the reporting, annual review, announcement, or independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules. The Company confirmed it has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules throughout the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING BUSINESS

Interest of the Directors in a competing business required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing
Rules is as follows:

Name of Director Name of company Nature of competing business Nature of interest Appointment date
Mr. Zhou Yuan ORG Technology (Note) Manufacture of packaging products As a vice chairman November 2010
As a director October 2010
Mr. Shen Tao ORG Technology (Note) Manufacture of packaging products As a general manager ~ February 2014
As a director October 2010
Note:

ORG Technology is a listed company on Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 002701) and a substantial Shareholder,
holding approximately 22.93% of the issued share capital of the Company. ORG Technology is principally engaged in
the comprehensive packaging services including packaging design, packaging production, filling and brand design and
promotion. For further details of ORG Technology in respect of its business and financial position, please refer to its annual
report dated 27 April 2018, which is available at http://www.orgtech.cn/uploadfile/2018/0528/20180528012334703.pdf.

Although Mr. Zhou Yuan is the vice chairman and a director of ORG Technology, and Mr. Shen Tao is the general manager
and a director of ORG Technology, both of them have confirmed that they are mindful of their duty to avoid conflict of interest.
In cases where conflict of interest situation arises, Mr. Zhou Yuan and Mr. Shen Tao will refrain from taking part in the decision
making process and will abstain from voting on the relevant resolution in board meeting. On this basis and given that ORG
Technology has its own management personnel other than Mr. Zhou Yuan and Mr. Shen Tao, the Directors believe that the
Company is capable of carrying out its business independently of, and at arm’s length from ORG Technology.

Same as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, no Directors are considered to have interests in any
business which is likely to compete directly or indirectly with that of the Group.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed
securities during the year ended 31 December 2018.
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Report of the Directors

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company has arranged Directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance for all Directors and senior management of the Company. The insurance covers the corresponding
costs, charges, expenses and liabilities for legal action of corporate activities against them. Pursuant to Article
171 of the Articles, every Director or other officer of the Company shall be indemnified out of the assets of the
Company against all liabilities (to the extent permitted by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance) sustained or
incurred by such Director or officer in or about the execution of his office or otherwise in relation thereto.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business
of the Group was entered into or existed during the Year.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC while the Company
itself is listed on the Stock Exchange. Our operations accordingly shall comply with relevant laws and
regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong.

The Company strictly abides by the laws and regulations of the PRC in its business operation, including but
not limited to the laws and regulations in relation to product safety, printing business, foreign investment,
labour and insurance, taxation, foreign exchange and environmental protection, specifically, Production Safety
Law of the People’s Republic of China, Regulation of the People’s Republic of China on the Administration of
Production License for Industrial Products, Measures for the Administration of Operating Licenses for Hazardous
Chemicals, Product Quality Law of the People’s Republic of China, Trademark Law of the People’s Republic
of China, Law of the People’s Republic of China on Foreign-Capital Enterprises, Interim Measures for the
Recordation Administration of the Formation and Modification of Foreign-Funded Enterprises, Labour Law of the
People’s Republic of China, Social Insurance Law of the People’s Republic of China, Enterprise Income Tax Law
of the People’s Republic of China, Regulations of the People’s Republic of China on the Management of Foreign
Exchanges, Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China, Atmospheric Pollution Prevention
and Control Law of the People’s Republic of China, etc.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group did not breach any law and regulation that has a
significant impact on the Group.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is devoted to promoting and maintaining the environmental and social sustainable development
of the regions where it operates. As a responsible enterprise, the Group is in compliance with all the
relevant laws and regulations in terms of the environmentally friendliness, health and safety, adopts effective
measures, conserves energy and reduces waste. Further discussion on the Group’s environmental policies
and performance and an account of the Group’s key relationships with its employees, are set out in the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of this annual report. The said section forms part of this report.
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KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Directors recognise that customers and business partners are the keys to the sustainable development of
the Group. The Group is committed to building a close and caring relationship with its business partners and
improving the quality of services to the customers.

The Group stays connected with its customers and suppliers and has ongoing communication with the

customers and suppliers through various channels such as telephone, electronic mails and physical meetings
to obtain their feedback and suggestions.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Directors consider that the Company has complied with the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December 2018.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its employees in Hong Kong. Particulars of the
retirement scheme are set out in note 2.4 to the financial statements of this annual report.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The 2019 AGM will be held on Monday, 3 June 2019.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the Shareholders’ eligibility to attend and vote at the 2019 AGM

Latest time to lodge transfer documents for registration 4:30 p.m. on 28 May 2019
Closure of Register of members 29 May to 3 June 2019

(both dates inclusive)
Record date 3 June 2019

For determining the Shareholders’ entitlement to the final dividend

Latest time to lodge transfer documents for registration 4:30 p.m. on 6 June 2019
Closure of Register of members 10 June to 13 June 2019

(both dates inclusive)
Record date 13 June 2019

In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend and attend the 2019 AGM, Shareholders should contact the
Company’s Registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong on the matters such as transfer of shares,
change of name or address, or loss of share certificates.

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young will retire and a resolution for their re-appointment as auditor of the Company will be proposed at
the 2019 AGM.

Zhang Xin
Chairman
Hong Kong, 26 March 2019
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Independent Auditor’s Report
ﬁﬂ?%zﬁfﬁiﬁi

INDEPENDENT

AUDITOR'S

REPORT Ernst & Young TSRS Tel B5E: +852 2846 9888

BUREMSE Y 22/F, CITIC Tower EBFRRAZER Fax {§H: +852 2868 4432
E ﬁ* g;Tim Mei Avenue PiERE2218 ey.com

entral, Hong Kong

To the members of CPMC Holdings Limited BHEBEEERERATZERE
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability) (BB 7RI BR N F])
Opinion 2R

CONSOLIDATED ) : . . - - =

STATEMENT We have audited the consolidated financial statements of RIZHEE BZPEaRITRARE AT

OF PROFIT OR CPMC Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (T&Erall) REHEB AR (FHIEE

*I;?O;séﬁi (the “Group”) set out on pages 174 to 305, which comprise B ) SEHRFE174B 2 E3058 RS
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 Bk - 5 EENR2018F12A318H
December 2018, and the consolidated statement of profit or SARABMBIRARIALEEEZZA IE
loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, FEMGEEREK  KeE2EBARK -
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the SEARRERLGEABESRER U
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, MO mERNT BETEStREZ
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a BEE o
summary of significant accounting policies.

CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF

COMPREHENSIVE In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter AIZSEMRZA B TR ES B EE—

'ZQCAOA’VEWE described in the Basis for qualified opinion paragraph, the BTt ET Y AJ gL 24 - 540

e consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view BRERDIRBREB S e (5
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 SHEIAE|) BHNE S RE XL
December 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance ([BEMEREED ) BB AT H
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in R OBARIR2018F12831B 242468
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards BRI EBEZEE 2 MBEERIRS
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public mE - WEIRBREB QUL M Z AR
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in 2o

g?ANTSE(,\)ALE'mTED compliance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

OF FINANCIAL

poson Basis for qualified opinion REZREXE
As disclosed in note 17 to the consolidated financial statements, WG G B RERMFI7TFHESE - »
as at 31 December 2018, the Group had invested in a joint 2018%F12A31H BE£BEHRE—XK
venture, namely Qingyuan JDB Herbal Plant Technology ZEBENZEERNBEYRHER A
Co., Ltd. (“Qingyuan JDB Herbal”), with the carrying amount (MERMZBER]) WEZENLE A
of RMB1,209,099,000, including non-current receivables of B A ANRKA1,209,099,0007T © BIEIER
RMB331,858,000. In view of the ongoing arbitration with the joint E2)| FE Hﬂl A R #331,858,0007T ° ZE R

g%ﬁ%ﬁfg&’ venture partners of the Qingyuan JDB Herbal, the management HERINZEEANEEDERAFA

CHANGES IN of the Group has performed an impairment assessment on the NEgEsr BEBEEEERY E£

ZEPEQ . Group’s investment in Qingyuan JDB Herbal and considered EREENZES AR EETREDT

= that no impairment provision was necessary. it YREBEHTRERE -
‘| 66 CPMC Holdings Limited #ig &3 AR A




Basis for qualified opinion (continued)

We were not appointed as auditor of Qingyuan JDB Herbal.
The evidence available to us for the assessment of the
management’s impairment assessment was limited. We were
unable to obtain reliable historical financial information related
to Qingyuan JDB Herbal to evaluate the assumptions adopted
by the management in their impairment assessment. There are
no other satisfactory audit procedures that we could adopt to
obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence that we consider
necessary to assess whether the investment in Qingyuan JDB
Herbal was impaired. Any adjustments found to be necessary
for the impairment of the investment in the joint venture as at
31 December 2018 would have a consequential impact on the
Group’s net assets as at 31 December 2018 and the Group’s
profit for the year then ended.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. In addition to the matters described in
the Basis for qualified opinion section, we have determined
the matters described below to be the key audit matters to
be communicated in our report. For each matter below, our
description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in
that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the
basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated
financial statements.
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Key audit matters (continued)

HEELEE (H)

Key audit matter

BREZEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

FRBORBELRUNAEREARELEE

Gooadwill impairment

BEpIE

In accordance with Hong Kong Accounting Standard
36 Impairment of Assets, the Group is required to
annually test the amount of goodwill for impairment.
The net carrying amount of goodwill of approximately
RMB233,973,000 as of 31 December 2018 was
material to the consolidated financial statements.
In addition, management’s assessment on the
impairment was complex and highly judgemental and
was based on assumptions, specifically budgeted
gross margins and growth rates, which were affected
by expected future market or economic conditions.

RIEEE G ERFE0T [EERE] - EXEESF
FE%%A@%@@%E PEER2018F12A31B BB A

R#233,973,0007T 7 BRENFE LR & MBIk m = 1)
BEKX - itoh - EEEHRENGREFERAERAS R
=EFE - WAZRBRAEE - LHRBFEHRKS
ABEERRAT EZTBEEMNERLIERE -

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3 and 15
to the financial statements.

HEREHR R B B TS SRR T RE3 M2 15 »

Our audit procedures included, among others,
evaluating the assumptions and methodologies used
by the Group. We reviewed assumptions relating to
the budgeted gross margins and growth rates for
each cash-generating unit. We also focused on the
adequacy of the Group’s disclosures about those
assumptions to which the outcome of the impairment
test was most sensitive, that was, those that had the
most significant effect on the determination of the
recoverable amount of goodwill.

Kz EZIEFRIE (AP eR) i E5EM
ERORRETTE - ABMBESHZREELSM 2
%ES@C%%'JI&?‘ETE%EEWE”“ AEEEmEE &
B =L E LR ER S B Z AR M 5T
BEZ&% ﬁEﬁfﬁ”‘“)@iﬁﬁﬁmﬁﬁ—luﬁl@%%E%%*ﬁ‘ﬂ—f%
EAREE -
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Key audit matters (continued)
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HEELEE (H)

Key audit matter
BERERER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

FERBANBELR N ABRABREREE

Impairment of Trade Receivables

E SN

As at 31 December 2018, the balance of trade
receivables of the Group was RMB1,548,944,000,
which constituted a significant portion of total assets
as at 31 December 2018 and the Group was exposed
to credit risks thereof. The Group recognises an
allowance based on the expected credit loss (“ECL”)
approach under Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standard 9 Financial Instruments. The measurement
of the ECL requires the application of significant
judgement and estimates, such as the expected
future cash flows and forward-looking factors specific
to the debtors and the economic environment.

M2018F 128310 BEBEZESRUGEH A A
R #£1,548,944,0007C * 152018F12A31 BB E 2 1
Kb - B EEEEGHEEEERE - S£ERE
BB EREERFES [T HE | BT NBEHEEE
B ([FEREERE)) AHREE - BHEEBEZ
AEERERAE MG - FEARRBESREU R
BRAES AR T AIE R & MAOEIRE -

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3 and 20
to the financial statements.

HERE R BR B B TS SRR P RE3 82 20 ©

Our audit procedures included the assessment of the
design, implementation and operating effectiveness
of key internal controls which govern credit control,
debt collection and estimates of expected credit
losses.

AEZHBENEZEFEEFEREEERE - EFKR
KiEETTRREEER C BRASEN R - BitlE

YERRL ©

We also assessed the reasonableness of
management’s expected credit loss allowance by
examining the information used by management
to form such judgement and estimate, including
checking the accuracy of the historical default
information, evaluating whether the historical loss
rates are appropriately adjusted based on current
economic conditions and forward-looking information.

RIZBEDTREE AR E IR B A AT R AR RE 2 (5t 0 B
B (BRZEBTEENERNERE  FHABEERE
ERE B AEEAR M AT EE R BT AR ) KT
EEERMEEEREENSIENL -

We also reviewed the Group’s subsequent collection
of the trade receivables.

AZBETES BEEEBRKOEZEUGROIER o
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Other information included in the Annual Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact.

As described in the Basis for qualified opinion section above,
we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence that
we consider necessary to evaluate the impairment assessment
performed by the management on the Group’s investment in
the joint venture as at 31 December 2018. Accordingly, we
are unable to conclude whether or not the other information is
materially misstated with respect to this matter.

Responsibilities of the directors for the
consolidated financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit

Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

e FEvaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BB MRS

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (continued)

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

CPMC Holdings Limited g3 HIR AR
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Matters under sections 407(2)
and 407(3) of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance

In respect alone of the inability to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding an investment in a joint venture as
described in the Basis for qualified opinion section of our report
above:

e we were unable to determine whether adequate accounting
records had been kept; and

e we have not obtained all the information or explanations
that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, are necessary
and material for the purpose of the audit.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Wong Kwok Yin.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
26 March 2019
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
— =2 Year ended 31 December 2018
%é*ﬁﬁ% HE2018F12A318 IFFE

INDEPENDENT 2018 2017
PR Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
BUv RS Bfat AR®T T AREFTT
REVENUE WA 5 6,591,307 5,978,238
Cost of sales HER A 6 (5,621,212) (5,017,347)
Gross profit ESA 970,095 960,891
Other income and gains — net EMUA RS — F5E 5 53,402 49,633
Selling and marketing expenses HE R EIHER (310,937) (286,891)
AT Administrative expenses THER (276,446) (269,548)
N ETE Finance costs 7% E A 7 (90,366) (43,839)
EESPSRDF'T oR Share of loss of an associate ME—FREEZE ARG 18 _ (16)
FARHEE PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX R P {884 A0 RS 6 345,748 410,230
Income tax expense FriSHif > 10 (80,476) (98,358)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR £ BRI 265,272 311,872
Attributable to: FEf
Equity holders of the Company PIN/NGI =Y =N 255,061 310,511
Non-controlling interests JEPEAR RS 10,211 1,361
CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF 265,272 311,872
COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME EARNINGS PER SHARE NATREBERBEAR
FEERAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY BEAELERER
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY 12
Basic (RMB) BEAR (AR¥T) 0.22 0.26
Diluted (RMB) g (ARBT) 0.22 0.26
CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL
POSITION
FEMBRAE
CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN
EQUITY
BARNEDE
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

Year ended 31 December 2018
HZE20185F12A31BILFE

mEEEWAR

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARETT
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FERE 265,272 311,872
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME Hi2®E (BE), WA
Other comprehensive (loss)/income that may RERHEEFHES
be reclassified to profit or loss in BasHMEE
subsequent periods: (E18) /WA -
Exchange differences on translation of BREBIEBRZELER
foreign operations (203,762) 155,027
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME FEHMBZE (HB), WA
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (B HBrHIE) (203,762) 155,027
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR FERERALE
THE YEAR 61,510 466,899
Attributable to: FEIG
Equity holders of the Company RARBAIFEA 51,299 465,538
Non-controlling interests IR S 10,211 1,361
61,510 466,899
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2018 2017
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HiaF AR®T T AREFTT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB NEE 13 4,908,017 4,696,016
Prepaid land lease payments JEM A E R 14 300,806 308,335
Deposits for purchase of items of EEWME - BEX
property, plant and equipment BAETEE IR E 88,820 61,712
Prepayments TERTFR 21 17,699 26,469
Goodwill Bk 15 233,973 233,973
Other intangible assets Hihmp g s 16 28,954 31,360
Investment in a joint venture WER—REERE 17 1,209,099 799,065
Investment in an associate WENRN—FREZE AT 18 24,984 24,984
Deferred tax assets FIEFRTBE B 27 23,600 21,731
Total non-current assets BIERENEE 6,835,952 6,203,645
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE 19 1,154,721 1,148,890
Trade and bills receivables B HEWMT L EWNEZE 20 1,692,347 1,630,793
Prepayments, other receivables and  J8{F3k  Efib fE U3k
other assets REMEE 21 347,091 483,596
Pledged deposits [REEEEEEN 22 51,696 72,411
Cash and cash equivalents e RIBESZEEY 22 893,877 711,179
Total current assets BRENEE 4,139,732 4,046,869
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAEE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings ETRIRTTER 26 2,142,232 961,297
Trade and bills payables B ENTLIENEZE 23 1,195,705 1,249,039
Other payables and accruals HipEA R R FEETIEE 24 390,673 403,342
Tax payable FEATHIE 26,597 26,353
Total current liabilities BREPaRE 3,755,207 2,640,031
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEETH 384,525 1,406,838
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT HEERRBEE
LIABILITIES 7,220,477 7,610,483
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2018 5 AH b Q)
R20185F12A31H mE BN R
2018 2017 INDEPENDENT
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000 i
izt ARET T ARETIT BIGHMRE
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT HEERRBEE
LIABILITIES 7,220,477 7,610,483
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBAE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings STEIRITER 26 1,950,954 2,286,970
Deferred tax liabilities EEHIBEE 27 17,607 17,778
Government grants IEdiSRE 3,328 13,643
Total non-current liabilities BIETBIAE 1,971,889 2,318,391 CONSOLIDATED
Net assets FEE 5,248,588 5,292,092 OFS ;gI)EF'YlTEng{
EQUITY XS i?é%g}sis
Equity attributable to equity AABREFFA
holders of the Company (LR
Share capital A& 7N 28 2,730,433 2,730,433
Reserves i 29 2,166,604 2,245107
4,897,037 4,975,540
Non-controlling interests IR ER 351,551 316,552
Total equity g 5,248,588 5,292,092 CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME
RAEZEARAR
CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL
POSITION
ZHANG XIN ZHANG YE REMBRRR
RET TR
Director Director
EF EF

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
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EQUITY
GARGEEDR

Annual Report 2018 20184 4 [E i 177




Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
é N2
— e o Yéar ended 31 December 2018
IV NNy == ﬁ HBZE2018F12A31ALFE
INDEPENDENT Attributable to equity holders of the Company
AUDITOR'S ADFAREHEAEL
gﬁgj;& R Share-based Exchange No-
WYL & Share payment Capital Stafutory ~ fluctuation Retained controling Total
capital reserve 1eserves feserve feserve profits Total interests equity
WA B ‘ ‘ .
TR WXARE  BABE ARG ENRBRE  BEAE aif FHERER s
Notes RMB(00O RMBOOO ~ RMBOOO ~ RWMB0OOO  RWMBOOO  RMBOOO RMBOOO ~ RMBOO0O  RMBO00O
WE ARETn ARBTR ARETR ARBTR ARETT ARETn ARETR  ARETR ARBTR
Asat 1 January 2017 R2OTEIATR 2,730,433 19502 265,156 345206" (302062 1662507 4710852 120364 4831216
Profit for the year FENE - - - - - 305t 31051 1361 311872
Other comprehensive EEERRENA
income for the year:
g%{\‘TSEE\)ALElmTED Exchange differences on BEBINERR,
OF PROFIT OR translaton of foreign BREE
LOSS operations - - - - 15027 - 155027 - 155027
BABHER Total comprehensive income  FE2ERAEE
for the year - - - - 195,027 310511 465,538 1,361 466,899
Acquisition of subsidiaries LN 3 - - - - - - - 129605 12960
Capital contribution from FHERBERHERRA
non-controlling shareholders - - - - - - - 65,222 65,222
2016 final dividend declared  BER016F KRS - - - - - (117456)  (117,456) - (117.456)
Transfer of share-ased payment B Uet e
feserve Upon the forfeiture or BHRAE
expiry of share options MR AEE - (812) - - - 812 - - -
e 2017 nterim dvidend 0rFRERS 1 - - - - - (3 - (M
- AR
COMPREHENSIVE Appropriation to the statutory  AREEFEE
INCOME reserve - - - 36,129 - (36,129) - - -
FEEERAE As at 31 December 2017 R2017812A318 2,730,433 18780 265,156° 381355 (147,085 17368517 4975540 316962 5,292,092
Attributable o equity holders of the Company
ALARREEAEL
Share-based Exchange Non-
Share  payment Capital ~ Statutory ~ fluctuation ~ Retained controlling Total
capital feserve  reserves reserve reserve profits Total interests equity
N AL
CONSOLIDATED RE Wi EARE  LCRE EXRDRE  SEAR &t ERER s
STATEMENT Notes RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
OF FINANCIAL W#E ARETR  ARETn ARETn ARBTn  ARMTR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
POSITION Asat 1 January 2018 RN1BE1A1A 2730433 18780 285156 G135 (W7005' 1736851 497550 3165R2 520209
RRABRAR Proftfo he year for the year: B - - - - - 06 2061 10201 2652m
Other comprehensive loss FEANEEER:
for the year:
Exchange differences on HERNEBEL
iranslation of foreign EiZE
operations - - - - (203,762) - (203,762) - (203762)
Total comprehensive income/ ~ £E2ERA/
(loss)for the year (BE) 22 - - - - (203762) 255061 51,209 10,211 61,510
CONSOLIDATED Acquisition of non-controlling B 3EIRRER
STATEMENT OF interests - - a - - - a (10810)  (10,783)
CHANGES IN Capital contribution from FERREREREA
Al nan-cantroling sherenolders - - 12203 - - - 12293 35508 47891
GERERBR 2017 final dividend declared  BER017ERERE 11 - - - - - (1648 (11649) - (169
2018 interim dividend NIGERERS 1 - - - - - (04m) (1047 - (104m)
Appropriation to the statutory ~ AREEFEE
reserve - - - 65,476 - (65,476) - - -
AsaldlDecember 2018 H2018F12R31 2043 TR0 64 MBS (B070T) 17434 4000 351550 548508

* REFEGRABRE S B EETR
HEFBARK2 166,604,0005T (2017
iF: AR#2245,107,0007T) °

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of
RMB2,166,604,000 (2017: RMB2,245,107,000) in the consolidated
statement of financial position.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Year ended 31 December 2018
HZE2018F12A31HIEFE

SEETRER

2018 2017
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
s+ ARET T ARETIT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETHEEZRERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before income tax BRET1S T AT AE 345,748 410,230
Adjustments for: FEE
Finance costs MSER 7 90,366 43,839
Share of loss of an associate PME—RBEAFEE 18 - 16
Interest income FEUA 5 (12,274) (13,243)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of HEWE - BE R
property, plant and equipment ZiEIER
E1E () 5 1,901 (11,939)
Depreciation e 6 296,353 263,570
Amortisation of prepaid land lease TES £ 0 70 & T 5N
payments 6 7,618 7,660
Amortisation of other intangible assets H b L 6 4,802 4,353
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) Z S UG - TERFR
of trade receivables, prepayments MEMEERE
and other assets /CRifE#E) 6 507 (105)
Reversal of provision against inventories BEHFERE 6 - (2,402)
Amortisation of government grants R T 478 B 4 8 (8,158) (10,854)
Foreign exchange differences, net [E 5 183 58 5 (8,562) 11,339
718,301 702,464
Increase in inventories FEEMN (290,282) (318,402)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and bills =l e 9
receivables FEMERR (3E)
ye: 2 (62,067) 35,384
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, B - BRI
other receivables and other assets HEmBEERLD
/(38 ) 108,835 (58,142)
Decrease/(increase) in pledged deposits B #EIFEZZR L
L (3Ean) 2,653 (30,784)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and bills B SEMT K
payables ENEE Cid)
ey (53,334) 351,880
Decrease in other payables HMEAR R
and accruals FERT SR (34,800) (21,827)
Cash generated from operations REEE 7RSS 389,306 660,573
Interest paid 2R (90,366) (43,839)
Mainland China tax paid BT R B AR IR (82,272) (92,721)
Net cash flows from operating activities EESEBIELE Y
e meEFE 216,668 524,013
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

= = Year ended 31 December 2018
GEHEREX °
HZE2018F 128310 IEFE

2018 2017
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HiaF ARBT T AREF T

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETHEECHERE

ACTIVITIES
Interest received B UF B, 5 12,274 13,243
Increase in prepayments, other FARTR - EAth R R

receivables and other assets HAab & ER N (28,382) (51,284)
Purchases of items of property, plant BEBEYE  BEX

and equipment =B E (486,043) (747,275)
(Increase)/decrease in deposits for BEWE  WERX

purchase of items of property, plant REEAMNES

and equipment (#&hn),E (27,108) 77,308
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEWE - BER

property, plant and equipment RAEIA B TS 3RIA 2,567 22,062
Addition to prepaid land lease payments ~ SFEFEF THIFAER 14 - (2,840)
Additions to other intangible assets HEfthiER &N 16 (2,396) (2,995)
Receipt of government grants for mE - WEK

property, plant and equipment A B BT i B - 11,930
Acquisition of subsidiaries BAKB AR 31 (36,150) (72,449)
Investment in an associate AR E QA 18 - (25,000)
Investment in a joint venture RE—REEDRHE 17 (78,176) (799,065)
Entrusted loan to an associate M—XKEEAFZ

ZEER 21 - (54,000)

Repayment of an entrusted loan to W [8] [A) — SR B & N )

an associate 2EIIET 21 54,000 -
Net cash flows used in investing REESFAZ

activities REREFE (589,414)  (1,630,365)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METBHEEZRERE

ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of a non-controlling interest WA IR AR 21 (44) (10,739)
New bank loans IRTTER 1,652,186 2,274,756
Repayment of bank loans EBIRITER (984,463)  (1,279,764)
Dividends paid EAIIRE (142,122) (200,850)
Capital contribution from IR ER R ERIRA

non-controlling interests 47,891 65,222
Net cash flows from financing activities MEETHELEZ

W EmEFE 573,448 848,625

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH BERBESEEY

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS #in, CRd) B8 200,702 (257,727)
Cash and cash equivalents at FHeMREEEY

beginning of year 711,179 998,083
Effect of foreign exchange rate MR BB TR

changes, net (18,004) (29,177)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRASREESEEY

AT END OF YEAR 893,877 711,179
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH BHERBESEEY

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RO
Cash and bank balances R& NIRTTLES 22 92,537 440,818
Deposits in COFCO Finance AR AR B 75 2 T3 3K 22 801,340 270,361
Cash and cash equivalents as stated REMBRRER

in the consolidated statement of FEBRE BRI

financial position and the R RReEEY

consolidated statement of cash flows 893,877 711,179
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Notes to Financial Statements

31 December 2018 E ——
2018F12A31H  Jy N |:|:E

Corporate and Group Information

CPMC Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a limited
liability company incorporated in Hong Kong. On 16
November 2009, the Company listed its shares on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The registered office of the Company
is located at 33/F, COFCO Tower, 262 Gloucester Road,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”) are principally engaged in the manufacture of
packaging products, including beverage cans, food cans,
aerosol cans, metal caps, printed and coated tinplates,
steel barrels, round and square shaped cans and plastic
packaging in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC” or
“Mainland China”).

As at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2018,
() COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited (*“COFCO (Hong

RAREEER

FREREERERERAR ([RAAF])
EREBSFMRLHEREL
RN A AN A1) 720094 11
B16HEBBH AR ZMBR A A
([B22Fr]) ERET - AARZ5E
At BB B RFEES TITE
2625RH1E K[E33%E o

AR —FKEEERRTA - AR
ARENBAR (BBIAEE]D
TREPEARKNE ([HEH] %
[FEA]) CEREBRKER
BREAKE RniE RF#E
BE - H2E - W HERERE

Ba% -

F20174F 128318 %2018 127
318 - ()FREE(FE) BARAF
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FIVE-YEAR
Kong)”) beneficially held approximately 28.15% of the ([FE(EE)]) BEafFBARRAL FINANCIAL
issued shares of the Company, being the single largest 28.15% 2 B BTN + BARAIZ ﬁ%’;{"ﬁ’;{'&g
il z=

shareholder of the Company; and (i) & EERHAE
[R27 (ORG Technology Co. Ltd.*) (formerly known as
“ORG Packaging Co.,Ltd”) (“ORG Technology”) beneficially
held approximately 22.93% of the issued shares of the
Company, being the second largest shareholder of the
Company. COFCO (Hong Kong) is a company incorporated
in Hong Kong and ultimately held by COFCO Corporation
("COFCQ”), a state-owned enterprise registered in the PRC.
ORG Technology is a company established in the PRC and
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange.

*

For identification purposes only

RRE—RER: R(i)BiHe R
MABERAR ([ RIse B - pifE
(RiIneBEENERAR]) B
HAARRAIN22.93% 2 B BITKR
- REARRZE KRR - dig
FERRERBEMAL 2 AT - I
HPEREEEARAR(HE])) &K
FE - -FPRARTEEAMZERD
¥ - Rine R AEPEEMKL
ERFEHZ M LT 2R
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Notes to Financial Statements
Eﬂﬁﬁ% Bﬁ.%I 31 December 2018

2018512 H31H

1. Corporate And Group Information (continued) 1. ARIREEER (&)
Information about subsidiaries M@ A &R
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as ARBMNEERBARIMFBEN
follows: ™
Percentage
of equity
attributable
Place of to the Company
registration Registered ~ RAFEREE AL Principal
Name and business share capital Direct  Indirect activities
£ AR EEH BN E# i TEER
Hangzhou COFCO-MC Packaging PRC/ Mainland China US$30,050,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal
Co, Ltd.* RE/REAM 30,050,000% 7T packaging
T EER RS ARA R tEOREE
Guangzhou Panyu MCP PRC/ Mainland China US$30,290,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal
Industries Ltd.* 8/ RE R 30,290,000 7 and plastic
ENEEERREERAF packaging
cENZBARLE
Wuxi Huapeng Closures Co., Ltd.”*  PRC/ Mainland China US$25,000,000 - 61.48  Manufacture of metal
ERERREERAR B/ hE R 25,000,000% 7T packaging
TEAREE
Hangzhou CPMC Co., Ltd.* PRC/Mainland China US$64,500,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal
mMNREaEERAR) B/ rE R 64,500,000 7T packaging
TERREE
Tianjin CPMC Co., Ltd.* PRC/Mainland China US$50,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal
RefRagERAR) B/ hE R 50,000,000% 7T packaging
CERREE
CPMC (Chengdu) Co., Ltd. * PRC Mainland China US$40,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal
RiERE (RE) ERAF)N HE/ RER 40,000,000 7T packaging
TEAREE
Zhangjiagang CPMC Co,, Ltd. *** PRC/Mainland China RMB17,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal
RRERREEGRAT B/ hE R AEH#17,000,0007 packaging
TEOREE
CPMC (Wuhan) Co., Ltd. * PRC/Mainland China US$30,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal
miEaE (RE) ARLAR" 8/ RE R 30,000,000 7 packaging
TEAREE
Hangzhou CPMC Canmaking PRC/Mainland China US$39,750,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal
Co., Ltd.* HE/ E R 39,750,000 T packaging
MM RRERRR TERREE

CPMC Holdings Limited g a8 BR AT



Corporate and Group Information (continued) 1.

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2018 Eﬂﬁiﬁiﬁﬁi

2018412 H31H

RAREEER (&)

MELRER (F)
ARRMEIZMERRMFIEN

follows: (continued) T ()
Percentage
of equity
attributable
Place of to the Company
registration Registered ~ AQARf{ERER 2 Principal
Name and business share capital Direct  Indirect activities
£ R ek EEE E# B TEER
Shanghai Pinguan Plastic Industry PRC/Mainland China US$3,800,000 - 100 Manufacture of plastic
Co., Ltd.** e/ HER 3,800,000%7T packaging
HEaEEBI£ERAA BRREEE
CPMC (Kunshan) Co., Ltd.* PRC/Mainland China US$24,200,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal
FiERE (BIL) ERAA HE /R ER 24,200,000% 7 packaging
CRERAE
CPMC (Zhenjiang) Co., Ltd.* PRC/Mainland China US$17,750,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal
RIERE (B1) RN HE /R ER 17,750,00057C packaging
CRERAE
Guangzhou CPMC Canmaking PRC/Mainland China US$60,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal
Co., Ltd. * HE /R EN 60,000,000% 7T packaging
EMPRREERAR PRERAE
Sino-Asia Package (Tianjin) PRC/Mainland China US$10,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of plastic
Co., Ltd. ™ HE /R ENH 10,000,000 7T packaging
RoAk (K2) BRAR PRRREE
Sino-Asia Plastic Package PRC/Mainland China US$7,200,000 - 100 Manufacture of plastic
(Zhongshan) Co., Ltd.** FE /R E R 7,200,000 7T packaging
RIRTERBEBRAR BRERAE
Victoria Package (Suzhou) PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of plastic
Co., Ltd.*** hE /HE R AR#100,000,0007T packaging
BEMgEaRBRAR ™ BRERAEE
Weigang Packaging (Tianjin) PRC/Mainland China US$10,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of plastic
Co., Ltd.** HE/RER 10,000,000% T packaging
BERK (R2) BRRA" ERaREE
CPMC (Tianjin) Barrel Co., Ltd.* PRC/Mainland China US$20,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal
Rt RERERAR B/ E R 20,000,000 7T packaging
CEEREE
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Notes to Financial Statements

B 4= 31 December 2018

R s = Y 20184128314
CONSOLIDATED 1. Corporate and Group Information (continued) 1. REIREBEER (&)
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

MELRER (&)
ARAWMEIEZMEBARMNFBD

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

FEREMER . o P Aiari
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (continued) T ()
Percentage
of equity
attributable
Place of to the Company
NOTES TO registration Registered ~ AARM{EREE AL Principal
FINANCIAL Name and business share capital Direct  Indirect activities
e £ ERREE LY BEMBA B EE IEEE
Nanning CPMC Canmaking PRC/Mainland China US$30,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal
Co., Ltd.** RE/REAM 30,000,000% 7T packaging
HEPEREARAA CEARAEE
CPMC Investment Co., Ltd.* PRC/Mainland China US$404,090,000 - 100 Investment holding
(“CPMC Investment” ) 8/ RE R 404,090,000%7C REER
PEAKREBRAR
FIVE-YEAR (ThERERE])
FINANCIAL
SUMMARY . . . ,
REBEES CPMC (Guangzhou) Plastic PRC/Mainland China US$10,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of plastic
Package Co., Ltd.* HE /R ER 10,000,000 T packaging
i (BN ZRERERAR ERaREE
FC Packaging (Harbin) Limited™ PRC/Mainland China RMB80,800,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal
("FC Packaging (Harbin)”) 8/ RE R AR #80,800,0007T packaging
XERR (BE) FRAA TERREE
(IkERSE (REE)])
Fujian FC Packaging Limited* PRC/Mainland China US$3,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal
BRRKEETRBRA HE/ E R 3,000,000%7 packaging
TEAREE
CPMC (Guangzhou) Barrel Co., Ltd.*  PRC/Mainland China US$8,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal
BENRRERERAR) FE/ hE R 8,000,000%7 packaging
TEAREE
Weigang Packaging (Sugian) PRC/Mainland China US$6,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of plastic
Co., Ltd.™ B/ RE R 6,000,000 7T packaging
BERERRRERLA BRRRAE
Suzhou CPMC Co,, Ltd.” PRC/Mainland China US$5,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal
RiEaE (HMN) ARA HE/ RER 5,000,000%7T packaging
TEAREE
Xiamen CPMC Co., Ltd. ** PRC/Mainland China RMB12,000,000 - 60  Manufacture of metal
hEaE (BF) ERAF HE/ RER ARH12,000,0007C packaging
TEAREE
184 CPMC Holdings Limited #1#g @ 2= AR A 7




Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2018 Eji%*&%lzﬁﬂ

2018412 H31H

The English names of all the above companies are direct

transliterations of their Chinese registered names.

The statutory financial statements of the above subsidiaries
are not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another

member firm of the Ernst & Young global network.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion
of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in

particulars of excessive length.

Corporate and Group Information (continued) 1. RARIREEER (&)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) MEARER (&)
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as ARFMNEEMRBARMFBEN
follows: (continued) T ()
Percentage
of equity
attributable
Place of to the Company
registration Registered ~ AARf{GIREB DL Principal
Name and business share capital Direct  Indirect activities
£ ERU ek EEEE E# M FEER
Fujian CPMC Canmaking PRC/Mainland China US$20,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal
Co., Ltd.* HRE/RERM 20,000,000 7T packaging
RRTEREARAR CEEREE
Harvest Epoch Packaging PRC/Mainland China US$60,000,000 - 54.7  Manufacture of metal
Co., Ltd.* B/ hE R 60,000,000 70 packaging
L ERERRAR™ CEEREE
Chengdu CPMC Canmaking PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal
Co., Ltd* B/ E R AEH50,000,0007 packaging
BT RHEER AR CEREEE
CPMC (Jiaxing) Barrel PRC/Mainland China US$10,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal
Co., Ltd.* RE/ rE N 10,000,000% 7 packaging
RETBRBARAR" CEEREE
CPMC (Weifang) Barrel PRC/Mainland China RMB42,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal
Co., Ltd.** B/ E R AE#42,000,0007 packaging
EHHRRBARAR CEEREE
* Wholly-foreign-owned enterprises * HNEEEDE
“*  Sino-foreign equity joint ventures > N EE RS
“**  Domestic-funded enterprises o RERE

ERFABERRIMEX BB ERX
AR EHERFE -

Y A R AR TE M IS IR AR
MEBLKEREIEBAT - &K
SR EBAERBEANS —H
KB RRIERZ -

ERBINEZR/IEFELAFE
EENBRAREAI D FEEN
ARFIMBAR - BEERR - ZH
HibBARMFIETEERELE -
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Notes to Financial Statements
Eﬂi‘%iﬁi’%ﬁﬁf 31 December 2018

2018512 H31H

CONSOLIDATED 2.1 Basis of Preparation 2.1 AR
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS These financial statements have been prepared in ZEUBEHREDIBRIBEEESFA

GARERER

NOTES TO
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
BHRRME

accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong
and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have
been prepared under the historical cost convention, except
for derivative financial instruments and financial assets at
fair value through other comprehensive income which have
been measured at fair value. These financial statements are
presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values are rounded
to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Going concern basis

These financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis. In preparing these financial statements,
the directors have given careful consideration to the
current and anticipated future liquidity of the Group. Taking
into account, inter alia, (i) the expected net cash inflows

(BRG] B zE
BHBHREER ([FEM KRS
ERH) > BREEMFEVHREE
- EA ST £ ([BASFE
Al]) RBEB AR EARHME
BRAMED - BOTES R T A KRR
RNFEFAEBEARENSRE
ENRFEFEN - BBHRER IR
BELAANEN RREEE - ZFH
BRERBUAARE TARE]) 7
B AB=BHAIN - AAEEEN
TEREREANT -

FEQEEE

PBRRDIBRFBELEEERE -
RREMBHRERE  EERLERE
ERAKERA LB RKRESR
B BEr Rk (R ER) (1A REx
BEERARAKR+ —EAELEN

FIVE-YEAR

FINANCIAL generated from the Group’s operations for the next twelve REMAFRE (VA EEKRERE

%UEME’?%F;E}H months; (i) the expected net cash outflows used in the TEHE AR REEE 5 (IR
~ =

186

Group’s investment plan; (iii) the unutilised loan facilities at
the end of the reporting period; (iv) the anticipated result
of an arbitration as further detailed in note 17 of these
financial statements; and (v) the modified audit opinion
expressed by the Company’s auditor in these financial
statements; the directors are of the opinion that the Group
will be able to meet its liabilities as and when they fall due.
Accordingly, the directors consider that the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis is appropriate.

Should the Group be unable to operate as a going
concern, adjustments would have to be made to write
down the value of assets to their recoverable amounts, and
to provide for any further liabilities which might arise. The
effect of these adjustments has not been reflected in these
financial statements.

CPMC Holdings Limited frigf &2 ii AR AT

SHRN R AEFRBERE ; (iv)fF
HAE AR E—FFBHENY
BmAMEET7 + R(v)A R B B
R BHRRARANEEFTRE
R BEERRAKEAEIMNE
HaE - At EEZR/UBER
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HE - UREEBEMBAERATK
B &8 - I Bt AJ BE 2 AR A (T )3 —
SREFELEE - HRARBNTE
W BN EHRER A R -



2.1 Basis of Preparation (continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended
31 December 2018. A subsidiary is an entity (including a
structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2018 Eﬁ%iﬁ?ﬁ Bﬁ.-ExI

2018412 H31H

21 REEE ()

HEE%E
RAMBRRBEART REKE
NAEl(FEIARERE]) #H=2018%F
12A31A L FEMM B RE - BB
NABRNABEESEEEH 2 E
B (BEEBUEER) - EXKEY
2 EH A N B E T B [0 K
ERB = A EN RS IBY
wERRZEHD (MBEMEFASE
Ege DA EEWIRE A RIS
ZHEBES) ¥EZSORE - A
B 1545 Il -

BEANFEEXEEAARRER
AILREZ BB ELREEF - K
SERNFEERTHRIE QA
BEREYREEEMAEBRELE
o Hp etk

(a) BEBIRERAHEMITERES
BARARIRYE

(b) REMEOTHELHNER
K&
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Notes to Financial Statements
Eji‘%i&%‘:zlgﬁ% 31 December 2018

2018512 H31H

2.1 Basis of Preparation (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
described above. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
(i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the
subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling
interest and (iii) the cumulative translation differences
recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the
consideration received, (ii) the fair value of any investment
retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit
or loss. The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified
to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the
same basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and
Disclosures

The Group has adopted the following new and revised
HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial

statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement
of Share-based Payment
Transactions

Amendments to HKFRS 4 Applying HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments with HKFRS 4
Insurance Contracts

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with

Customers
Amendments to HKFRS 15 Clarifications to HKFRS 15
Revenue from Contracts
with Customers
Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfers of Investment
Property

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22 Foreign Currency
Transactions and Advance
Consideration
Annual Improvements Amendments to HKFRS 1 and
2014-2016 Cycle HKAS 28

CPMC Holdings Limited frigf &2 ii AR AT

2.1

2.2
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2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and
Disclosures (continued)

Except for the amendments to HKFRS 4 and Annual
Improvements 2014-2016 Cycle, which are not relevant
to the preparation of the Group’s financial statements, the
nature and the impact of the new and revised HKFRSs are
described below:

(a)

Amendments to HKFRS 2 address three main areas:
the effects of vesting conditions on the measurement
of a cash-settled share-based payment transaction;
the classification of a share-based payment
transaction with net settlement features for withholding
a certain amount in order to meet an employee’s
tax obligation associated with the share-based
payment; and accounting where a modification to
the terms and conditions of a share-based payment
transaction changes its classification from cash-settled
to equity-settled. The amendments clarify that the
approach used to account for vesting conditions
when measuring equity-settled share-based payments
also applies to cash-settled share-based payments.
The amendments introduce an exception so that
a share-based payment transaction with net share
settlement features for withholding a certain amount
in order to meet the employee’s tax obligation
is classified in its entirety as an equity-settled
share-based payment transaction when certain
conditions are met. Furthermore, the amendments
clarify that if the terms and conditions of a cash-settled
share-based payment transaction are modified,
with the result that it becomes an equity-settled
share-based payment transaction, the transaction is
accounted for as an equity-settled transaction from the
date of the modification. The amendments have had
no impact on the financial position or performance
of the Group as the Group does not have any
cash-settled share-based payment transactions and
has no share-based payment transactions with net
settlement features for withholding tax.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments replaces HKAS 39
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2018, bringing together all three aspects of the
accounting for financial instruments: classification and
measurement, impairment and hedge accounting.

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 with the initial
application date of 1 January 2018. Therefore,
the comparative information was not restated and
continues to be reported under HKAS 39.

Notes to Financial Statements
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Notes to Financial Statements
Eji‘%i&%% Bﬁ.%I 31 December 2018

2018512 H31H

22 ERfERRKE 228 (&)

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures

CONSOLIDATED ;

STATEMENT OF (continued)

CASH FLOWS

FRASRER (b) (continued) (b) ()

Classification and measurement

The following information sets out the impacts of
adopting HKFRS 9 on the classification of financial
assets and liabilities in the statement of financial
position.

PRI E
LA T AR 51 5 4R B P B R
& A HOSK 81 81 MR X W
SHAERBBEHROTE -

L‘,?,TAENSJEL A reconciliation between the carrying amounts under HNo018FE1A1H » Bieeite
STATEMENTS HKAS 39 and the balances reported under HKFRS 9 B30 A N EFEELEES
LER LG as at 1 January 2018 is as follows: B S SR B EOSEIH | AT 2
BROEHERAT ¢
Original measurement New measurement Carrying
category under HKAS 39 category under HKFRS 9 amount
BREMENRGHATHRRGEEN  EEMHREENEGE T RIS HEfE
RMB’000
ARBTR
FIVE-YEAR Trade receivables Loans and receivables Financial assets at amortised cost 1,516,765
v SR EAREKEE RESATIENARAE
AENBHE Financial assets at fair value through other
Bills receivables® Loans and receivables comprehensive income 114,028
[ES o ERREEE BATEARMEERENERER
Financial assets included in prepayments,
other receivables and other assets Loans and receivables Financial assets at amortised cost 124,401
RN EHEKRRAREENSRAE  HFREWGE REHIATIRNEREE
Pledged deposits Loans and receivables Financial assets at amortised cost 72411
BEMEN B3 RENTE REHATIRN AR
Cash and cash equivalents Loans and receivables Financial assets at amortised cost i
ReRFLEEN ST RENTE REHIATIRNEHEE
Trade and bills payables Financial liabilties at amortised cost Financial liabiltties at amortised cost 1249039
EARATRENTE REBIATIRNERERE REERATIRNSRAR
Financial liabilities included in
other payables and accruals Financial liabilities at amortised cost Financial liabilities at amortised cost 219,294
SHARMERTREERNERERE REERATENERAR REHIATIRN SRR
Interest-bearing bank and and other borrowings Financial liabilities at amortised cost Financial liabiliies at amortised cost 3,248,267
HERARAMER REFATENERAR REHRIIIRNERAR

Y REEEEENERAFEEAR
FF B ZMEW IR E IR & A1
H B LR E BT 5 BT IE
BOER o B ZHERFER
RN E BT & ER BN &R
BB RE N FEFGAR M EK

The Group’s bills receivables are managed with a
business model under which bills receivables are
held to collect contractual cash flows or endorsed to
suppliers prior to their expiry date. Accordingly, these
bills receivables are reclassified as financial assets at
fair value through other comprehensive income upon
adoption of HKFRS 9.

AEECHEERBBEREBMBER
HEBFEFETNERAERFS SR
2018F 1 A1ARE B LERIE 395718
THRBEEEEMRS -

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and
liabilities under HKFRS 9 are equal to their respective original
carrying amounts under HKAS 39 as at 1 January 2018.

CPMC Holdings Limited g3 HIR AR
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2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures
(continued)

(b)

(continued)

Impairment

The Group has remeasured the impairment allowances
of financial assets as at 1 January 2018 using the
expected credit losses (“ECLs”) under HKFRS 9,
which is approximate to the impairment allowances
under HKAS 39. Accordingly, no transition adjustment
to the financial assets and equity at 1 January 2018
was recognised.

HKFRS 15 and its amendments replace HKAS 11
Construction Contracts, HKAS 18 Revenue and related
interpretations and it applies, with limited exceptions,
to all revenue arising from contracts with customers.
HKFRS 15 establishes a new five-step model to
account for revenue arising from contracts with
customers. Under HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which
an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for
transferring goods or services to a customer. The
principles in HKFRS 15 provide a more structured
approach for measuring and recognising revenue.
The standard also introduces extensive qualitative
and quantitative disclosure requirements, including
disaggregation of total revenue, information about
performance obligations, changes in contract asset
and liability account balances between periods and
key judgements and estimates. The disclosures are
included in note 5 to the financial statements. As
a result of the application of HKFRS 15, the Group
has changed the accounting policy with respect
to revenue recognition in note 2.4 to the financial
statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B RS R BT RE

31 December 2018
2018 12A31H

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and
Disclosures (continued)

(c)

(continued)

The Group has adopted HKFRS 15 using the modified
retrospective method of adoption. Under this method,
the standard can be applied either to all contracts
at the date of initial application or only to contracts
that are not completed at this date. The Group has
elected to apply the standard to contracts that are not
completed as at 1 January 2018.

There is no effect of the initial application HKFRS 15 to
the opening balance of retained profits as at 1 January
2018. Therefore, the comparative was not restated
and continued to be reported under HKAS 11, HKAS
18 and related interpretations.

The adoption of HKFRS 15 has had no impact on the
Group’s financial position, the Group’s profit or loss
and other comprehensive income or on the Group’s
operating, investing and financing cash flows.
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Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2018 Eji%*&%%lzﬂ.%}

2018412 H31H

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and 22 S BERRREZ2E (&) CONSOLIDATED
Disclosures (continued) STATEMENT OF
(c) (continued) (c) (#&) T

Set out below are the amounts by which each line item T & # 5 R2018F12H31H
was affected as at 31 December 2018 as a result of ERAN BB B mEERIE15
the adoption of HKFRS 15. FMEXFTENEEEN®
']
Amounts prepared under
BRETIEAGRRNEE NOTES TO
Previous  Increase/ VI
HKFRS 15 HKFRS (decrease) RBRRHE

BRMBRE TATBUME #m,
Q165  WEER (R2)
Notes ~ RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000
iz AR®BTR AR®TR ARETR

Other payables and accruals HftENFR Kk ESHEE

Refund liabilities RIBE (i) 5,955 - 5,955

Accrued expenses FEzTE A (i) - 5,955 (5,955)

Contract liabilities AKA (i) 48,365 - 48365 A

Advances from customers BEER (i) - 48,365 (48,365) SUMMARY
LERBHE
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Notes to Financial Statements
Eﬂi‘%i&%ﬁﬁ%} 31 December 2018

2018512 H31H

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and
Disclosures (continued)

(c) (continued)
The nature of the adjustments as at 1 January 2018
and the reasons for the changes in the note of other
payables and accruals as at 31 December 2018 are
described below:

(i) Sale of industrial products with variable
consideration

Some contracts for the sale of industrial products
provide customers with volume rebates. Before
adopting HKFRS 15, the Group recognised
revenue from the sale of goods measured at
the fair value of the consideration received or
receivable, net of volume rebates. If revenue
could not be reliably measured, the Group
deferred the recognition of revenue until the
uncertainty was resolved. Under HKFRS 15,
volume rebates give rise to variable consideration
which is determined using the expected value
method or the most likely amount method.

CPMC Holdings Limited g3 HIR AR
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2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and
Disclosures (continued)

(c) (continued)

(i)

Sale of industrial products with variable
consideration (continued)

Volume rebates

Before the adoption of HKFRS 15, the Group
estimated the expected volume rebates using the
probability-weighted average amount of rebates
approach and included an allowance for rebates
in other payables and accruals.

Upon the adoption of HKFRS 15, the Group has
applied either the most likely amount method or
the expected value method for the estimation of
the variable consideration for expected volume
rebates which are recorded as refund liabilities
included in other payables and accruals in the
statement of financial position.

As at 31 December 2018, the adoption of HKFRS
15 resulted in an increase in refund liabilities
included in other payables and accruals of
RMB5,955,000 and a decrease in accrued
expenses included in other payables and
accruals of RMB5,955,000.

Notes to Financial Statements
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Notes to Financial Statements

B RS R BT RE

31 December 2018
2018 12A31H

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and
Disclosures (continued)

(c)

(d)

(continued)

(ii)

Consideration received from customers in
advance

Before the adoption of HKFRS 15, the Group
recognised consideration received from
customers in advance as other payables. Under
HKFRS 15, the amount is classified as contract
liabilities which is included in other payables and
accruals.

Therefore, upon adoption of HKFRS 15, the Group
reclassified RMB56,241,000 from advances
from customers included in other payables and
accruals to contract liabilities included in other
payables and accruals as at 1 January 2018
in relation to the consideration received from
customers in advance as at 1 January 2018.

As at 31 December 2018, under HKFRS 15,
RMB48,365,000 was reclassified from advances
from customers included in other payables
and accruals to contract liabilities included
in other payables and accruals in relation to
the consideration received from customers in
advance for the sale of industrial products.

Amendments to HKAS 40, clarify when an entity
should transfer property, including property under
construction or development, into or out of investment
property. The amendments state that a change in
use occurs when the property meets, or ceases to
meet, the definition of investment property and there
is evidence of the change in use. A mere change
in management’s intentions for the use of a property
does not provide evidence of a change in use. The
amendments have had no impact on the financial
position or performance of the Group.
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2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and
Disclosures (continued)

(e) HK(IFRIC)-Int 22 provides guidance on how to

determine the date of the transaction when applying
HKAS 21 to the situation where an entity receives or
pays advance consideration in a foreign currency
and recognises a non-monetary asset or liability. The
interpretation clarifies that the date of the transaction
for the purpose of determining the exchange rate to
use on initial recognition of the related asset, expense
or income (or part of it) is the date on which an entity
initially recognises the non-monetary asset (such
as a prepayment) or non-monetary liability (such as
deferred income) arising from the payment or receipt
of the advance consideration. If there are multiple
payments or receipts in advance of recognising the
related item, the entity must determine the transaction
date for each payment or receipt of the advance
consideration. The interpretation has no significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements as the
Group does not have material transaction, which
receives or pay advance consideration in foreign
currency.
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Notes to Financial Statements
Eji‘%i&%ﬁj% 31 December 2018

2018512 H31H

2.3 CHEMEERER 2B R
SR

ZNER B 0 UL T A A R AR A
TEEME R R ERF ] REE
R BB BRELER -

2.3 Issued but not yet Effective Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

GABERER ) ) .
T The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in

these financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business? BEUBRELR  XBEE
35 (BFTA)
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative BERUBRERD  WEREENEN
e Compensation’ Fo5 (BFTAR) HE
FINANCIAL Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets BEVBREL] REEFHAFERD
;;gg%’gs and HKAS 28 (2011) between an Investor and its FI0RREERS  AAEELEEZ
Associate or Joint Venture® R85 (2011 AIMIEEHER
F) (BFTAK) A
HKFRS 16 Leases’ ERMBREE HE
F16%
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts® BEMBRELR  RBEEAP
1%
Amendments to HKAS 1and  Definition of Material? BRGIENEY BEAMMTE
CVEVEAR HKAS 8 &%y%@ajﬁ,ﬁ\ll
FINANCIAL #8% (1B5TA)
SUMMARY Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or ERGTRAE199% LT HH
BEEE Settlement CHES! i
Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates BERGIER|FE8Y RELLAREE

and Joint Ventures’ (BFTA) PEORER
HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax a5 (BRUBRE  HEHEESTE

wEZEe)-2 W
B5235%

Treatments’

Annual Improvements Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKFRS 2015-2017889F BB HREEL
2015-2017 Cycle 11, HKAS 12 and HKAS 23! B # £33 - BB

HRELERF11
% BEERE
BIE12R R EE
SETERIF235

BETA

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January T RO019F1ATH 2 B FIE2 F
2019 B HARTAE XL

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2 RO020F1H1HEZ 4 Fi5.2 F
2020 BRI XL

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 5 RO021F1A1HEZ 4 F15.2 F
2021 BRI XL

4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for 1 WEETHEAENAR - A HR

adoption Kl

1 98 CPMC Holdings Limited P #86 # 4255 5 R A &




2.3 Issued but not yet Effective Hong Kong

Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected
to be applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide additional
guidance on the definition of a business. The amendments
clarify that for an integrated set of activities and assets
to be considered a business, it must include, at a
minimum, an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create output. A
business can exist without including all of the inputs and
processes needed to create outputs. The amendments
remove the assessment of whether market participants
are capable of acquiring the business and continue to
produce outputs. Instead, the focus is on whether acquired
inputs and acquired substantive processes together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The
amendments have also narrowed the definition of outputs
to focus on goods or services provided to customers,
investment income or other income from ordinary activities.
Furthermore, the amendments provide guidance to
assess whether an acquired process is substantive and
introduce an optional fair value concentration test to permit
a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of
activities and assets is not a business. The Group expects
to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1 January
2020.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address
an inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS
10 and in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale
or contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full
recognition of a gain or loss when the sale or contribution
of assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture constitutes a business. For a transaction involving
assets that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss
resulting from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s
profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s
interest in that associate or joint venture. The amendments
are to be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory
effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS
28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January 2016
and a new mandatory effective date will be determined
after the completion of a broader review of accounting for
associates and joint ventures. However, the amendments
are available for adoption now.

Notes to Financial Statements
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Notes to Financial Statements
Eﬂi‘%#ﬁ%ﬁj’% 31 December 2018

2018512 H31H

2.3 Issued but not yet Effective Hong Kong 2.3 %% B Tt W2 BB
o or Financial Reporting Standards (continued) gﬁ' &)
CASH FLOWS
BARSRER HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases, HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 ARV ERELEUNF 16K E S
Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, S EAE17TR [BE] - BB (H
HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating Leases — Incentives and B BmEtELZeg) R2ES8
HK(SIC)-Int 27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions A [EERFEREERERE] &
Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets B(EAZREZE®) REFI5
out the principles for the recognition, measurement, PREEHE —BE] RAEB (R
presentation and disclosure of leases and requires lessees 2ELZEE) - REF275R [FHEP
to recognise assets and liabilities for most leases. The RHEERTVARGNAR ] - &%
standard includes two elective recognition exemptions AIE SR T2 - 23 REER
for lessees — leases of low-value assets and short-term SRR - W ESFAREARK S B
NOTES T0 leases. At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee will HERREERAE ZEABRE
FINANCIAL recognise a liability to make lease payments (i.e., the lease 4 TEAARMIBRE NS ER S
STATEMENTS liability) and an asset representing the right to use the - EKEBEBEEHEREHAE -
RE L underlying asset during the lease term (i.e., the right-of-use REERGBEE  AHEABRERR
asset). The right-of-use asset is subsequently measured at HEMEHHEENZAEE (HE
cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment E8E) RREXAGEHEBEEDN
losses unless the right-of-use asset meets the definition EMREE (NAEEREEE) -
of investment property in HKAS 40, or relates to a class RIEBHABEENEDBETE
of property, plant and equipment to which the revaluation A 4057 I & W) ¥ 6 7E 5 ok B R
model is applied. The lease liability is subsequently BRETEN—BME BENMRE
increased to reflect the interest on the lease liability and B BEREEEHRBERKAR
reduced for the lease payments. Lessees will be required 2t MEREMBERETZ - M
to separately recognise the interest expense on the lease EaEEGSRRMRAEAETE
FIVE-YEAR liability and the depreciation expense on the right-of-use i 3% o0 Ko 5 A0 & A 5K gl A o AGE
v asset. Lessees will also be required to remeasure the AHESD BRI S B EMNF S5
SEHERE lease liability upon the occurrence of certain events, such X RAEREEEMNTERS ° %
e as change in the lease term and change in future lease BABIRERE TEHELEREH
payments resulting from a change in an index or rate EHEAE AR ESEE
used to determine those payments. Lessees will generally T AREEZSNAE —HEH
recognise the amount of the remeasurement of the lease St EFEM S| BURREE R RE
liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset. Lessor B ABA—REEHMAELES
accounting under HKFRS 16 is substantially unchanged ENEEERAECAEEENS
from the accounting under HKAS 17. Lessors will continue B o BB EERIE165 A
to classify all leases using the same classification principle HABBEFEREITRADLAA
as in HKAS 17 and distinguish between operating leases REETRIEAN o HBEAKBEED
and finance leases. HKFRS 16 requires lessees and lessors AHEEEGENZ17RARDN S
to make more extensive disclosures than under HKAS 17. HRAUSFEREETHE I
Lessees can choose to apply the standard using either ZORECEHERBMENRE - B#
a full retrospective or a modified retrospective approach. BB EAEI7S BBV BR
The Group will adopt HKFRS 16 from 1 January 2019. The SRR E165 EkFEFA A R HHEA
Group plans to adopt the transitional provisions in HKFRS ELEZHE - RBEAREFER
16 to recognise the cumulative effect of initial adoption as SHEEBPIIEREBP T EEAZ
an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings AR o REBEKE2019F1H1H &
at 1 January 2019 and will not restate the comparatives. In EMEBY B MEERF169E o &
addition, the Group plans to apply the new requirements to SEASRANB BN BRELERE
contracts that were previously identified as leases applying 165 BE R T - B EAEMMHR
HKAS 17 and measure the lease liability at the present 2w R ALY MN2019F1A1H
value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using RBBNFEVEANFAE - LR
the Group’s incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial HEILEET o WA AEEE
application. The right-of-use asset will be measured at A TEBRENDERBES
the amount of the lease liability, adjusted by the amount GETEBIE1I7TRMBN REEN S
of any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the 2 WIEFSRBENRORETE
lease recognised in the statement of financial position HERE AREALNEERERX
immediately before the date of initial application. The Group JEFRBAMIZ SR EF LRI - F
plans to use the exemptions allowed by the standard on HEEESREEaBESETE
lease contracts whose lease terms end within 12 months as W% B8 | XA B B8R i SR
of the date of initial application. The Group is in the process L% P R B AR AR RE A (T e TR A
of analysing the impact of HKFRS 16, and does not expect NEAHEN RS RETHAE - K
that the adoption of HKFRS16 will have a significant impact SEFARYAER B B AN
on its opening balance of retained earnings. 1218 A A EI AR B & 89 B 5% %
BlnsTH e - AEBFEFHA
BB HEEAF 16T BT
DT WIBEIRNE BB 5 £
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2.3 Issued but not yet Effective Hong Kong

Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a new
definition of material. The new definition states that
information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it
could reasonably be expected to influence decisions that
the primary users of general purpose financial statements
make on the basis of those financial statements. The
amendments clarify that materiality will depend on the
nature or magnitude of information. A misstatement of
information is material if it could reasonably be expected to
influence decisions made by the primary users. The Group
expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1
January 2020. The amendments are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 28 clarify that the scope exclusion
of HKFRS 9 only includes interests in an associate or joint
venture to which the equity method is applied and does
not include long-term interests that in substance form part
of the net investment in the associate or joint venture, to
which the equity method has not been applied. Therefore,
an entity applies HKFRS 9, rather than HKAS 28, including
the impairment requirements under HKFRS 9, in accounting
for such long-term interests. HKAS 28 is then applied to
the net investment, which includes the long-term interests,
only in the context of recognising losses of an associate
or joint venture and impairment of the net investment in
the associate or joint venture. The Group expects to adopt
the amendments on 1 January 2019 and will assess its
business model for such long-term interests based on
the facts and circumstances that exist on 1 January 2019
using the transitional requirements in the amendments.
The Group also intends to apply the relief from restating
comparative information for prior periods upon adoption of
the amendments.
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Notes to Financial Statements
Eﬁ%iﬁi’%ﬁﬁi 31 December 2018

2018512 H31H

2.3 Issued but not yet Effective Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 addresses the accounting for income
taxes (current and deferred) when tax treatments involve
uncertainty that affects the application of HKAS 12 (often
referred to as “uncertain tax positions”). The interpretation
does not apply to taxes or levies outside the scope of
HKAS 12, nor does it specifically include requirements
relating to interest and penalties associated with uncertain
tax treatments. The interpretation specifically addresses
(i) whether an entity considers uncertain tax treatments
separately; (ii) the assumptions an entity makes about
the examination of tax treatments by taxation authorities;
(iii) how an entity determines taxable profits or tax losses,
tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax
rates; and (iv) how an entity considers changes in facts
and circumstances. The interpretation is to be applied
retrospectively, either fully retrospectively without the use
of hindsight or retrospectively with the cumulative effect
of application as an adjustment to the opening equity at
the date of initial application, without the restatement of
comparative information. The Group expects to adopt the
interpretation from 1 January 2019. The interpretation is
not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long
term interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity
voting rights and over which it is in a position to exercise
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee, but is not control or joint control over those
policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the
relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

The Group’s investment in associates and joint ventures are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
the Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses. Adjustments are
made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies
that may exist.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and
other comprehensive income of associates and joint
ventures is included in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and consolidated other comprehensive
income, respectively. In addition, when there has been a
change recognised directly in the equity of the associate
or joint venture, the Group recognises its share of any
changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting
from transactions between the Group and its associates
or joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s investments in the associates or joint ventures,
except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from
the acquisition of associates or joint ventures is included
as part of the Group’s investments in associates or joint
ventures.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint
control over the joint venture, the Group measures and
recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any
difference between the carrying amount of the associate
or joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint
control and the fair value of the retained investment and
proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate or a joint venture
is classified as held for sale, it is accounted for in
accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for
Sale and Discontinued Operations.
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CONSOLIDATED 2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 24 T ESHHBEHME (8)
STATEMENT OF (continued)
CASH FLOWS
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Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum
of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by
the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued
by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For
each business combination, the Group elects whether to
measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that
are present ownership interests and entitle their holders
to a proportionate share of net assets in the event of
liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components
of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
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contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of
the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or
liability is measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any
fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interests in
the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration and
other items is lower than the fair value of the net assets
acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised
in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is,
from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or
liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or group
of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group
of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent
period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in
the carrying amount of the operation when determining
the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in
these circumstances is measured based on the relative
value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.
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CONSOLIDATED 2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 24 T ESHHBEHME (8)
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Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties, derivative
financial instruments and equity investments at fair value
at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair
value measurement is based on the presumption that
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset or
liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal
or the most advantageous market must be accessible
by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is
measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that
market participants act in their economic best interest.
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benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or
by selling it to another market participant that would use
the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting
period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets and financial assets),
the asset's recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’'s or
cash-generating unit’'s value in use and its fair value less
costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or
group of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit or loss
in the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to
an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited
to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it
arises.
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Notes to Financial Statements
Eji‘%i&%ﬁj% 31 December 2018

2018512 H31H

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its
working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to the statement
of profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises
such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives
and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment
to its residual value over its estimated useful life, taking into
account its estimated residual value of 10%. The estimated
useful lives for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings 20 to 30 years
Leasehold improvements 3 to 5 years
Machinery and equipment 12 to 20 years

Vehicles 5 years
Electronic equipment, office equipment
and fixtures 5 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.
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CONSOLIDATED 2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 24 T ESHHBEHME (8)
STATEMENT OF (continued)
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Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss
in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents buildings, plants,
machinery and product lines under construction, or
renovation works in progress and is stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises
the direct costs of construction and capitalised borrowing
costs on related borrowed funds during the period of
construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to
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Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets
with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least
at each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested
for impairment annually either individually or at the
cash-generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not
amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset with an
indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether
indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If
not, the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite
to finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.

Patents and licences

Purchased patents and licences are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives of 10 to 15 years.

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to the statement of profit or
loss as incurred.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)
Research and development costs (continued)

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products
is capitalised and deferred only when the Group can
demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale,
its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the
asset, how the asset will generate future economic benefits,
the availability of resources to complete the project and
the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the
development. Product development expenditure which
does not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.

Computer software

Acquired computer software licences are stated at cost
less any impairment losses and are amortised on the
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of 3 to 8
years.

Customer relationship

Customer relationship represents the fair value attributable
to the customer base or existing contractual bids with
customers acquired as a result of business combination.

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks
of ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title,
are accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a
finance lease, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised
at the present value of the minimum lease payments and
recorded together with the obligation, excluding the interest
element, to reflect the purchase and financing. Assets held
under capitalised finance leases are included in property,
plant and equipment, and depreciated over the shorter
of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the
assets. The finance costs of such leases are charged to
the statement of profit or loss so as to provide a constant
periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.

Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a
financing nature are accounted for as finance leases, but
are depreciated over their estimated useful lives.
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Leases (continued)

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted
for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor,
assets leased by the Group under operating leases are
included in non-current assets, and rentals receivable
under the operating leases are credited to the statement of
profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.
Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under
operating leases net of any incentives received from the
lessor are charged to the statement of profit or loss on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are
initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the

straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Investments and other financial assets (policies under
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Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income, and fair value
through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient of not
adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or
for which the Group has applied the practical expedient
are measured at the transaction price determined under
HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition (applicable from 1 January 2018)”
below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018) (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)
The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if
both of the following conditions are met:

e The financial asset is held within a business model
with the objective to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows.

e The contractual terms of the financial asset give
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.
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Investments and other financial assets (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018) (continued)
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Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 122 FlEEA B £ B0 7 5 % &Y
income (debt instruments) BE (EFITA)

The Group measures debt investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income if both of the following
conditions are met:

e The financial asset is held within a business model
with the objective of both holding to collect contractual
cash flows and selling.

e The contractual terms of the financial asset give
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.
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revaluation and impairment losses or reversals are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss and computed
in the same manner as for financial assets measured
at amortised cost. The remaining fair value changes
are recognised in other comprehensive income. Upon
derecognition, the cumulative fair value change recognised
in other comprehensive income is recycled to the statement
of profit or loss.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018) (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
financial assets held for trading, financial assets designated
upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss,
or financial assets mandatorily required to be measured
at fair value. Financial assets are classified as held for
trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling
or repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives, including
separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as
held for trading unless they are designated as effective
hedging instruments. Financial assets with cash flows
that are not solely payments of principal and interest are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss,
irrespective of the business model. Notwithstanding the
criteria for debt instruments to be classified at amortised
cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income,
as described above, debt instruments may be designated
at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition if
doing so eliminates, or significantly reduces, an accounting
mismatch.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair value
with net changes in fair value recognised in the statement
of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected
to classify at fair value through other comprehensive
income. Dividends on equity investments classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are also
recognised as other income in the statement of profit or
loss when the right of payment has been established, it
is probable that the economic benefits associated with
the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably.
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Investments and other financial assets (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018) (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(continued)

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a
financial liability or non-financial host, is separated from
the host and accounted for as a separate derivative if the
economic characteristics and risks are not closely related
to the host; a separate instrument with the same terms
as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of
a derivative; and the hybrid contract is not measured at
fair value through profit or loss. Embedded derivatives
are measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Reassessment
only occurs if there is either a change in the terms of the
contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that
would otherwise be required or a reclassification of a
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A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing
a financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The
financial asset host together with the embedded derivative
is required to be classified in its entirety as a financial asset
at fair value through profit or loss.

Investments and other financial assets (policies under
HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition,
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial
investments, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. When
financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured
at fair value plus transaction costs that are attributable to
the acquisition of the financial assets, except in the case of
financial assets recorded at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies under
HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018) (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
financial assets held for trading and financial assets
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss. Financial assets are classified as held for
trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the
near term. Derivatives, including separated embedded
derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless
they are designated as effective hedging instruments as
defined by HKAS 39.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair value
with positive net changes in fair value presented as other
income and gains and negative net changes in fair value
presented as finance costs in the statement of profit or
loss. These net fair value changes do not include any
dividends or interest earned on these financial assets,
which are recognised in accordance with the policies set
out for “Revenue recognition (applicable before 1 January
2018)” below.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at
fair value through profit or loss are designated at the date
of initial recognition and only if the criteria in HKAS 39 are
satisfied.

Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted for
as separate derivatives and recorded at fair value if their
economic characteristics and risks are not closely related
to those of the host contracts and the host contracts are
not held for trading or designated as at fair value through
profit or loss. These embedded derivatives are measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the
statement of profit or loss. Reassessment only occurs if
there is either a change in the terms of the contract that
significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise
be required or a reclassification of a financial asset out of
the fair value through profit or loss category.
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Investments and other financial assets (policies under
HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018) (continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. After initial measurement,
such assets are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest rate method less any
allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated
by taking into account any discount or premium on
acquisition and includes fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest
rate amortisation is included in other income and gains
in the statement of profit or loss. The loss arising from
impairment is recognised in the statement of profit or loss
in finance costs for loans and in administrative expenses
for receivables.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018 and policies
under HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018)

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position) when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material
delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but
has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of
the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred
asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In
that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability.
The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations
that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.
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Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKFRS 9
applicable from 1 January 2018)

The Group recognises an allowance for ECLs for all debt
instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss.
ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual
cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at an approximation of the original effective interest rate.
The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the
sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that
are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit
losses that result from default events that are possible
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increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of
the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including historical
and forward-looking information.

For debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, the Group applies the low credit
risk simplification. At each reporting date, the Group
evaluates whether the debt investments are considered to
have low credit risk using all reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort. In
making that evaluation, the Group reassesses the external
credit ratings of the debt investments. In addition, the
Group considers that there has been a significant increase
in credit risk when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKFRS 9
applicable from 1 January 2018) (continued)

General approach (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are past due over a long period
of time. However, in certain cases, the Group may also
consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or
external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to
receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before
taking into account any credit enhancements held by the
Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash
flows.

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income and financial assets at amortised cost are subject
to impairment under the general approach and they are
classified within the following stages for measurement
of ECLs except for trade receivables which apply the
simplified approach as detailed below.

Financial instruments for which credit
risk has not increased significantly since
initial recognition and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 1 -

Financial instruments for which credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition but that are not credit-impaired
financial assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 2 -

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired
at the reporting date (but that are not
purchased or originated credit-impaired)
and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime

ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group applies
the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track changes in
credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based
on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.
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Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKAS 39
applicable before 1 January 2018)

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment
exists if one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset have an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of
financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of
impairment may include indications that a debtor or a group
of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty,
default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the
probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation and observable data indicating that there is
a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows,
such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that
correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group
first assesses whether impairment exists individually
for financial assets that are individually significant, or
collectively for financial assets that are not individually
significant. If the Group determines that no objective
evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed
financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the
asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit
risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for
impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for
impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or
continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective
assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future credit losses that have not yet been incurred).
The present value of the estimated future cash flows is
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest
rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at initial
recognition).
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKAS 39
applicable before 1 January 2018) (continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the
use of an allowance account and the loss is recognised in
the statement of profit or loss. Interest income continues
to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount using the
rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for
the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. Loans
and receivables together with any associated allowance
are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future
recovery and all collateral has been realised or has been
transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is increased or
reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a write-off
is later recovered, the recovery is credited to administrative
expenses in the statement of profit or loss.
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Financial liabilities (policies under HKFRS 9 applicable
from 1 January 2018 and HKAS 39 applicable before 1
January 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as
hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net
of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and bills
payables, other payables and accruals, and interest-
bearing bank borrowings.
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depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(policies under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include
financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if
they are incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in
the near term. This category also includes derivative
financial instruments entered into by the Group that are not
designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships
as defined by HKFRS 9. Separated embedded derivatives
are also classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as effective hedging instruments. Gains or
losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss. The net fair value gain or loss
recognised in the statement of profit or loss does not
include any interest charged on these financial liabilities.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Financial liabilities (policies under HKFRS 9 applicable
from 1 January 2018 and HKAS 39 applicable before 1
January 2018) (continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(policies under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)
(continued)

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at
fair value through profit or loss are designated at the initial
date of recognition, and only if the criteria in HKFRS 9 are
satisfied. Gains or losses on liabilities designated at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss, except for the gains or losses arising from
the Group’s own credit risk which are presented in other
comprehensive income with no subsequent reclassification
to the statement of profit or loss. The net fair value gain or
loss recognised in the statement of profit or loss does not
include any interest charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(policies under HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January
2018)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include
financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they
are acquired for the purpose of repurchasing in the near
term. This category includes derivative financial instruments
entered into by the Group that are not designated as
hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined
by HKAS 39. Separated embedded derivatives are also
classified as held for trading unless they are designated as
effective hedging instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities
held for trading are recognised in the statement of profit
or loss. The net fair value gain or loss recognised in the
statement of profit or loss does not include any interest
charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at
fair value through profit or loss are designated at the date
of initial recognition and only if the criteria in HKAS 39 are
satisfied.
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Financial liabilities (policies under HKFRS 9 applicable
from 1 January 2018 and HKAS 39 applicable before 1
January 2018) (continued)

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case
they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018 and HKAS 39
applicable before 1 January 2018)

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition
of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018 and HKAS 39
applicable before 1 January 2018)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
(policies under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January
2018 and HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018)

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such
as commodity futures contracts and foreign currency
contracts, to hedge its foreign currency risk. Such
derivative financial instruments are initially recognised
at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract
is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair
value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value
is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

The fair value of commodity purchase contracts that meet
the definition of a derivative as defined by HKFRS 9 and
HKAS 39 is recognised in the statement of profit or loss
as cost of sales. Commodity contracts that are entered
into and continue to be held for the purpose of the receipt
or delivery of a non-financial item in accordance with the
Group’s expected purchase, sale or usage requirement are
held at cost.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
derivatives are taken directly to the statement of profit or
loss.
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Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average
basis and, in the case of work in progress and finished
goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is
based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs
to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known amounts
of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, and have a short maturity of generally within three
months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and at banks, including term deposits, which are not
restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage
of time is included in finance costs in the statement of profit
or loss.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

e when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

e inrespect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures when the timing of the reversal of
the temporary differences can be controlled and it
is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets
are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

e when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that
is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
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that the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be
utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and
the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle
the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and all attaching conditions will be complied with.
When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised
as income on a systematic basis over the periods that the
costs, which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
credited to a deferred income account and is released
to the statement of profit or loss over the expected useful
life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments
or deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and
released to the statement of profit or loss by way of a
reduced depreciation charge.

Revenue recognition (applicable from 1 January 2018)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods
or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring
the goods or services to the customer. The variable
consideration is estimated at contract inception and
constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group a significant financial benefit for more
than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the customer
and the transfer of the promised goods or services is one
year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the
effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in HKFRS 15.
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Revenue recognition (applicable from 1 January 2018)

W A 72 (H2018F181H £ &

(continued) ) (&)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) EFAEAMA ()
Sale of industrial products HETHER

Revenue from the sale of industrial products is recognised
at the point in time when control of the asset is transferred
to the customer, generally on delivery of the industrial
products.

Some contracts for the sale of industrial products provide
customers with volume rebates. The volume rebates give
rise to variable consideration.

(iy  Volume rebates

Retrospective volume rebates may be provided to
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specified in the contract. Rebates are offset against
amounts payable by the customer. To estimate the
variable consideration for the expected future rebates,
the most likely amount method is used for contracts
with a single-volume threshold and the expected
value method for contracts with more than one volume
threshold. The selected method that best predicts the
amount of variable consideration is primarily driven
by the number of volume thresholds contained in the
contract. The requirements on constraining estimates
of variable consideration are applied and a refund
liability for the expected future rebates is recognised.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Revenue recognition (applicable from 1 January 2018)
(continued)

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis
over the lease terms.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over
the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’
right to receive payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with the
dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably.

Revenue recognition (applicable before 1 January 2018)

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the
revenue can be measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a) from the sale of goods, when the significant risks
and rewards of ownership have been transferred
to the buyer, provided that the Group maintains
neither managerial involvement to the degree usually
associated with ownership, nor effective control over
the goods sold;

(b) rental income, on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms:;

(c) interest income, on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
over the expected life of the financial instrument or a
shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial assets; and

(d) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established.
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Contract liabilities (applicable from 1 January 2018)

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or
services to a customer for which the Group has received a
consideration (or an amount of consideration that is due)
from the customer. If a customer pays the consideration
before the Group transfers goods or services to the
customer, a contract liability is recognised when the
payment is made or the payment is due (whichever is
earlier). Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when
the Group performs under the contract.

Refund liabilities (applicable from 1 January 2018)

A refund liability is the obligation to refund some or all
of the consideration received (or receivable) from the
customer and is measured at the amount the Group
ultimately expects it will have to return to the customer. The
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of each reporting period.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Employee benefits

Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for all of its employees. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest
fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary which operates
in Mainland China are required to participate in a
central pension scheme operated by the local municipal
government. This subsidiary is required to contribute
certain percentages of its payroll costs to the central
pension scheme. The contributions are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other
costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing
of funds.

Where funds have been borrowed generally, and used for
the purpose of obtaining qualifying assets, a capitalisation
rate of 23.4% has been applied to the expenditure on the
individual assets.
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Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they
are approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’s memorandum and
articles of association grant the directors the authority to
declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends
are recognised immediately as a liability when they are
proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB. The
functional currency of the Company is the Hong Kong
dollar. Each entity in the Group determines its own
functional currency and items included in the financial
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by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using
their respective functional currency rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end
of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement
or translation of monetary items are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at
fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain
or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation
difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit
or loss, respectively).
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of
the related asset, expense or income on the derecognition
of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating
to an advance consideration, the date of initial transaction
is the date on which the Group initially recognises the
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are multiple
payments or receipts in advance, the Group determines
the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the
advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas entities of
the Group are currencies other than the RMB. As at the
end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of
these entities are translated into RMB at the exchange
rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their
statements of profit or loss are translated into RMB at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement
of profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and
translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the
dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of
overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are
translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange
rates for the year.
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Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected
in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart
from those involving estimations, which have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements:

Revenue from contracts with customers
The Group applied the following judgement that
significantly affects the determination of the amount of
revenue from contracts with customers:

() Determining the method to estimate variable
consideration and assessing the constraint for the sale
of industrial products

Certain contracts for the sale of industrial products
include volume rebates that give rise to variable
consideration. In estimating the variable consideration,
the Group is required to use either the expected
value method or the most likely amount method
based on which method better predicts the amount of
consideration to which it will be entitled.

In estimating the variable consideration for the sale
of industrial products with volume rebates, the Group
determined that using a combination of the most likely
amount method and the expected value method is
appropriate. The selected method that better predicts
the amount of variable consideration related to volume
rebates is primarily driven by the number of volume
thresholds contained in the contract. The most likely
amount method is used for those contracts with a
single volume threshold, while the expected value
method is used for contracts with more than one
volume threshold.
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Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (continued)

Judgements (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(iy (continued)
Before including any amount of variable consideration
in the transaction price, the Group considers
whether the amount of variable consideration is
constrained. The Group determined that the estimates
of variable consideration are not constrained based
on its historical experience, business forecast and
the current economic conditions. In addition, the
uncertainty on the variable consideration will be
resolved within a short time frame.

Classification between investment properties and
owner-occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making
that judgement. Investment property is a property held to
earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore,
the Group considers whether a property generates cash
flows largely independently of the other assets held by
the Group. Some properties comprise a portion that is
held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation and another
portion that is held for use in the production or supply of
goods or services or for administrative purposes. If these
portions could be sold separately or leased out separately
under a finance lease, the Group accounts for the portions
separately. If the portions could not be sold separately, the
property is an investment property only if an insignificant
portion is held for use in the production or supply of goods
or services or for administrative purposes. Judgement is
made on an individual property basis to determine whether
ancillary services are so significant that a property does
not qualify as an investment property.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.
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Notes to Financial Statements
Eﬂi‘%iﬁi’%ﬁﬁf 31 December 2018

2018512 H31H

Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Variable consideration for volume rebates

The Group estimates variable consideration to be included
in the transaction price for the sale of industrial products
with volume rebates.

The Group’s expected volume rebates are analysed on
a per customer basis for contracts that are subject to a
single volume threshold. Determining whether a customer
will likely be entitled to a rebate depends on the customer’s
historical rebate entitlement and accumulated purchases to
date.

The Group applied a statistical model for estimating
expected volume rebates for contracts with more than one
volume threshold. The model uses the historical purchasing
patterns and rebate entitlement of customers to determine
the expected rebate percentages and the expected value
of the variable consideration. Any significant changes in
experience as compared to historical purchasing patterns
and rebate entitlements of customers will impact the
expected rebate percentages estimated by the Group.

The Group updates its assessment of expected volume
rebates quarterly and the refund liabilities are adjusted
accordingly. Estimates of expected volume rebates are
sensitive to changes in circumstances and the Group’s
past experience regarding rebate entitlements may not
be representative of customers’ actual rebate entitlements
in the future. As at 31 December 2018, the amount
recognised as rebate liabilities was RMB5,955,000 for the
expected volume rebates.
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Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables
The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
trade receivables. The provision rates are based on days
past due for groupings of various customer segments that
have similar loss patterns.

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s
historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate
the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience
with forward-looking information. For instance, if forecast
economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic products) are
expected to deteriorate over the next year which can lead
to an increased number of defaults in the manufacturing
sector, the historical default rates are adjusted. At each
reporting date, the historical observed default rates are
updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs
is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may also
not be representative of customers’ actual default in the
future. The information about the ECLs on the Group’s
trade receivables is disclosed in note 20 to the financial
statements.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of
the value in use of the cash-generating units to which the
goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use requires
the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash
flows from the cash-generating units and also to choose
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill
at 31 December 2018 was RMB233,973,000 (2017:
RMB233,973,000). Further details are given in note 15 to
the financial statements.
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Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Income taxes

The Group is mainly subject to income taxes in the PRC.
Significant judgement is required in determining the
provision for income taxes. There are many transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination
is uncertain during the ordinary course of business.
The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit
issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes
will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred
tax provisions in the period in which such determination is
made.

Deferred tax assets

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had deferred tax
assets of RMB23,600,000 (2017: RMB21,731,000). To the
extent it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences will be
utilised, deferred tax assets are recognised for temporary
differences arising from impairment provisions for property,
plant and equipment, inventories and receivables,
decelerated tax depreciation and amortisation, certain
accrual items and unused tax losses.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax
losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the losses can be
utilised. Significant management judgement is required
to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can
be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level
of future taxable profits together with future tax planning
strategies. The carrying value of deferred tax assets
relating to recognised tax losses at 31 December 2018
was RMB10,310,000 (2017:RMB9,399,000). The amount
of unrecognised tax losses at 31 December 2018 was
RMB57,880,000 (2017: RMB64,340,000). Further details
are contained in note 27 to the financial statements.
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Operating Segment Information

For management purposes, the Group has one operating
segment of packaging products, which can be analysed by
three business units based on their products and services
as follows:

(a) Tinplate packaging — the Group uses tinplate as the
main raw material for its tinplate packaging products,
which include three-piece beverage cans, food cans
(including milk powder cans), aerosol cans, metal
caps, printed and coated tinplates, steel barrels,
round and square shaped cans and other metal
packaging;

(b) Aluminium packaging — the Group uses aluminium
as the main raw material for its aluminium packaging
products, which mainly consist of two-piece cans and
one-piece cans; and

(c) Plastic packaging — the Group’s plastic packaging
products are mainly used for milk bottles, shampoo
bottles, plastic devices of electronic products, daily
use hardware, package printing, sports drink bottles
and related plastic-made products.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s business
units separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resource allocation and performance assessment.
Business unit performance is evaluated based on revenue,
as explained in the table below:
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2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETT
Tinplate packaging EO#mKk 3,521,944 3,268,923
Aluminium packaging ek 2,461,200 2,184,129
Plastic packaging BREE 608,163 525,186
6,591,307 5,978,238

Information about a major customer FREXEEFHNER

Revenue of approximately RMB480,634,000 (2017:
RMB615,803,000) was derived from sales of goods to a
single customer, including sales to a group of entities which
are known to be under common control with that customer.

W A 4 A R #480,634,0007C
(20174 : A R #615,803,0007T)
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2018512 H31H

5. Revenue, Other Income and Gains — Net

WA ~ B AR Wi — 5

An analysis of revenue is as follows: AT RZBRAR DT
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBF R ARETTT

Revenue from contracts with customers EF & XA
Sale of goods HEEm

6,591,307 5,978,238

Revenue from contracts with customers

(i)  Disaggregated revenue information

BEFEHBA
(i) ZIFHAEH

For the year ended 31 December
BZ12831BLEFE

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’ 000
AR¥T R AREFIT
Type of goods A mEsl
Tinplate packaging HFOEeE 3,521,944 3,268,923
Aluminium packaging ok 2,461,200 2,184,129
Plastic packaging BREE 608,163 525,186
Total revenue from contracts BEEEHWALE
with customers 6,591,307 5,978,238
Geographical markets HoiE 5
Mainland China A AT, 6,422,751 5,801,272
Overseas PEB 168,556 176,966
Total revenue from contracts BEEEHWALE
with customers 6,591,307 5,978,238
All the Group’s revenue from contracts with customers AKEBMTERFEALHRAHR

is recognised when goods transferred at a point in
time.

(ii)  Performance obligations
Information about the Group’s performance obligations
is summarised below:

Sale of industrial products

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery
of the industrial products and payment is generally
due within 30 to 180 days from delivery, except
for new customers, where payment in advance is
normally required. Some contracts provide customers
with volume rebates which give rise to variable
consideration subject to constraint.
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5. Revenue, Other Income and Gains — Net 5. WA~ Hittr AR ss — F5E
(continued)
2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREET T AREFIT
Other income Hipg A
Bank interest income ERITRBHA 6,942 8,280
Interest income from COFCO KB F IR B TSR B U
Finance (Note 36 (a)) (A7:£36 (a)) 2,948 4,183
Interest income from an associate TE—FKEENEIR
(Note 36 (a)) FEWA (H15236 (a) 2,384 780
Government grants* R AT 4 R 24,761 27,564
Gross rental income el ALz 1,055 -
38,090 40,807
Gains - net s — B
(Loss)/gain on disposal of items of HEME - BEK
property, plant and equipment =EmEE (FE) e (1,901) 11,939
Foreign exchange differences, net HNEE ZE BB F R 8,562 (11,339)
Other gains Hiblrzs 8,651 8,226
15,312 8,826
53,402 49,633

* The government grants are granted by the PRC’s local
authority to support local companies. There are no unfulfilled
conditions or contingencies relating to these grants.

Y FTRERL TS A B TR T X
XIFEI L] o 5 LEH R ) R
BRI EF A o
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6. BRATSHATFE

AEBBAEHAFBLENG,
(FEA) L FIRBRER

CONSOLIDATED 6. Profit Before Income Tax

STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS The Group’s profit before income tax is arrived at after
GEBeNER

charging/(crediting):

2018 2017
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
k3 AR®F T AREFTT
Cost of inventories sold BHEFERA 5,633,213 5,018,252
Realised and unrealised fair value TESMIADEIR
NOTES TO (gains)/losses on derivative MAEEAYE
FINANCIAL financial instruments, net F (Mas), /518 25 (12,001) 1,497
STATEMENTS - . A,
BRI Reversal of provision against RS ERE
inventories - (2,402)
Cost of sales $HE RN 5,621,212 5,017,347
Depreciation e 13 296,353 263,570
Amortisation of land lease payments 130 & FRi i 14 7,618 7,660
Amortisation of other intangible HAh S
assets 16 4,802 4,353
Research and development costs: TBEACA
FIVE-YEAR Current year expenditure REEFHRL 11,561 16,818
?L%TA(XQYL Minimum lease payments under REHE THEES
RENGHS operating leases 10,443 14,480
Auditor’s remuneration: ZEENEN € -
Audit service ZH R 1,950 1,750
Non-audit services IR BUR S 800 1,050
2,750 2,800
Impairment of financial and contract £ @R & NEE
assets, net: BT
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) & ZEWFRE
of trade receivables, net* CRE#E) F5m* 20 513 (14)
Reversal of impairment of financial FAFER R - Efh
assets included in prepayments, JEW R M B At B B
other receivables and e RVEE
other assets* VERIEEE{EN 21 (6) (91)
Employee benefit expense (including EEEFMNER (B3
directors’ and chief executive’s EENETEITHAER
remuneration): ) -
Wages and salaries IE&ENFHS 538,748 488,698
Pension scheme contributions** BINE FHEIE R 47,519 50,270
Other benefits HiaF 39,807 33,017
626,074 571,985

246

The impairment (reversal of impairment) of trade receivables,

prepayments and other receivables is included in
administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of

profit or loss.

ok

**  As at 31 December 2018, the Group had no forfeited
contributions available to reduce its contributions to the
pension schemes in future years (2017: Nil).
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7. Finance Costs 7. BBER CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: THAEHEERS ﬁ(z\%"gigg
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREBTT
Interest on bank loans RITERFE 117,483 73,004
Interest on borrowings from a R —EHEB AR —%
non-controlling shareholder FEFERRAR R M B EFE
of a subsidiary 448 - NOTES T0
FINANCIAL
Less: Interest capitalised o BEARERLE (27,565) (29,165) STATEMENTS
g2 e
90,366 43,839
8. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s 8. EERFETHAEZHME
Remuneration
Directors’ and chief executive’'s remuneration for the year, BEETHRE - EFQFGOE
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), 383(1)(a) * (b) * (c)M(HiE A &
(b), (c), and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance Al (BBEESMNEER) ROIE2 FIVE-YEAR
and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information e FAEEREFETHRAS ZM gmm‘%
about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows: SEWBRAOT RESHHE
Group
rEH
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETT
Fees we 1,070 1,083
Other emoluments: E T
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind  #F4% - ZEL R EYRET) 1,642 1,656
Performance related bonuses* FIR SR IEAL 1,071 2,287
Pension scheme contributions RIS ET B 202 193
2,915 4,136
3,985 5,219
*  Certain executive directors of the Company are entitled to Y AREETRTEFIEZEZZELR
bonus payments which are determined as a percentage of EEEEREMET S /EAL -

the profit after tax of the Group.
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CONSOLDATED 8. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s 8. EERFEMTBARBZHME
STATEMENT OF Remuneration (continued) (&)
CASH FLOWS
BABARER o e
(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) BAFHTES
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors FANTEIIFNITESTNSE
during the year were as follows: ca NN
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTT
NOTES T0 Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo BIERAN A 300 303
FINANCIAL . .
STATEMENTS Mr. Fu Tlngmel 1§§i%%ﬂi 300 303
ABEER Mr. Pun Tit Shan I A 300 303
900 909
There were no other emoluments payable to the FANBIEN TEIIFRITE
independent non-executive directors during the year EMEAMEN (2017F : ) °
(2017: Nil).
— (b) Executive directors, non-executive directors and (b) BITESE kHTEERTE
FINANCIAL the chief executive THAE
SUMMARY
TFHBHE
Salaries,
allowances  Performance Pension
and benefits related scheme Total
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions  remuneration
& 2HR B3 Bike
He BNEF i HELE atme

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARMT:R

2018 20185
Executive directors: HITESE:
Mr. Zhang Xin REEE - 979 575 122 1,676
Mr. Zhang Ye RELE - 663 496 80 1,239
- 1,642 1,071 202 2915
Non-executive directors: FHTES
Mr. Zhou Yuan AR%E 85 - - - 85
Mr. Shen Tao bl 85 - - - 85
Ms. Yu Youzhi SRETT - - - - -
Mr. Chen Qianzheng BB E - - - - -
170 1,642 1,071 202 3,085
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8. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s

Remuneration (continued)

(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors and
the chief executive (continued)

Notes to Financial Statements

e AR
EZRFETHAEBZHME

(&)

(b) BTES - FYUTESEREE
TBAR (&)

Salaries,
allowances  Performance Pension
and benefits related scheme Total
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions  remuneration
Fe2MR e RIRE
e ENEA RENEA SR B
RMB'00 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARETTL ARETT ARETT AREFT
2017 20174
Executive directors: HITEE:
Mr. Zhang Xin REAAE - 993 1,235 115 2,343
Mr. Zhang Ye RELA - 663 1,052 78 1,793
- 1,656 2,287 193 4136
Non-executive directors: FES:
Mr. Zhou Yuan AR%E 87 - - - 87
Mr. Shen Tao s 87 - - - 87
Mr. Li Jian' FRAE - - - - -
Ms. Yu Youzhi' SRETT - - - - -
Mr. Chen Qianzheng BRAIEE & - - - - -
174 1,656 2,287 193 4310

! On 15 August 2017, Mr. Li Jian resigned as the
Company's non-executive director, and Ms. Yu Youzhi
was appointed as the Company’s non-executive

director.

There was no arrangement under which a director
or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive
remuneration during the year.

T Ro017F8AISH - F # %
EBERRNGHBTESE
MERIEL LT EEZALE]
FHHTTEE -

FRAYEESREBETALHER
BZXRBREME -
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Notes to Financial Statements
Eji%iﬁ%%ﬁﬁ%f 31 December 2018

2018512 H31H

CONSOLIDATED 9. Five Highest Paid Employees 9. HEFMESNES
STATEMENT OF
Efi':;ég\%; The five highest paid employees during the year included FNRLEFHEENEERREME
e two directors (2017: two directors), details of whose BF (2017 MBESR) EFd
remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details of the FRIEREN EXPITES c FRESBK=
remuneration for the year of the remaining three (2017: % (2017F : =Z&) e FMFER
three) highest paid employees who are neither a director NEEFRFETHAEREE D
nor chief executive of the Company are as follows: BEBEOT
2018 2017
NOTES TO RMB’000 RMB’000
FINANCIAL = e T =
STATEMENTS ARWT R ARBETT
SRR M Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥ & « 2B N EWEF 1,286 1,546
Performance related bonuses RIRARRIEAL 1,232 1,905
Pension scheme contributions RRE B 241 235
2,759 3,686
The number of non-director and non-chief executive MeEATHEEANZERIFEE NI
highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the BERENTEZ2REFEEZEHEN
FVEVEAR following bands is as follows: ™
FINANCIAL
Sﬁugggﬂ%%g Number °.=f. employees
EEA™
2018 2017
Nil to HK$1,000,000 =702 1,000,000 7T 2 -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7L 2 1,500,000/8 7T 1 2
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7L 2 2,000,000/%8 7T - 1
3 3
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Notes to Financial Statements
s BATEERERMIEE

10. Income Tax 10. Fi8%H CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
Hong Kong profits tax has not been provided as the FABERARERNEBL BELT Z&(Z\%Hggg
Group did not generate any assessable profits arising in A ERBAE - A | B BFE T
Hong Kong during the year (2017: Nil). Taxes on profits T B (20174 « 48) - Hibith
assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates T ER N B IR AN B E BT
of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group AERERNIITHEE -
operates.
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000 NOTES TO
ARBFT AREF T STATEMENTS
Current — Mainland China ZNER — AR A P BRATE
Charge for the year FATH 86,322 103,021
Overprovision in prior years BT FE B (3,806) (2,614)
Deferred (Note 27) I (fi7727) (2,040) (2,049)
Total tax charge for the year FAFIEES 80,476 98,358
A reconciliation of the tax expense/(credit) applicable to AR A R EKE M B R R
profit/(loss) before income tax at the statutory rates for RDEME & #9ETE M R IZBR AT 1S B AT —
the jurisdictions in which the Company and the majority B (BB TERERT FINANCIAL
of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the (Fx) BRBEEMEFE 2WE SUMMARY
effective tax rates is as follows: s 2 $IBRINT - BEHREE
2018 20184
Hong Kong  Mainland China Total
A HEIR ait
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETTR AR¥TT
Profit/(loss) before income tax BRETEHAIAE /(B58) (2,203) 347,951 345,748
Tax at the statutory tax rates® BEEREHE LR (364) 86,988 86,624
Profit not subject to tax due to concessions™ REEEHAAROME - (4,456) (4,456)
Expenses not deductible for tax TR X - 1,013 1,013
Adjustments in respect of current tax of previous AT SRR E AR
periods - (3,806) (3,806)
Tax losses utilised from previous periods PRBTHRNTESE - (2,574) (2,574)
Tax losses not recognised AR REBE 364 3,311 3,675
Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate TEBRERREHE  HERS - 80,476 80,476
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Notes to Financial Statements
Eﬂi‘%iﬁ%ﬁﬁ%} 31 December 2018

2018512 H31H

10. Income Tax (continued)

10. FrfE%t (&)

2017 20175

Hong Kong ~ Mainland China Total
E RE R At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARETT AREFT
Profit/(loss) before income tax BEERAIAE /(BR) (2,940) 413170 410,230
Tax at the statutory tax rates® RAEREHE  HE (485) 103,293 102,808
Profit not subject to tax due to concessions** RAEBEEBALBNFE - (4,310) (4,310)
Loss attributable to an associate EfREEAREE - 4 4
Expenses not deductible for tax TR 2 Fx - 10,004 10,004

Adjustments in respect of current tax A SRR R AR
of previous periods DREBTERNHERB - (2.614) (2.614)
Tax losses utilised from previous periods AERHEER - (14571) (14571)
Tax losses not recognised REERANATHRNEES 485 6,462 6,947
Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate TEBRBERHEE RBRS - 98,358 98,358

*k

Pursuant to the approvals issued by the State Administration
of Taxation of the PRC during the year ended 31 December
2013, the Company and most of its subsidiaries registered
in Hong Kong and the British Virgin Islands are regarded as
Chinese Resident Enterprises (collectively the “CREs”) and
the relevant enterprise income tax policies of the PRC are
applicable to the CREs commencing from 1 January 2013.

Under the PRC income tax laws, enterprises are subject
to corporate income tax (“CIT") at the rate of 25%. Two of
the Group's subsidiaries operating in Mainland China have
granted a preferential CIT rate of 15%, by the relevant tax
authorities. Two of the Group's subsidiaries are qualified as
high-tech enterprises in Mainland China, and the relevant
tax authorities have granted the subsidiaries a preferential
CIT rate of 15%. One of the Group's subsidiaries is qualified
as a small enterprise earning low profits in Mainland China,
and the relevant tax authorities have granted the subsidiary a
preferential CIT rate of 10%.

CPMC Holdings Limited fig kB R AR
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B R EFTER ([ A7
B o KNEFAF HFKHE L
BTG R B AT & 7 B T
R TFZEN B L F 2 ERILEAH
R ZH15% o KN FH [
FHE R FIFE P E RS ZH
MR & - SRR %
BN a2 BRIPEAEHEES
15% o FEFEF —F KB L a7
B R A2 N R 1 B
TR ST a2 B 1 ] 2 1
BIEAEHBHEESD10% °



1.

12.

Notes to Financial Statements

31 December 2018 B 4=
20184128318 BRI
Dividends 11. RE
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETFIT
Interim — RMB0.060 FE — BRTBIRARE
(2017: RMB0.071) 0.0607T (20174 : ARH#E
per ordinary share 0.0717T) 70,474 83,394
Proposed final — RMB0.048 BEEAHR - SRETBRARE
(2017: RMBO0.061) 0.0487C (20174 : AR
per ordinary share 0.0617T) 56,379 71,648
126,853 155,042

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the
approval of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

Earnings per Share Attributable to Ordinary
Equity Holders of the Company

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount
is based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the Company of RMB255,061,000 (2017:
RMB310,511,000) and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares of 1,174,560,000 (2017: 1,174,560,000) in
issue during the year.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share amount
is based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the Company. The weighted average
number of ordinary shares used in the calculation is the
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year, as
used in the basic earnings per share calculation, and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares assumed
to have been issued at no consideration on the deemed
exercise of all dilutive potential ordinary shares into
ordinary shares.

12.

REEZZRAREBEFREER
RIBFREG LRARABRRIAE -

RAFEBERRAEE AR
EEBRER

BERERABFNHSENIREAFE
MARBEBIRBASETE AEMN
A OE A R #255,061,0007T (2017
#: A R #310,511,0007T) &
FRNBEBITEBEROMNEFY
#1,174,560,000/% (20174 :
1,174,560,0000%) st EBE -

BREBEANSBEIREAQRE
BEBARE NEIEZFEFN B
HEh - REHERERZ E@EN
PO RRAETEERELRR
ZFERBHTEBEEE - ARH
BIETREEHMECHTEBR A Y
B RREEET G B NET
g -
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Notes to Financial Statements
Eji%ﬁ%%ﬁﬁ%f 31 December 2018

2018512 H31H

CONSOLIDATED 12. Earnings per Share Attributable to Ordinary 12. RABREBERBARFEALE
STATENENT O Equity Holders of the Company (continued) HERER (&)
ASH FLOW.

BABSRER — . PR
R GRERREERFEETER

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share
are based on:

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBF R AR¥ETT
Earnings B
L‘IL:ITAENSJEL Profit attributable to ordinary equity FA{EstESlRERRTF Y
STATEMENTS holders of the Company, used in the PN S g N
RE L basic earnings per share calculation g AJE(EFE 255,061 310,511

Number of shares

8k E|
2018 2017
000 ‘000
TR FHE
FIVE-YEAR Shares [y
FINANCIAL Weighted average number of ordinary RIEt EBIRERERN 2
Sﬁugggﬂ%?ﬁ;g shares in issue during the year used FRD BT BRI
in the basic earnings per share I
calculation 1,174,560 1,174,560
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Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2018 Eji%*ﬁ%llﬁﬂ

2018412 H31H

13. Property, Plant and Equipment 13. 1% - BEREZE

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
: CASH FLOWS
Electronic FAESRER
equipment,
Leasehold  Machinery office
improve- and equipment Construction
Buildings ments  equipment  Vehicles and fixtures in progress Total
EFRfA
BENR HER WAERE
g7 £ #fF ERIR REE  EBIR fif
RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 NOTES TO
ARRTR ARMTL ARRTR ARMTR ARBTZ ARMTR ARETZ STATEMENTS
31 December 2018 20185127318 BB RRMEE
At 31 December 2017 and R017E12A318 R
1 January 2018; 01851818
Cost A 1,496,014 13,093 3,842,003 54,239 172,626 855,868 6,433,933
Accumulated depreciation ZiERE
and impaiment (205494) (11433 (1,366,032  (405%5)  (114,423) - (1,737917)
Net carrying amount FEFE 1,290,520 1,660 2,476,061 13,704 58,203 855,868 4,696,016 e VEAR
At 1 January 2018, net of #201851A1A - FINANCIAL
accumulated depreciation TREEHNER ﬁéiuﬁgﬂi’g@ig
and impairment HE 1,290,520 1,660 2,476,061 13,704 58,203 855,868 4,696,016 :
Additions AE 223 3,979 4,957 37 3,204 500,082 512,822
Disposals e (434) - ) (39) (673) - (ade8)
Depreciation provided duing ~ RAFEFERE
the year (50,573) (998) (220651 (4931  (19,200) - (296,359)
Transfers upon complation TREEA 214,924 - 641,547 5,403 26672 (888,546 -
At 31 December 2018, netof  #2018%128318
accumulated depreciation MBEHTER
and impairment A 1,454,660 4641 2,898,951 14,155 68,206 467404 4,908,017
At 31 December 2018; R2018512A318 :
Cost R 1,710,033 15,528 4,475,719 57,054 198,837 467404 6,924,575
Accumulated depreciation ZHMELHE
and impairment (255373)  (10887) (1576768)  (42899)  (130,631) - (2,016559)
Net carrying amount RRFE 1,454,660 4641 2,898,951 14,155 68,206 467404 4,908,017
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Notes to Financial Statements
Eji%ﬁ%%ﬁﬁ%f 31 December 2018

2018512 H31H

13. Property, Plant and Equipment (continued) 13. % - RERRME (M)

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS :
EABaREE Electronic
equipment,
Leasehold ~ Machinery office
improve- and equipment  Construction
Buildings ments  equipment Vehicles  and fixtures  in progress Total
STHE-
HEME HER NG
EF =B #E  E5If RkE  TEIE At
NOTES TO RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000
?T’:\#gﬁé\krs ARETL  ARETR ARBTT ARETT ARETR AREBTR ARETR
HERNE 31 December 2017 20175128318
At 31 December 2016 and 20165124318 ]
1 January 2017: 01751818
Cost A 1,048,727 16,923 3,620,197 50,480 156,087 624,704 5517,118
Accumulated depreciation ZHIERAE
and impairment (155,105)  (14180) (1,190734)  (38527)  (101939) ~ (1,500,505)
e VEAR Net carrying amount FEFE 893,602 2,743 2,429,463 11,953 54,148 624,704 4,016,613
FINANCIAL At 1 January 2017, net of R2017$1R18 -
SUMMARY accumulated depreciation MRZTER
TFHBHE o "
and impairment HiE 893,602 2743 2429463 11953 54148 624704 4016613
Additions NE 113 - 25310 79 2,263 689,246 717,011
Disposals e (2.291) (199) (7,256) (334) (43) - (10,123)
Consolidation of subsidiaries A HHEAR
(Note 31) (Hit31) 51,220 - 425 409 20 184011 236,085
Depreciation provided duing ~ RASEFERE
the year (38,006) (884)  (201,607) (5,167) (17,906) - (263,570)
Transfers upon completion THREEA 385,882 - 297% 6,764 19721 (642,009) -
At 31 December 2017, netof 2017128318
accumulated depreciation MEZHTER
and impairment i 1,290,520 1,660 2,476,061 13,704 58,203 855,868 4,696,016
At 31 December 2017: R2017F12A318 :
Cost R 149,014 13,093 3,842,093 54239 172,626 855,868 6,433,933
Accumulated depreciation ZHMELHE
and impairment (205,494) (11,433)  (1,366,032) (40535)  (114,423) - (1737917)
Net carrying amount RRFE 1,290,520 1660 2,476,061 13,704 58,203 855,868 4,696,016
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Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2018 Eﬂﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁi

2018412 H31H

14. Prepaid Land Lease Payments 14. BT AER CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
2018 2017 BARSRER
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTFT
Carrying amount at 1 January M A1REREE 316,087 284,656
Additions INE - 2,840
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 31) W B A (A15#31) - 36,251
Recognised during the year RERNIER (7,618) (7,660)
Carrying amount at 31 December M12A31BEREE 308,469 316,087 I
Current portion included FTATERER - Bt R FINANCIAL
in prepayments, other receivables REMEESENEH S STATEMENTS
and other assets (Note 21) (K1zz21) (7,663) (7,752) ABHENE
Non-current portion JEENER SR 300,806 308,335
15. Goodwill 15. &
RMB’000
AR®T T
At 1 January 2017: 20171418 - FFllkl//E;\lYCEIA/‘;FC
Cost BN 214,951 SUMMARY
Accumulated impairment Z25RE (7,000) RERKHE
Net carrying amount AREVHE 207,951
Cost at 1 January 2017, net of accumulated R20179F1 A1B Z K7
impairment Mk RFHRE 207,951
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 31) Ui B B A ] (H77231) 27,832
Exchange realignment [E 3 3% (1,810)
At 31 December 2017 HR2017%12H31H 233,973
At 31 December 2017: 20174124318 :
Cost DN 240,973
Accumulated impairment ZETRIAE (7,000)
Net carrying amount BRMEFE 233,973
Cost at 1 January 2018, net of accumulated 201851 A1H 2K « Mk R25HRE
impairment 233,973
Cost and net carrying amount at M2018F 128318 Z A KERAHE
31 December 2018 233,973
At 31 December 2018: R2018F12H31H -
Cost XA 240,973
Accumulated impairment 2EPRE (7,000)
Net carrying amount BREDFE 233,973
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Notes to Financial Statements
Eji‘%i&%‘:zlgﬁ% 31 December 2018

2018512 H31H

CONSOLDATED 15. Goodwill (continued) 15. B8 (&)

STATEMENT OF

;AAS';'E;LQ:VYES% Impairment testing of goodwill [E5EAERE

. Goodwill acquired through business combinations in FREBAHUBEBSEARA
the amounts of RMB57,305,000, RMB155,836,000 and R #57.305,000 A R
RMB27,832,000 is allocated to the tinplate packaging ¥155,836,0000t & A R &
cash-generating unit, plastic packaging cash-generating 27,832,000t EE DRI DL E
unit and aluminium packaging cash-generating unit, NEPEREEELSMN BBREE
respectively. REeELBNRIREEREELS

fiz o

NOTES TO

FINANCIAL Goodwill acquired through business combinations is FBREHKEHRENEEE S ER

;@gg%’gs allocated to the following cash-generating units for ATIREEESBMAETHER
impairment testing: N
e Tinplate packaging cash-generating unit e BHAHBRERSEABEMN
e Plastic packaging cash-generating unit e URBBERSELEBN
e Aluminium packaging cash-generating unit e IRBERSEEBEAN

FIVE-YEAR _ _ , _ \ N

FINANCIAL Tinplate packaging cash-generating unit BOE R EFE

SUMMARY The recoverable amount of the tinplate packaging SO#EBKEReEESBME

aEERRE cash-generating unit was determined based on a value- SHEIBRBEAEBEAEETE  H
in-use calculation using cash flow projections based on FRERSREEE LN R FH
financial budgets covering a five-year period approved by MREENHSREEN - BAR
senior management. The discount rate applied to the cash RenEEAREL151%
flow projections was 15.1% and cash flows beyond the MR AFHBEENRERENEA
five-year period were extrapolated using a growth rate of 2%RIEREMEE - THEBEITERD
2%, which was the same as the long term average growth REFHERE T -

rate of the packaging industry.

Plastic packaging cash-generating unit BRORG EFE N

The recoverable amount of the plastic packaging BRERASELAEMHIKES
cash-generating unit was determined based on a value BORBEREBAEFEEE - HE
in-use calculation using cash flow projections based on AERERERENEN TN
financial budgets covering a five-year period approved by BREEMRSRETRA - HANIRE
senior management. The discount rate applied to the cash eREERMBEERR151% M
flow projections was 15.1% and cash flows beyond the RAFHEENRERENFER3I%
five-year period were extrapolated using a growth rate of ROIE R EHEE - DEPERTENR
3%, which was the same as the long term average growth BT R —B -

rate of the packaging industry.

In the opinion of the Company’s directors, an increase KABEERAE  BIREIEINE5%E
in the discount rate by 5% to 15.9% would cause the 15.9% BN EEEMNET
carrying amount of the cash-generating unit to exceed its BEREBENKE£ENARKI0.7
recoverable amount by approximately RMB30.7 million to BELEAREI81HEIL  mA
RMB118.1 million, and any reasonably possible change W [5] & B8 BT 4K R 9 B B SR (R AR A
in the other key assumptions on which the recoverable FHEREAREDHT2EERS
amount is based would not cause the cash-generating EABMNEREEARETKE
unit's carrying amount to exceed its recoverable amount. ¥ o
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15. Goodwill (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

Aluminium packaging cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of the aluminium packaging
cash-generating unit was determined based on a value-
in-use calculation using cash flow projections based on
financial budgets covering a five-year period approved by
senior management. The discount rate applied to the cash
flow projections was 13.3% and cash flows beyond the
five-year period were extrapolated using a growth rate of
2%, which was the same as the long term average growth
rate of the packaging industry.

Assumptions were used in the value-in-use calculation of
the tinplate packaging, plastic packaging and aluminium
packaging cash-generating units as at 31 December
2018. The following describes each key assumption on
which management has based its cash flow projections to
undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Budgeted gross margins — Management determined the
budgeted gross margins based on past performance and
its expectations for market development.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before
tax and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant
cash-generating units.

Raw materials price inflation — The basis used to determine
the value assigned to raw materials price inflation is the
forecast price indices during the budget year for Mainland
China from where the raw materials are sourced.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, due to
the reduction in the expected growth rates of certain
subsidiaries of Victoria Industrial Group which are
principally engaged in plastic packaging, the directors
of the Company considered that an impairment loss of
RMB7,000,000 was recognised for the related goodwill with
a carrying amount of RMB97,892,000.

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2018 Eﬁ%iﬁ?ﬁﬁﬂ“ﬁ

2018412 H31H

15. B8 (&)

BERENR (F)

15 R o E LB

B RReELESUMAT KB EE
DIRBEREEHEETE - EEA
ANEREEEIEN R FHIIK
EEMReRETEDN - @ARERS
METERAELIE X 513.3% MR
AFHEEMIBEESRETEA2%H
WREREE - DE\ETEMNRER
I RE o

AESOEAE  BRERENKER
ERGEEBEMN2018F12H31H
REREBRERBBRE - U THHEl
BIRE R EITR BRE R R AT
ANSEEXZERESRSTBIER

BEENE - EBERBAERR
MEmEERNEREEREEN

5 o

REE — FERMREIR R S AT R
RIRERBREEEEVA BN
ERE -

R EHEBR — RIEEERME
EBREBRENEESTEANM (R
MERE) NREFENTRAE
RIEEK -

H E2015F12831B It FE - &
REBEEER (FBLEBEE
) 2ETHBAR AR R
WL ARABREERAREEAA
R#97,892,000c 2 BB ELD ##
IR AR ¥7,000,0007T 2 BEE
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Notes to Financial Statements
Eji%iﬁ%%ﬁﬁ%f 31 December 2018

2018512 H31H

16. Other Intangible Assets

16. HAthBLEE

Customer Patents Computer
relationship and licences  software Total
EFEBE%E BARST EREHG &5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTRT AR®BTR AR®TR AR%Tx

31 December 2018 2018%F12831H
Cost at 1 January 2018, netof 201851 A1H ZBAN -

accumulated amortisation N Rty 1,540 20,009 9,811 31,360
Additions NG - - 2,396 2,396
Amortisation provided FAE RS

during the year - (2,760) (2,042) (4,802)
Disposal BE - - - -
At 31 December 2018 2018127318 1,540 17,249 10,165 28,954
At 31 December 2018 2018512 H31H

Cost %N 1,540 36,562 25,855 63,957

Accumulated amortisation R i - (19,313) (15,690) (35,003)

Net carrying amount RESE 1,540 17,249 10,165 28,954
31 December 2017 20175128318
At 1 January 2017 20171418

Cost BAR 1,540 36,562 20,519 58,621

Accumulated amortisation B i - (13,838) (12,065) (25,903)
Net carrying amount BREFE 1,540 22,724 8,454 32,718
Cost at 1 January 2017, net of ~ R2017F1 B1AZRA -

accumulated amortisation MR Rt A 1,540 22,724 8,454 32,718
Additions NE - - 3,040 3,040
Amortisation provided FREEEE

during the year - (2,715) (1,638) (4,353)
Disposal RE - - (45) (45)
At 31 December 2017 20175124318 1,540 20,009 9,811 31,360
At 31 December 2017: 720179128318 ¢

Cost B AR 1,540 36,562 23,459 61,561

Accumulated amortisation 2 - (16,553) (13,648) (30,201)
Net carrying amount REFE 1,540 20,009 9,811 31,360
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Notes to Financial Statements
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17. Investment in a Joint Venture 17. R—REELENRE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
2018 2017 BABARES
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFT
Share of net assets DEFEE 876,074 797,898
Goodwill on acquisition WEERr a2 1,167 1,167
877,241 799,065
Other non-current receivables H At IE TR B E UK 331,858 -
1,209,099 799,065
NOTES TO
In the opinion of the directors, the non-current receivables BEERA BEREHE (TR STATEMENTS
from the joint venture of RMB331,858,000 are considered T - BIRAEEERNIERE A F £
as part of the Group’s investment in the joint venture in A R #331,858,0007T 18 1E A~ & B
accordance with the Capital Increase Agreement (as REBLEMNITDILE -

defined below).

Particulars of the Group’s material joint venture are as TEBEFZEELENFBOT
follows:
Percentage of FIVE-YEAR
TIBERERAL FINANGIAL
Place of registration Ownership Voting Profit SUMMARY
. . . L I TFHHHE
Name and business interest power sharing  Principal activities
8 BRIV E gt RE FEERE TEER
Qingyuan JDB Herbal PRC/Mainland China 30.58 30.58 (note)  Research, development, production,
Plant Technology Co., Ltd. * (H:z) processing and sale of non-alcoholic
(“Qingyuan JDB Herbal”) beverages
BEMZE BN e/ REN W% F% - EE  MIRESEERHH

BRAR ([BEMSEER])

# Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another
member firm of the Ernst & Young global network

Note:

On 30 October 2017, CPMC Investment, an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a capital
increase agreement (the “Capital Increase Agreement”) with
Wisdom Kingdom Limited, Wong Lo Kat Limited (“Wong
Lo Kat”) and Qingyuan JDB Herbal, pursuant to which,
among others, CPMC Investment agreed to make a capital
contribution of RMB2,000,000,000 to Qingyuan JOB Herbal in
exchange for 30.58% equity interest therein, whilst Wong Lo
Kat will inject the JDB Trademarks to Qingyuan JDB Herbal
in exchange for 45.87% equity interest therein.

According to the Capital Increase Agreement, CPMC
Investment was ensured with a dividend of not less than
10% of the actual amount of the capital increase injected in
Qingyuan JDB Herbal in the first year, and the distributed
dividend shall increase year by year with a maximum amount
of 20% of the actual amount of the then capital increase
contributed by CPMC Investment (“Committed Dividend”).
The rate of the Committed Dividend cannot be reduced
after increased. The rate of the increase of the Committed
Dividend will be generally contributable to the business and
profitability of Qingyuan JDB Herbal in the upcoming years
and determined annually.

* UARHEBRKEIENEFEL

K EETENE TSI 2 BRATE 0 5 — ]
KB L EIFE

Wizt

R2017E10H308 » 2 2 7 &
BE2EMBEAG P IEERREH
BEEBERAG  TEZZHRLA
([FZZFRA]]) RERMZEE
RETTIEE G Fl (AF
) PlEaRREFIEENRK
2,000,000,0007T » # 7 15 B )& &
T % B EK30.58%89 K17 1 &
FREI AR RN Z EE A FAM
ZEHIZE EMIFHE45.87%H K

IRIFIE B s% - R IEBERE
EERRE TMERE —F)FENZ
BEELXGEIEELEERNT10% @ A5
B EFZFFIEN  REREAF
1EERKREE IR EERE L
H120% ([# G5B )) o & # B8
HEOYTEIE 014 T BEF MR » A FZARE
HIIE PIIE B — R & ] K K & F )5 %
125 BB K ) 275 FE Fl6E 70 B A
FE WEFET -
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Notes to Financial Statements
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2018512 H31H

17. Investment in a Joint Venture (continued) 17.

The Group had made capital contribution up to
RMB877,241,000 as at 31 December 2018 (31 December
2017: RMB799,065,000). However, Wong Lo Kat had not
injected the JDB trademarks to Qingyuan JDB Herbal
as undertaken in the Capital Increase Agreement.
Consequently, the Group had filed an arbitration application
to the Hong Kong International Arbitration Centre on 6
July 2018 against Wong Lo Kat, Wisdom Kingdom and
Qingyuan JDB Herbal, demanding these companies to
continue executing the Capital Increase Agreement by
fulfilling their capital increase obligations and compensate
the Group for its losses due to their breach of contract.
Since the arbitration is in progress and no dividend was
either declared by Qingyuan JDB Herbal or compensated
by Wong Lo Kat or Wisdom Kingdom Limited up to the
date of these financial statements, no Committed Dividend
was recognised during the year of 2018.

The Group’s shareholding in Qingyuan JDB Herbal is held
through a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

Qingyuan JDB Herbal, which is considered a material joint
venture of the Group, is accounted for using the equity
method.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information in respect of Qingyuan JDB Herbal adjusted for
any differences in accounting policies and reconciled to the
carrying amount in the financial statements. The operating
performance information for the years ended 31 December
2017 and 2018 of Qingyuan JDB Herbal disclosed below
shows the full-year operating results.

R—REELENRE (&)

MR2018F12H31H * & & [=!
EANE R E AR 877,241,000
7T (20175%12A831H: A R #
799,065,000t AT EEFHF A
A B <P IR E W AT E AR S )
BRINZEBEERNFTIANZEEIEZ -
otk - AREBE D R2018F7 A6H M
EABBRMPRPLOHTEST QA
EEMBERMNZEEREHME A
B BARRSERABERITIEE H
ZOBTESHNIEEEMT  UHRE
LENEAREFBERNIBLRAASE
BELEE  AREEZRITBRE
BHILRRMDEEE  BENZE
BAVKRERKE  TEH AR
EEARAREARELFEE " &
2018F M EFER AL S o

AEBPNBENSEEROBETD
BERARAEEMBARRS -

BEMZEERN (RERANEEZ
ETBREDRR) INMEREAAR -

TRINTEBBEENZEEAR 2B
BERBE (EREREtmE:s
BEEEAR) RAPERRETE
ZHE - UTHENBEMZEE
K E =2017F K2018F12H31H

=
i e

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T AREFIT
Cash Be 60,995 9,217
Other current assets EtnEEE 2,404,028 2,109,114
Non-current assets, excluding goodwill  JEREEE (TEHERE) 609,141 659,711
Goodwill on acquisition of the joint IR & SRR E
venture 1,167 1,167
Current liabilities BB E (291,891) (394,517)
Non-current liabilities ERBAG (47,186) (50,181)
Net assets REE 2,736,254 2,334,511
Net assets, excluding goodwill BEE (TMeEREE) 2,735,087 2,333,344
Proportion of the Group’s ownership REBERFTAREL D 30.58% 30.58%
Group's share of net assets of the AEEEEEEDER
joint venture, excluding goodwill FEE (MREFE) 876,074 797,898
Goodwill on acquisition I B RS O g 22 1,167 1,167
Carrying amount of the investment HERREE 877,241 799,065
Revenue WA 304,273 480,138
(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive F£E (EER),/ FEKE
(loss)/income for the year 2Mm (B518), /WAL (7,008) 44,001

CPMC Holdings Limited frigf &2 ii AR AT
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31 December 2018 B =
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18. Investment in an Associate 18. R—XEEQATHNRE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
2018 2017 BARSTEE

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® T ARETIT

Share of net assets JEBEE 24,984 24,984

EF - ZRXBERRZERFTERNY
TR M 5E36(b) W EE

The entrusted loan to the associate is disclosed in note
36(b) to the financial statements.

Particulars of the Group’s associate that is not individually AL B IFE R BEANE QR F';mﬁ[s“}\?
material: ZwE STATEMENTS
B ERMEE
Percentage of
Place of ownership
incorporation/ interest
registration attributable to
Name and business the Group Principal activity
AR, BRER FEEELRE
£78 E3i 8 MEEEAL  IEEB .
Liaoning Zhong'an Can-making Co., Ltd PRC/Mainland China 25 Manufacture of metal FINANGIAL
(Liaoning Zhong'an) packaging ﬁﬁgﬂg%g
BEERLZHBARAR ([(BEPZ]) FE BN HETERE

REBERBE QAR ETERA
RANZEMBRRFE

The Group’s shareholding in the associate is held through
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

TRINTEHEEERLZRERRS
AIZHMBERBME (B EmAest
BREZRMELFE) REMBEHREK

The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information in respect of Liaoning Zhong'an Can-making
Co., Ltd adjusted for any differences in accounting policies

and reconciled to the carrying amount in the financial BRIEE 2 $18R -
statements:
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTFT
Cash and cash equivalents HENMREEEY 1,624 52
Other current assets Hithns&E 70,877 94,676
Current assets MENVE E 72,501 94,728
Non-current assets, excluding goodwill — FEREIEE (TEIEEE) 188,179 53,456
Current liabilities nRBBE (169,580) (73,249)
Non-current liabilities MBI AE (30,000) -
Net assets FEE 61,100 74,935
Reconciliation to the Group’s REBEREZE N FR
investment in the associate: & HER -
Proportion of the Group’s ownership REE R FTB RELL 25% 25%
Carrying amount of the investment KENEREE 25,000 25,000
Revenue L ON 74,971 -
Loss and total comprehensive loss FEBEIEAEBEATE
for the year (10,377) (65)
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CONSOLDATED 18. Investment in an Associate (continued) 18. R—XBELQTNRE (F)
STATEMENT OF
;AAS':E;LQ‘:VYES% Pursuant to the Joint Venture Contract entered between BEPRBERERB LI KZBE
. CPMC Investment and Anshan Yong'an packaging industry TEERAR ([#&ILUXE]) FTAIH
Co. Ltd (“Anshan Yong'an”), CPMC was ensured with EEHE WMRTERBEREES
a preferential dividend amounting to 15% of its capital HELERESEAENEB E2018F
contribution in Liaoning Zhong'an in the year ended 31 12A31BILEEMEEFLRTIES
December 2018. Starting from year 2019, the dividend RERI15% - B2019F R - IRE©
will increase to 20% of its capital contribution untii CPMC BREMEETESEN20% B
selects to vest its call option to increase capital investment ZHIEBRKREEEZN2023F1TE
e at the then fair value to be mutually agreed and obtain HRBEHEAREFHEN A TE
FINANCIAL the control of Liaoning Zhong'an in 2023. If there’s any EMERKE W EFEERZOIE
;;gg%’gs insufficient of profit generated from Anshan Yong’an, HlHE o MBI KEEENTEESE
Anshan Yong’an should make up CPMC Investment TR BUKZEATFERERE
for the shortfall and pay before May 31 in the following WRERE  WHRKFS5A31HATX
year. In case of excess profits, the excess profits shall e WFBESERXTE  MSBERE
be distributed according to the capital contribution ratio BAERRBET A E TR FE LR
of both parties and shall be paid before May 31 in the FLAD IR - WHRRFS5A3TA R
following year. If CPMC Investment obtains the control o e BRI ENR2023F K5
of Liaoning Zhong'an in 2023, the preferential dividend BRERTHEGE  BERENH
term shall terminate accordingly. As Liaoning Zhong'an PRENE R IE - BB E20185F 124
FIVE-YEAR \ -
FINANCIAL suffered loss during the year ended 31 December 2018, S1EITFEEERLEEEER  +
SUMMARY _ CPMC Investment did not recognise any share of losses RERREZESBRRAMERE
nEEE of the associate or any preferential dividend income in the RIE(REE A E BB E LR B
consolidated statement of profit or loss. A o
19. Inventories 19. ¥
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBFIT
Raw materials B 496,722 561,570
Work in progress ERL 198,255 191,579
Finished goods B 387,109 332,378
Consumables FEM 72,635 63,363
1,154,721 1,148,890
20. Trade and Bills Receivables 20. EZBUEREBRERS
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBFIT
Trade and bills receivables from KREBEZFEFNES
third-party customers JE U TR K FE U =% 1,575,232 1,520,496
Trade and bills receivables from R B R T R E S UG
related parties (Note 36(b)) JEWEEE (B17£36(b)) 118,352 111,618
1,693,584 1,632,114
Impairment BB (1,237) (1,321)
1,692,347 1,630,793
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20. Trade and Bills Receivables (continued)

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly
on credit, except for new customers, where payment
in advance is normally required. The credit period is
generally 30 to 180 days. Each customer has a maximum
credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control
over its outstanding receivables and has a credit control
department to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances
are reviewed regularly by senior management. In view of
the aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade
receivables related to a large number of diversified
customers, there is no significant concentration of credit
risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade
receivables are non-interest-bearing.

The Group’s trade receivables from related parties are
repayable on credit terms similar to those offered to the
major customers of the Group.

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables as
at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice
date and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2018 Eji%*&%lzﬁﬂ

2018412 H31H

20. EZBEURERRERRE (&)

AEBEGETEFPEEDR  HEP
RERABEMNK - FEH—RA30
E180K - BHEEFPHARSEER
B ARBESREBEHERER
FEMR R - RRIEEEHE R E
ERBEERE aRERAED
SERRIBHRR - ERX Lt E
RASENE ZERYGKEXETR
BRHEFER RABERKETE
ERR - ARETAREEHEK
REsmETAERREBER
ReE - BHRUYGRALTEE e

AEBEBEALZBESRERTIZ
AAEETIZ2FFPRHNEBUEER

R EE -

RBEEHRRNEZRER R EER
BEREZHY - XMBREBEEEBN
FRECDOMTIAE -

2018 2017

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR%T T ARETT

Within 3 months 3EAA 1,209,994 1,364,878
3 to 12 months 3E121E A 480,432 263,837
1 to 2 years 1224 1,800 1,949
Over 2 years 2F LA 121 129
1,692,347 1,630,793

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of
trade receivables are as follows:

B RKFHREBEREEEZSHN
N

2018 2017

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBETT AREF T

At 1 January M1A1H 1,321 1,679
Impairment losses, net (Note 6) BEEEFE (fit6) 513 (14)
Amount written off as uncollectible sE AUk B 2 £ 78 (597) (344)
At 31 December M12A31H 1,237 1,321
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Notes to Financial Statements
g SR

31 December 2018
2018 12A31H

20. Trade and Bills Receivables (continued) 20. EF R REWRE (&)
Impairment under HKFRS 9 for the year ended 31 B E2018F 12831 HIF FEEEL
December 2018 B EERE A (E
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting MNEmE A HRABEEERETR
date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit BEDH  LFrEEBEESE - &
losses. The provision rates are based on days past due HEDENRAEFRUBEEREXNZ
for groupings of various customer segments with similar E= o AR (B iR IE &=
loss pattern (i.e., by geographical region, product type, EmER  EPERRTRARE
customer type and rating, and coverage by letters of REIAEMERXBERRRES)
credit or other forms of credit insurance). The calculation K EIREUETE - ZeatERBPLE
reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of MigEER  BERERNRSHEH
money and reasonable and supportable information that is AN ERBTEIE  ERIGEHR
available at the reporting date about past events, current RIREERFTERANEERAEE
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. Ko —RmME - WE 5 E W KE H
Generally, trade receivables are written off if past due for A= - A TLAMEE BT XH
more than three years and are not subject to enforcement FTIVERR -
activity.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk TREABEBDBERTBHEAEE
exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using a B S RUGE AR R ER
provision matrix:
As at 31 December 2018 20185 12H31H
Past due
il
Less than 1to3 Over
Current 1 month years 3 years Total
H# HSR-—@EA —Z=EA BB=EA b
Expected credit loss rate BHEEBEX 0.01% 0.03% 4.80% 33.34% 0.08%
Gross carrying amount BIREE
(RMB’000) (AREFTT) 1,536,191 8,000 3,044 2,945 1,550,180
Expected credit losses EHEEEER
(RMB’000) (AREFT) 107 2 146 982 1,237

Impairment under HKAS 39 for the year ended 31
December 2017

Included in the above provision for impairment of trade
receivables is a provision for individually impaired trade
receivables, which was measured based on incurred credit
losses under HKAS 39, as at 31 December 2017 was a
provision for individually impaired trade receivables of
RMB1,321,000 with a carrying amount before provision of
RMB1,321,000.

The individually impaired trade receivables as at 31
December 2017 related to customers that were in financial
difficulties or were in default in interest and/or principal
payments and only a portion of the receivables is expected
to be recovered.

CPMC Holdings Limited frigf &2 ii AR AT

BE2017F12H31HiF FEEE S
ATERE 395 H T #9618
ErZESEWRERES
B8 ¥ 2017 12A318 AR
1,321,000 L@ B BB E 5 FE U
2 BE (REE B ERIFE395%
MEFHEEBEE)  ERHNE
HEAARM1,321,0007T ©

R2017F12A31HEARE RMEEZ S
JE R B AE B 7 TR B ok R BE (B IR 7
BR/SAezBFEEH BEA
B FE MR SR TR HR P U [B) o
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20. EZBEURERRERRE (&)

20. Trade and Bills Receivables (continued)

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
The ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at R2017F 12 A31HRIER B T4 FCAASH FLOWS
December 2017 that were not individually nor collectively RIIZE 3998 R (@ Rl = = R 43 AR A RERSRER

considered to be impaired under HKAS 39 is as follows: KB 5 WK R IR IR
DI CENE

2017

RMB’000

AREFT

Neither past due nor impaired R R ARE 1,616,344
Less than 1 month past due B B 1 {E A 9,162 F'Ill?;\rﬁgl}?.
1 to 3 months past due #HR1Z=31E A 1,929 STATEMENTS
More than 3 months past due 260 BREB A 31E H 3,358 i+ B

1,630,793

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired
related to a large number of diversified customers for
whom there was no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate
to a number of independent customers that had a good
track record with the Group. Based on past experience,
the directors of the Company were of the opinion that no
provision for impairment under HKAS 39 was necessary
in respect of these balances as there had not been a
significant change in credit quality and the balances were
still considered fully recoverable.

At 31 December 2018, the Group endorsed certain
bills receivables accepted by banks in the PRC (the
“Derecognised Bills”) to certain of its suppliers in order
to settle the trade payables due to such suppliers with
a carrying amount in aggregate of RMB554,627,000
(2017: RMB1,190,203,000). The Derecognised Bills
have a maturity from one to six months at the end of the
reporting period. In accordance with the Law of Negotiable
Instruments in the PRC, the holders of the Derecognised
Bills have a right of recourse against the Group if the PRC
banks default (the “Continuing Involvement”). In the opinion
of the directors, the Group has transferred substantially
all risks and rewards relating to the Derecognised
Bills. Accordingly, it has derecognised the full carrying
amounts of the Derecognised Bills and the associated
trade payables. The maximum exposure to loss from the
Group’s Continuing Involvement in the Derecognised Bills
and the undiscounted cash flows to repurchase these
Derecognised Bills is equal to their carrying amounts. In
the opinion of the directors, the fair values of the Group’s
Continuing Involvement in the Derecognised Bills are not
significant.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group has
not recognised any gain or loss on the date of transfer of
the Derecognised Bills (2017: Nil). No gains or losses were
recognised from the Continuing Involvement, both during
the year or cumulatively.

R 380 5 O R ORI (B RO JE MR B AT HR
BRFEHEHNRETRERNEFE

B8 BB R VB IR (B 2 FE Wk T B AR
SEARURHRBFIAEBYE
ﬁﬁ%°ﬂﬁﬂ&mﬁ'$ﬁﬁ%
ERR - RFEBME - ARNME
LE§I$%$EK ‘g B
%WT@E*%W@ BAREE
% AT 2E B S5 3955 5 /A B 1tk 4F i (E
ﬁﬂ@%ﬁ

MN2018%F12A31H » A& E B H
%%1&% EPBHZRIBTE
4 ) & ?E%TﬁﬁmﬁﬁMT
B LWEEBEMEBEERER
{8 N R #554,627,0007T (2017
F 0 AR #1,190,203,0007T) H
B SREM c RMER - BUERE
REENIPHERNFE—2 <@
B REPREREEL  MxEHH
RITEY  BUBBERERIFEAY
AEEHEEBRE ([HBEFHR]D -
i% 7% Z’K%@E;HHX/IJZ]EEMT
ERBAImER KB RER - B
mvﬁam%% REUEERZR K
HEESEMNZNE2EEmE - &
EERFESRIEEREZEXE
BRZEEEEREEMNRIIAR
EMEMEATN RS EEBRKRAE
b‘/\\/ﬁ;/@rﬁﬁﬁ %%umﬁ KEI%‘T
BHRBCEHEREROAFEL T
EKXR-

HE2018F12831HILFE » K&
BV ERNEZECEERZ R 2 B
I B (20174 : &) o REE
IEM SESRERFARRTE
}gg °
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CONSOLIDATED 21. Prepayments, Other Receivables and Other 21. AN - Ht KRR Efb
STATEMENT OF Assets BE
CASH FLOWS
BARERRE
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTFT ARBFIT
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments to third-party suppliers FERFE=HHERZ
B 172,522 139,391
Deposits e 14,642 14,677
L‘u?:TAE»chEL Input VAT recoverable AUk [E] 2 #E IR (E 93,633 201,911
STATEMENTS Prepaid expenses A& R 16,806 13,281
bp S Bl Other receivables Hofth & IR 40,009 44,693
Amounts due from related parties FEUEE A+ 5RIR
(Note 36(b)) (H15%36(b)) 5,690 11,796
Entrusted loan to an associate B —XREZE QA
(Note 36(b)) ZEER (B1:236(b)) - 54,000
Prepaid land lease payments (Note 14)  Faft+ini & (#14) 7,663 7,752
350,965 487,501
CVEVEAR Impairment allowance ER R (3,874) (3,905)
FINANCIAL 347,091 483,596
SUMMARY
RERHHE Non-current assets FREBEE
Prepaid expenses TERTR S 17,699 15,730
Prepayment for acquisition of W — KM B A EIH
non-controlling interests eI A R 2 TR AR - 10,739
17,699 06,469
The Group’s non-current prepayment of RMB10,739,000 2017612 431 A A S E FEANHITE
as at 31 December 2017 is a prepayment in relation to AR #10,739,0007T - Jh B 8
the proposed acquisition of 8.7% equity interest in FC EEAHEERBRRNEKE AR
Packaging (Harbin), a then 91.3% owned subsidiary, (MBE) (BAEREERFEF.3%
from its non-controlling shareholder. The acquisition was ZWEBRAR]) 8.7%IME 2 FEMFK -
completed on 22 January 2018 and FC Packaging (Harbin) W i % 1B B M2018F 17220 =&
became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group thereafter. B okERR (BMRE) HEK AR
SEZ2EWBAR -
None of the above assets is either past due or impaired. T EERARBHRIRRBE - bl
The financial assets included in the above balances related FEHANBEN SR EEMTERE
to receivables for which there was no recent history of RECERHFENCR B -
default.
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21. Prepayments, Other Receivables and Other
Assets (continued)

The movements in the provision for impairment of

prepayments and other receivables are as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2018 Eji%*ﬁi%lzﬁﬂ

2018412 H31H

21. AR - HttEW R K EA4

5E (&)

TE A 3R e E A 8 SRR 7 e
e

2018 2017

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T R AREFIT

At 1 January ®1A1H 3,905 3,994
Impairment losses reversed (Note 6) B OURERE (#1it6) (6) (91)
Amount written off as uncollectible s R Y Ol 2 & %8 (25) 2
At 31 December ®12A31H 3,874 3,905

Included in the Group’s prepayments, other receivables
and other assets as at 31 December 2017 was an
interest-bearing entrusted loan to an associate of
RMB54,000,000. The entrusted loan was unsecured, bore
interest at a rate of 4.35% per annum and was repaid on

24 December 2018.

Prepayments and other receivables mainly represent loans
to employees, advances to employees and prepayments
to suppliers. As there were no comparable companies with
credit ratings can be identified, expected credit losses are
estimated by applying a loss rate approach with reference
to the historical loss record of the Group. The loss rate is
adjusted to reflect the current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions, as appropriate. The 12-month
ECL loss rate applied for where there are no comparable

companies as at 31 December 2018 was 0.4%.

Except for the above impaired other receivables, the
financial assets included in the above balances related to
receivables for which there was no recent history of default.

N £ B 7»2017F12A318 /) 38 f+
R EBEMERGREEMEERES
F-EBEARNFTEETLERA
R #54,000,0007T - £t E R A%
BRI F R4.35%H 8 0 HER
2018F 12 H24HIEE -

TE R REMERGEZIESL TE
EMER BTEEMNREBEREL
ST HER B FIE - AR RAE R
FEAEEFANATELRAR A
EEESEBREBBILHREBE
AEEEAGHFEREEEE - B
BE B EE RRE DR R
W E R R TR R R E G R ¥
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Notes to Financial Statements
Eji‘%i&%ﬁj% 31 December 2018

2018512 H31H

22. Cash and Cash Equivalents and Pledged

22. BERESEBYREIENA

Deposits LEE
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARBTT
Cash and bank balances W& RIRTTEER 92,537 440,818
Deposits in COFCO Finance (Note 36(b)) FAHIEBIFSEITFEIR
(Htz36(b)) 801,340 270,361
Time deposits TE BT 51,696 72,411
945,573 783,590
Less: Pledge time deposits: o BT EITE
Pledged for letters of credit IEAFEEEA (3,190) (21,252)
Pledged for bills payable (Note 23) RENEERCER
(K15£23) (48,506) (51,159)
(51,696) (72,411)
Cash and cash equivalents B4 RIBSEEY 893,877 711,179

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and
cash equivalents and pledged deposits of the Group
denominated in RMB amounted to RMB823,013,000 (2017:
RMB529,516,000). The RMB is not freely convertible
into other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration
of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB
for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are
made for varying periods of between one day and three
months depending on the immediate cash requirements
of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short
term time deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged
deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with no
recent history of default.

All the above deposits in COFCO Finance have a short
maturity of less than three months and a determinable
return when acquired. In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, these deposits in COFCO Finance are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value.

CPMC Holdings Limited frigf &2 ii AR AT

RB|ERR - NEBUAREE
MRS RBEcEEMREERT
R A A R #823,013,0007T (2017
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23. Trade and Bills Payables

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills payables as at the
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is
as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2018 Eji%*&%lzﬁﬂ

2018412 H31H

23. ESEARRENRE

RBEHR REZEBHFAENE
SN TR ENZEHNERE DTN
T

2018 2017

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T R AREFIT

Within 3 months 3MEAR 1,056,612 786,661
3 to 12 months 3&12{@ A 125,188 453,309
1 to 2 years 1224 6,231 3,582
Over 2 years 2EPA 7,674 5,487
1,195,705 1,249,039

Among the trade and bills payables, no trade payables
(2017: RMB466,000) were due to COFCO (Hong Kong)
and its subsidiaries, and trade payables of RMB2,594,000
due to ORG Technology and its subsidiaries (2017:
RMB44,515,000) are repayable within 90 days, which
represents credit terms similar to those offered by that
fellow subsidiary to its major customers (Note 36(b)).

As at 31 December 2018, certain of the Group’s bills
payable were secured by the Group’s bank deposits
amounting to RMB48,506,000 (2017: RMB51,159,000)
(Note 22).

Trade and bills payables are non-interest-bearing and the
credit terms are normally 30 to 90 days.

BORNREENZERREER
PREELEMBARNE S E
NHRAREZ T (2017F : AR
¥466,0007T) M JE (- B I & B3
MERNBRARANESENRTAR
#2,594,0007C (20174 : A R ¥
44,515,0007T) + % & 18 A 7190
HRESE HBZRRMBRRSLT
HEFXZRPZEERFAEML (M
36(b)) °

R2018%F12A31H » KAEBMHET
ENEBRUAEBRIRITFERA L
A R #48 506,0007T (20174 : A
R #51,159,0007T) E#& # (K 7%
22) °

EE5RMNALRENZEBEL TS
HHEERAHMER30E90H -
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Notes to Financial Statements
Eﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ% 31 December 2018

2018512 H31H

CONSOLIDATED 24. Other Payables and Accruals 24. Ht B R FERHIE B
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
BARGNER 2018 2017
20185 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARETTT
Receipt in advance BRI - 56,241
Contract liabilities BHEE 48,365 -
Refund liabilities RRAE 5,955 -
Salary and welfare payables TERTE REF| 96,034 86,332
L‘IE:ITAENSJEL Accrued expenses [ETE R 35,409 53,805
STATEMENTS Guarantee deposits from suppliers HERRER 16,177 16,708
BIRHRHE Payables for purchases of equipment R EENTE 89,226 79,978
Amounts due to related parties EREBEALRUR
(Note 36(b)) (H1:£36(b)) 904 611
Tax payables other than current income BRE EFTS T B BN
tax liabilities FERTIIR 57,390 41,473
Considerations payable for I B AT 2 R E
acquisition of subsidiaries 20,591 56,741
Others Ht 20,622 11,453
e 390,673 403,342
SUMMARY
ASRITRS Contract liabilities are short-term advances received BHABT RN THEE M mim
to deliver industrial products. The decrease in contract KRS EREA SR - B B EMR20185 R/
liabilities in 2018 was due to the decrease in short-term D THE gh R R A T2 EE i W ER
advances received from customers in relation to the B2 BREA TR TR ©
delivery of industrial goods at the end of the year.
Other payables and accruals are non-interest-bearing and BN SRR EFTIBEE L TEE -
have an average term of three months. FHEMR=MEA -
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25, Derivative Financial Instruments

The Group has entered into various commodity
futures contracts to manage its market price risk
arising from the fixed unit price of aluminium to
certain of the Group’s customers conducted in the
normal course of business. These commodity futures
contracts are measured at fair value through profit
or loss. A net fair value gain on derivative financial
instruments of RMB12,001,000 (2017: Net fair value
loss of RMB1,497,000) was recognised in cost of
sales in the statement of profit or loss during the year
(Note 6).

26. Interest-Bearing Bank Borrowings

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2018 Eﬂﬁiﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂ

2018412 H31H

25. fTEE®MTA

AEBEITVZHERBEEREN
AREREREBBERAEES
TR HETEBMBAKATERA
MEERRR ZESEPARE
NIEAFEFTFTABR  FRNTE
TRHTENFAFERSZEARE
12,001,0007T (20174 : EF A FE
B8 AR #1,497,0007T) B HERA
BERNEERAF (izEe)

26. FTRRITER

2018 2017
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity ~ RMB’000 rate (%) Maturity RMB'000
ERAE ERAE
(%) 38 AR®TR (%) 8 ARBTE
Current L
Bank loans - unsecured RITER - BHER  2.55-3.01 2019 2,142,232 1.60-2.25 2018 961,297
Non-current FEEH
Bank loans - unsecured BITER — WKW 256-296  2020-2021 1,950,954 2.07-222  2019-2020 2,286,970
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T ARBTF T
Analysed into: DA
Bank loans repayable: JER T %I BfEE R
RITER -
Within one year F—FN 2,142,232 961,297
In the second year F_F 960,848 1,372,182
In the third to fifth years, inclusive F=EFERF
BEERME 990,106 914,788
4,093,186 3,248,267
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All bank borrowings are denominated in United States
dollars and Hong Kong dollars.
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Notes to Financial Statements
Eji%iﬁ%%ﬁﬁ%f 31 December 2018

2018512 H31H

CONSOLIDATED 27. Deferred Tax 27. EEBIIE
STATEMENT OF
%AE:E;LQ‘:V;% The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during FRELERBEEERBEHESHN
. the year are as follows: T
Deferred tax liabilities ELERESE
2018
Accelerated
Accelerated tax  Accelerated
NOTES TO tax  depreciation tax
;'T’:G’E‘&'é\"h s amortisation  of property, amortisation
S E of land plantand  of intangible
use rights equipment assets Total
n%- BER
tifEREe  REemE  BVEEZ
MEBE BERE  mEHASH a3t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARETR ARBTR ARETR
At 1 January 2018 201851718 4,640 8,129 5,009 17,778
FIVE-YEAR Deferred tax (credited)/charged to REEEEABRRR
Ell,J\llG,l:‘/ICAlQ# the consolidated statement of profit or GtA) /B EER B
RERHHD loss during the year (Note 10) (Hi#10) (4o1) 909 (679) (171)
Gross deferred tax liabilities at 201851243184
31 December 2018 BEEHERE 4,239 9,038 4,330 17,607
Deferred tax assets EEMRIEEE
Losses
available for
Provision for Provision for  offsetting
Provision for impairment of impairment against
impairment prepayments Provision for  of property, future
oftrade  andother write-down  plant and taxable
receivables receivables of inventories  equipment profits Others Total
RARR % TREER

LULLC L BE RERRG REBRR

RERRE BERE KEREE 2HERE ERGAE St it
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMBO0O  RMBOO0  RMB000
ARRTR ARETR ARRTR ARETZ ARRTR ARETR ARRTR

At 1 January 2018 R018E1 A1 157 957 47 1,539 9,399 9,632 21,731
Deferred tax credited(charged) to the PMEESARERA
consolidated statement of profitor loss 3 A /(¥1) &

during the year (Note 10) HE i) 38 (16) - - of 936 1,869
Gross deferred tax assets at R018E12A3184
31 December 2018 BREENRAE 195 9 47 1,539 10,310 10568 23,600

274 CPMC Holdings Limited Fifgm 51k AR A 7




Notes to Financial Statements

31 December 2018 =
20184124318 SRR ML
27. Deferred Tax (continued) 27. EEBIIE (&)
Deferred tax liabilities EEBEEE
2017
Accelerated
Accelerated tax  Accelerated
tax  depreciation tax
amortisation of property, amortisation
of land plantand  of intangible
use rights equipment assets Total
nE BER
TiEREL Rz EVAEZ
MEHESH WERE  EiEs @5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETT  ARETR  ARETR ARETR
At 1 January 2017 720171 F1H 217 5,791 5,688 13,596
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 31) IREEN B AR (f1:231) 2598 2,991 - 5,589
Deferred tax credited to the consolidated WREEGABERA
statement of profit or loss during the year STARRERE (f77210)
(Note 10) (75) (653) (679) (1,407)
Gross deferred tax liabilities at F2017F 123186
31 December 2017 EELREERE 4,640 8,129 5,009 17,778
Deferred tax assets ELEBBEEE
Provision for Provision for Losses
Provision for  impairment of Provision ~ impairment  available for
impairment of  prepayments forwrite-  of property, offsetting
trade and other down of plantand  against future
receivables  receivables inventories equipment taxable profits Others Total
Bk nx IREER
SARIE  ABEYR e ERRRE  REBRR
HERR RERE HERE  JHERE  ERBAE if 5t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB1000 RMB'000 RMB1000

ARETT  ARETn  ARETr  ARETn  ARETR  ARETR ARETR

At 1 January 2017 Ho017E1A1H 225 980 308 1,539 5130 12,907 21,089
Deferred tax credited(charged) REERGABREMHA/

{0 the consolidated statement (H18) BICRE ()

of profit or loss during the year

(Note 10) (68) 23) (261) - 4269 (3275) 642
Gross deferred tax assets Ho017512A318H)

at 31 December 2017 BETREEE 157 957 47 1,539 9399 9632 21,731
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Notes to Financial Statements
Eﬂi‘%iﬁ%ﬁﬁ%} 31 December 2018

2018512 H31H

27. Deferred Tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
the following items:

27. EERIE (F)

WABTHIEEBRELRIEE
=

2018 2017

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR%ETR AREFT

Tax losses TIBE1E 57,880 64,340
Deductible temporary differences AT E RS =R 85 (28)

57,965 64,312

The above tax losses are available indefinitely for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the companies in which the
losses arose. Deferred tax assets have not been
recognised in respect of the above items as it is not
considered probable that taxable profits will be available
against which the above items can be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a
10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises
established in Mainland China. The requirement is effective
from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31
December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be
applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland China and
the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group, the
applicable rate is 5% or 10%. The Group is therefore liable
for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those
subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of
earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

CPMC Holdings Limited g3 HIR AR
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RARBRBEAESERTANBEAR
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Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2018 Eﬂﬁ%%ﬁ%ﬁﬁi

2018412 H31H

28. Share Capital 28. A
Shares [iidv)
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETT
Issued and fully paid: BEITREC :
1,174,560,000 (2017: 1,174,560,000) 1,174,560,000/% & A%
ordinary shares (20174F : 1,174,560,0000%) 2,730,433 2,730,433
A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital RARRAZEBEZ0T -
is as follows:
Number of
shares inissue  Share capital
ERITROEE [N
RMB’000
AR¥T T
At 1 January 2017, 31 December 2017 2017118 -
and 31 December 2018 2017F12A318 &
201812 831H 1,174,560,000 2,730,433
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Notes to Financial Statements
Eﬂi‘%iﬁ%ﬁﬁ%} 31 December 2018

2018512 H31H

29. Reserves

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 178
of the financial statements.

Capital reserves

The capital reserves represent: 1) additional contribution
made by the non-controlling shareholders of the Company’s
subsidiaries; 2) in the case of an acquisition of an
additional equity interest in a non-wholly-owned subsidiary,
the difference between the cost of acquisition and the
non-controlling interests acquired and; 3) in the case of a
settlement of a shareholder’s loans, the difference between
the carrying amount of loans and the consideration.

Statutory reserve

Subsidiaries of the Company established in the PRC are
required to make appropriations to a certain statutory
reserve, namely the reserve funds, from their statutory
profit for the year after offsetting accumulated losses as
determined under the PRC accounting regulations from
prior years and before profit distribution to equity holders.
The percentage to be appropriated to such statutory
reserve funds is determined according to the relevant
regulations in the PRC at 10% or at the discretion of the
boards of directors of the respective companies.

CPMC Holdings Limited g3 HIR AR
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Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2018 Eﬂﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁi

2018412 H31H

30. Partly-Owned Subsidiaries with Material 30. EAERFERER 25D CONSOLIDATED
Non-Controlling Interests BEWEB AR STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
N L GaRERER
Details of the Group’s subsidiary that has material MBEBREERER NEENE | b
non-controlling interests are set out below: NRAFINNT :
2018 2017
Percentage of equity interests held by FEEBRERFRIER DL -
non-controlling interests:
Company A RAJA 38.52% 38.52%
. AR 0 9 NOTES T0
Company B ~FIB 45.30% 49.00% EINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
2018 2017 RS
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AR®FT
Profit/(loss) for the year allocated to DI EF RS
non-controlling interests: FEAE/(FE)
Company A RAA 6,464 1,728
Company B* ~AB* 3,556 (1,274)
Accumulated balances of non-controlling RS AR BN FFllkl//E;\lYCEIA/‘;FE
interests at the reporting dates: 25T SUMMARY
Company A AFA 113,860 107,395 REBIHHE
Company B* AFIB 232,708 193,553
*  Company B was newly acquired by CPMC Investment, a * REBIHAEEEENE L A
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, in March 2017. 1& B &£ 1 ER20174F35 i

B -
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Notes to Financial Statements
Eji%iﬁ%%ﬁﬁ%f 31 December 2018

2018512 H31H

30. AR EAFERER 2 HH
BEEMEAE (&)

TRHA LAME R RSOTEER
BME - FIEBESESKEMNREME

30. Partly-Owned Subsidiaries with Material
Non-Controlling Interests (continued)

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
ﬁAf}gfytgi . . . . X
TR The following tables illustrate the summarised financial
information of the above subsidiaries. The amounts

disclosed are before any inter-company eliminations: SRS 5T
Company A Company B
AFA AFIB
RMB’000 RMB’000
NOTES TO. ARBT T ARET T
FINANCIAL 2018 2018
STATEMENTS
Revenue WA 466,406 124,279
Total expenses F 42 %8 (449,625) (117,022)
Profit for the year FEFHE 16,781 7,257
Total comprehensive income for the year  EE2EW A 4258 16,781 7,257
Current assets BN EE 202,142 176,616
Non-current assets IEMBNVEE 206,870 378,049
Current liabilities MENEE (110,416) (40,659)
FVEVEAR Non-current liabilities IEMBNEME - -
E'L’]‘QR‘ACA'QYL Net cash flows used in KR TEENE R 2
BEBTEHE operating activities ReRBFHE (5,371) (12,096)
Net cash flows used in WEEEFER 2
investing activities REemEFE (17,701) (64,120)
Net cash flows from RVEREIEE Y
financing activities REMmEFE - 111,828
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and RERREEEY
cash equivalents CR) /15 (23,072) 35,612
Company A Company B
NAEA NG|
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTFT ARBTT
2017 2017
Revenue WA 429,925 -
Total expenses Bz 48%a (425,439) (2,600)
Profit/(loss) for the year FEFHE,(EB) 4,486 (2,600)
Total comprehensive income/ FE2EBA (EE)
(loss) for the year b 4,486 (2,600)
Current assets MENEE 222,222 93,358
Non-current assets EMENEE 209,563 314,277
Current liabilities MENAE (149,971) (12,888)
Non-current liabilities ERBALE - -
Net cash flows (used in)/from ETES (ER) EEZ
operating activities REenEFHE (576) 55,328
Net cash flows from/(used in) BEEHELE,(FA) 2
investing activities ReREFE 7,400 (152,677)
Net cash flows from financing activities REEEELEZ
e mEFE - 132,718
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents & NMIREEEY
BN 6,824 35,369
280 CPMC Holdings Limited {512 A R A 7




31. Business Combinations

Business combinations for the year ended 31 December
2017

On 15 March 2017, CPMC Investment, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into an
equity transfer agreement with Harvest Epoch International
Limited (“Harvest Epoch”) and Harvest Epoch Packaging
(Zhejiang) Co., Ltd.* (“Epoch Packaging”), pursuant
to which, CPMC Investment has conditionally agreed
to purchase 51% equity interests in Epoch Packaging
from Harvest Epoch at a total cash consideration of
RMB138,108,000. After the completion of the acquisition,
the Group held 51% equity interests in Epoch Packaging,
which is engaged in the business of the manufacture of
metal packaging.

On 27 March 2017, CPMC Investment entered into an
equity transfer agreement with two citizens of the PRC, both
being independent third parties (the “Vendors”), pursuant
to which CPMC Investment has agreed to purchase 100%
equity interests in Chengdu CPMC Canmaking Co., Ltd
(“Chengdu Can-making”) from the Vendors at a total cash
consideration of RMB74,966,000. After the completion of
the acquisition, the Group held 100% equity interests in
Chengdu Can-making, which is engaged in the business of
manufacture of metal packaging.

The Group had elected to measure the non-controlling
interest in Epoch Packaging at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of Epoch Packaging’s identifiable net
assets.

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2018 Eﬁ%iﬁi’%ﬁﬁ%ﬂi

2018412 H31H

31. ¥%56t

BZ2017F12A31 AL FE %%
&6t

M201743A15H > RAlEBERE
(AAEIMEE2ERBAR) Hi
ERRERAR ([485])) RIa
EEEERAR ([£BB%K]) 71
fere s E g - Bt PREBRER
EEBRMHRENEESREARE
138,108,000 E &2 B W IEL B B
HEM51%R AR o R E XK
BE AEBERELBEEES1%E
= ENENESBBRRER -

M201743A27H > AlEBERE
HERWAFEAR ((BEH] YAES
VEZRH)FIABREEZERS B
it PREBRZERENAERENR
B8 A R #74,966,0007T 8 & 77 W
BRESTEUEERAF ([AE
BIEE ) BI100% A% A8 25 © 7 B A
R EEE - NEE A KR
100% B At - ERERESER
EER o

AEBEDERRIFFRESELS

BERABMBEEFEZDHELY
AFERLCBRE Z IR -
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Notes to Financial Statements
Eji%iﬁ%%ﬁﬁ%f 31 December 2018

2018512 H31H

31. Business Combinations (continued)

Business combinations for the year ended 31 December

2017 (continued)

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of

31. XBEH (H)

a6t ()

BZE2017F12A31 AL FE %%

KHRBERZABMAIEERBERK

Epoch Packaging as at the date of acquisition were as BEEAMZAFEAT
follows:
Fair value
recognised
on acquisition
FA U B B
BRAZATLE
RMB’000
ARBTFT
Property, plant and equipment WIZE - BB R 132,241
Prepaid land lease payments TER TR E 23,752
Deposits for purchase of items of property, HEWE WELEEEBED
plant and equipment o 26,886
Prepayments, other receivables and other assets TARER - E MR R H At & B 13,414
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEFEY 71,513
Trade and bills payables Z RN T REMNEE (222)
Other payables and accruals o TR fEET IR B (190)
Tax payable FESTIE (12)
Deferred tax liabilities REHIBEE (2,882)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BATHETTE 2 AT #ER
FEREET 264,500
Non-controlling interests eI =S (129,605)
Goodwill on acquisition WA A 3,213
Satisfied by cash* B &H AR 138,108

CPMC Holdings Limited g a8 BR AT



31. Business Combinations (continued)

Business combinations for the year ended 31 December

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2018 Eji%*ﬁi%lzﬁﬂ

2018412 H31H

31. XBEH (H)

BZE2017F12A31 AL FE 2%

2017 (continued) a6t (&)
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of PEPEITE 2 AR B E R B BRI
Chengdu Can-making as at the date of acquisition were as BEERHZATFEAT :
follows:
Fair value
recognised
on acquisition
FA U B B
BRAZATLE
RMB’000
AR%T T
Property, plant and equipment E N YN L] 103,844
Prepaid land lease payments TER AR E 12,499
Deposits for purchase of items of property, HEWE WELEEEBEH
plant and equipment e 46,536
Prepayments, other receivables and other assets TARR - E MR R H A B B 3,538
Cash and cash equivalents Re RREEFEBY 15,462
Trade and bills payables B I ENFRENEE (1,171)
Other payables and accruals Hib NS R ERIER (127,654)
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIBEE (2,707)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BATHETTE 2 AT #ER
FEREMETE 50,347
Goodwill on acquisition g g2 24,619
Satisfied by cash* B &H AR 74,966
* A cash consideration of RMB36,150,000 out of the total Y FAWEEFEE ([KEFE]) A

cash consideration of RMB213,074,000 for the above
acquisitions (the “Acquisitions”) was paid by the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2018 (31 December
2017: RMB159,424,000), and the remaining consideration of
RMB17,500,000 was included in the Group’s other payables
and accruals as at 31 December 2018 (31 December 2017:

RMB53,650,000).

None of the goodwill recognised from the Acquisitions is
expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.

The Group incurred transaction costs of RMB520,000
for the Acquisitions. These transaction costs have been
expensed and are included in administrative expenses in

the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

B2 1B A K 213,074,000
.z B2 1B A K 36,150,000
gL (2017 12H31H « A K #
159,424,0007r) B R # 22018F
1283101 FEAAREBZ S
e~ 1B AR 17,500,000
L (2017 12H31H « A K #
53,650,0005T) B i A 7K £ 3 R
20184 12531 H #9 H i J& 17 54 &
fEFTIER °

BN BERRRAZAERTH
FEERIAEH -

AEBMAKBEEEELSKAA
R #520,0007C ° ZERXRHHAE
FHEIALBBEERARNZITH
X e
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Notes to Financial Statements
Eji‘%i&%ﬁj% 31 December 2018

2018512 H31H

CONSOLDATED 31. Business Combinations (continued) 31. EBEH ()
STATEMENT OF
;ﬁ%;ﬂgi Business combinations for the year ended 31 December BZE2017F12A31H L FEZ XK
T 2017 (continued) &6 (&)
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the Acquisitions FANBEENRSRES NN
is as follows: ™
RMB’000
AR%F T
Cash consideration RERE 159,424
L‘I(:ITAENSJEL Cash and cash equivalents acquired EEARSMASEED 86,975
STATEMENTS Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents BREKEEHEECREMEN
HBRENE included in cash flows from investing activities B4 hBSESEYRLFE 72,449
Transaction costs of the Acquisitions BEEREEHELEZHREREN
included in cash flows from operating activities WEE B IR HPAR (520)
71,929
32. Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Cash 32. RERSRBRME
Flows
FIVE-YEAR .
FINANGIAL (a) Major non-cash transactions (a) ﬂﬁ%g’EEZﬁﬁﬁg
Sﬁuyghﬁ%?;g During the year, the Group regarded the trade Eﬁ FARERER KRG E
“ receivables balance due from a joint venture as capital R E 5 YR AS BR 51
investment of RMB331,858,000 million (2017: Nil). AR A AR #331,858,000
JC (20174 « &)
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) MEZHELEZAERD
activities
Bank borrowings
RITER
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARBTT
At 1 January M1 A1E 3,248,267 2,427,950
Changes from financing cash flows MEBEEREZE 667,723 994,992
Foreign exchange movement HNE B 177,196 (174,675)
Interest expense FBFRX (90,366) (43,839)
Interest paid classified as DERLEREMZ
operating cash flows BEAFLE 90,366 43,839
At 31 December »m12A31H 4,093,186 3,248,267
33. Pledge of Assets 33. HHEE
Details of the Group’s letters of credit and bills payable, ARBEZERAERENRE (UK
which are secured by the assets of the Group, are included SECAERR) 2FBDRIBR
in notes 22 and 23, respectively, to the financial statements. B 22 5% 28
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34. Operating Lease Arrangements

(@)

(b)

As lessor

The Group leases its individual properties, which
was not qualified as an investment property, under
operating lease arrangements, with leases negotiated
for terms ranging from two to five years. The terms
of the leases generally also require the tenants to
pay security deposits and provide for periodic rent
adjustments according to the then prevailing market
conditions.

At 31 December 2018, the Group had total future
minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable
operating leases with its tenants falling due as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2018 Eji%*ﬁ% Bﬁ.-ﬂz

2018412 H31H

4. REHERH

(a) fEREEA
AEERBEEHERTHE
TREREREMENYED
B BERRNFMERF -
MEGRFBREREREL XM
REE - WA REE TSI
NERFHERSE -

K &£ B B2018F128318 R
HEEEM PRI T HI R E
B2 AR 48 & 1 & 0] I ER
ZARSERSBLTEOT

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000

—FR
E_ZFEREF

Within one year
In the second to fifth years, inclusive

(BREERMF)

ARET T ARBTT
2,551 -

8,930 -

11,481 -

As lessee

The Group leases certain of its office properties,
factories and warehouses under operating lease
arrangements. Leases for office properties, factories
and warehouses are negotiated for terms ranging from
one to six years.

At 31 December 2018, the Group had total future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases falling due as follows:

(b) ERFEBEA
AEERBCERELTHRA
ETHRAENE BERE
B-HTMREDE  BER
ERMHBNT—EAF -

K £ B H2018F12A31H &
BT HAR B B 2 AT s 48
EHEASINZRKRFKERS

BWEEUNR -

2018 2017

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETR ARETT

Within one year —&FR 5,510 4,624
In the second to fifth years, inclusive E_ZERF

(RIEEEME) 6,959 185

After five years RELE 243 -

12,712 4,809
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Notes to Financial Statements
Eji%ﬁ%%ﬁﬁ%f 31 December 2018

2018512 H31H

35. Commitments

Capital commitments

In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed
in note 34(b) above, the Group had the following capital
commitments at the end of the reporting period:

35. &H

BAEE
Br R34 (b)aFall 2 48 & FH B
BN RIRE IR A S @ 2 & A
ELUNNE

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARETT
Contracted, but not provided for: BRDITHNEREES

Property, plant and equipment Y - BB MRE 514,337 361,417

Capital contribution payable ERN—RE&8hEL
to a joint venture BARBE 1,122,759 1,200,935
1,637,096 1,562,352

At the end of the reporting period, save as detailed
elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group did not
have any significant commitments (2017: Nil).

CPMC Holdings Limited FRig & & B R AR

REBEHR - BREFHHRERT
FALESN - AEEARIEFREAE
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36. Related Party Transactions

(@

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere
in these financial statements, the Group had the
following material transactions with related parties
during the year:

Notes to Financial Statements
B R R M AT

31 December 2018
2018 12A31H

36. BELRS

(a) BREEUBHRREME TR
ZRGHN REBRFREEH

BALETEARRZOT :

31 December

31 December

2018 2017
20185 20174
12831H 12H31H
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HiaF ARBET T ANEREETIT
Transactions with COFCO: HhENRS ¢
Rental expense Herx (1) 1,442 1,442
Purchase of IT software EEAMB RS R
and IT facilities EBHEERE (v) 469 -
Transactions with related EREE N AR
companies*: RH*
Sale of products HEESR (i) 35,907 31,818
Transactions with COFCO BFBIEHR S
Finance:
Interest income (Note 5) FBUWA (B1:E5) (i) 2,948 4,183
Transactions with COFCO EHANTEBRR
(Hong Kong), a substantial hig (F8) &
shareholder of the Company, EWB AR (5t
and its subsidiaries [Fig (%)
(collectively the “COFCO £H]) 85 :
Hong Kong Group”):
Sale of products SHEEM (i) 367,496 271,679
Rental expense eM% (ii) 1,261 3,503
Transactions with ORG HANREBRE
Technology, a substantial Bine R K
shareholder of the Company, EMBEAR (57
and its subsidiaries [ RIFSEHE
(collectively the “ORG £EH]) XS :
Technology Group”):
Sale of products HEEMR (i) 134,823 199,815
Purchase of products BEEM (iv) 71,337 179,311
Sale of raw materials SHERM R (vii) 2,444 -
Transactions with the AR ER E M N FHY
associate of the Group: R
Interest income (Note 5) RBEWA (B15E5) (vi) 2,384 780
Transactions with the joint EAREBEEGEPERN
venture of the Group: R
Sale of products SHEEM (i) 284,451 -

*

Related companies are companies under significant

influence of COFCO.

Y BERADEFPEEAZENL

7
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Notes to Financial Statements

B RS R BT RE

31 December 2018
2018 12A31H

36. Related Party Transactions (continued)

(@

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere
in these financial statements, the Group had the
following material transactions with related parties
during the year: (continued)

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(iii

(iv)

v)

(vi)

(vii)

The sales were made according to the published prices
and conditions offered to the major customers of the
Group.

The rental expenses were determined with reference to
the prevailing market rental.

The interest income arising from the deposits to
COFCO Finance was determined in accordance with
the prevailing RMB deposit rates promulgated by
the People’'s Bank of China with the same terms and
conditions.

The considerations were determined with reference
to the prevailing market prices/rates and the prices
charged to third parties.

The transactions were carried out in accordance with
the terms and conditions mutually agreed by the parties
involved.

The interest income arising from the entrusted loan
fo an associate was determined in accordance with
the prevailing RMB interest rates promulgated by
the People’s Bank of China with the same terms and
conditions.

The sales were made according to the published prices
and conditions.

CPMC Holdings Limited g3 HIR AR

36. BELXRZ (&)

(@

MREZEV KRR i 5 rE
ZREN KEBRFERNER
BATETEARRZNOT
(#&)

Hiz -

() BEHEETLRES FIZER
RIS TR E B BEE Ay
IR TTHETT

(i) MEHZHREHTHEM
LMET °

(ifi) ELE B F G R HFE
WA T3t FE B B A B4R 77 B
BE BT A BB 1750+
FERB IR R AR T ETE ©

(iv) RIEZLEBHEITHEBF
RAIFE= WG BISETE -

v) BEXZIRESRETE
I E BV IE R NI ETT

i) BEFBERNFIZIENEL
ZFBMA TR IEF EJA R
IRITE M ) B 7T A R FI K
R EIRA RANKIEEE -

(vii) BEHEETIREE FIZE
KA ETT ©



Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2018 Eji%*&%lzﬁﬂ

2018412 H31H

36. Related Party Transactions (continued) 36. ELXRSZ (&) CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
(b) Outstanding balances with related parties: (b) EHEAE AT ZREMKRFEHRE ! CASHFLOWS

FAESRER

31 December 31 December

2018 2017
20184 20174
12A31H 12H31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AREFT
Trade and bills receivables (Note 20): & S WK (A17£20) - Frl'r?;ﬁgll\?
Related companies* B h=NCIl 8,123 18,378 STATEMENTS
The COFCO Hong Kong Group Hig (B78) £8 67,189 32,967 BBERN
The ORG Technology Group Hine R 43,040 60,273
Prepayments, other receivables TR - E bR &
and other assets (Note 21): HiEE (Fi221) -
The COFCO Hong Kong Group Fig (B8) &8 5,690 11,796
Trade payables (Note 23): B O MR (HfiE23)
The COFCO Hong Kong Group Fig (F8) £8 - 466 FIVE-YEAR
The ORG Technology Group RS R EE 2,594 44,515 hoives
TFHHHE
Other payables and accruals Hib RS R ERIER
(Note 24): (Htzt24)
The COFCO Hong Kong Group Fig (B8) &8 904 547
The ORG Technology Group Bine R SR - 64
Deposits placed (Note 22): FREWR (Hfitzz) :
COFCO Finance AR A1 7% 801,340 270,361
Entrusted loan (Note 21): ZEER (Kat2t) -
Associate = y/NE] - 54,000
*  Related companies are companies under significant Y BERFDRPIEEAZEN L
influence of COFCO. Al e
Except for the deposits placed to COFCO Finance BR1F R IR B )7 SR R et B
which are interest-bearing and repayable on demand, AEEBREERGTHEDAZE
and an entrusted loan to an associate which was AERRALEERNAFEER
interested-bearing and repaid during this year, the Oh - BAb KSRy IR - ARHE R
other balances are unsecured, interest-free and have I 8% B A R o

no fixed terms of repayment.
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Notes to Financial Statements
Eﬂi‘%iﬁi’%ﬁﬁf 31 December 2018

2018512 H31H

36. Related Party Transactions (continued)

(c)

(d)

Transactions and balances with other state-owned
entities

The Group operates in an economic environment
predominated by enterprises directly or indirectly
owned or controlled by the PRC government
through its numerous authorities, affiliates or other
organisations (collectively, “State-owned Enterprises”).
During the year, the Group enters into extensive
transactions, mainly covering purchases of tinplates
with State-owned Enterprises, other than the COFCO
Group, on terms comparable to those with other
non-state-owned entities.

The directors consider that transactions with other
State-owned Enterprises are activities in the ordinary
course of its business, and that dealings of the Group
have not been significantly or unduly affected by the
fact that the Group and those State-owned Enterprises
are ultimately controlled or owned by the PRC
government. The Group has also established pricing
policies for products and services, and such policies
do not depend on whether or not the customers
are State-owned Enterprises. Having due regard to
the substance of the relationships, the directors of
the Company are of the opinion that none of these
transactions constitutes a related party transaction
that requires separate disclosure.

Compensation of key management personnel of
the Group:

36. BELXRZ (&)
(c) REARAERCHNXER

BREE
AEEELNKERRETFHE
ERZ/TEBMBEERS
R MEREEGEASE
BEIEEEEREFNEE
(mEEARE] -FR - XK
SHEREEENIINBEE DR
FETRERS T2 MK
BHOSE  GREEMIFEE
EEZHERZOEFEE -

E=RA BEBBEALERZ
RHR 5 REREEBKBIER
HEITHRE - AAKERAP L
A A B A A AR SR Y
BAEMENEZWLE X B E
ERTEFE AKEEDTE
EmMRE N EERR - M&
FHRAFIORREFRE R
BAELE KAFEELEHW
BRAER  ARREFERR
ZERGBTERAZIT TN
BENBETRS °

(d) *EEFTEEBASNHE

31 December 31 December

2018 2017

20184 20174

12A31H 12H31H

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARBTT

Short term employee benefits 5 HE B &R 5,231 7,395

Post-employment benefits BB BEN 443 429
Total compensation paid to key TNFEBERAEN

management personnel RIS 5,674 7,824

Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s BREENEBITHRAE 2B

emoluments are included in note 8 to the financial
statements.

A certain portion of these related party transactions in
respect of certain items (i) (i) (iv) and (v) of (a) above
also constitute connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

CPMC Holdings Limited frigf &2 ii AR AT

T - FHBENM B RE
R

X ERR)G) i)~ (iv) (V)
MEAEARSETHD IIEK
TR BFEI4AZET R ERNE
ERGUIFEER S ©



37. Financial Instruments by Category

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as

follows:

Financial assets

31 December 2018

Notes to Financial Statements

31 December 2018

2018412 H31H

PR SRR MY

37. REFIEINEMTHE

FEeRTAENNBSHARNER

(=R N

THEE

2018F12A31H

Financial
assets at
fair value
through other Financial
comprehensive assets at
income -Debt amortised
investments cost Total
BOFERA
Htv2EKE
MEMEE - REHEEA
BEIR HEZEREE @5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AR%TR AR%TR
Trade and bills receivables BHRUF R EREE 143,403 1,548,944 1,692,347
Financial assets included in prepayments, st AFARE - Efb YR
other receivables and other assets REMEENSREE - 59,582 59,582
Pledged deposits [REe e - 51,696 51,696
Cash and cash equivalents BehBESEY - 893,877 893,877
143,403 2,554,099 2,697,502
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Notes to Financial Statements
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2018512 H31H

37. Financial Instruments by Category
(continued)

Financial assets (continued)

31 December 2017

37. BERE I NERMT AR (&)

THMEE (&)
201712A31H

Loan and receivables

B R EBGR
RMB’000
ARBT T
Trade and bills receivables BN RN EE 1,630,793

Financial assets included in prepayments, AR MEN R ERIER A
other receivables and other assets SRBE 124,401
Pledged deposits [REEEiES 72,411
Cash and cash equivalents ReFReEEY 711,179
2,538,784

Financial liabilities tEas

Financial liabilities at
amortised cost

REBHERATEZ SREE
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTIT
Trade and bills payables BN RENER 1,195,705 1,249,039

Financial liabilities included in ST AEAMER KR

other payables and accruals EFTEEMSRIAE 186,686 219,294
Interest-bearing bank borrowings SHEIRITER 4,093,186 3,248,267
5,477,577 4,716,600

CPMC Holdings Limited FRig & & B R AR
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2018412 H31H

38. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of 38. TWMTANAFERAFE CONSOLIDATED

Financial Instruments =44 STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS
o BABAREE
AEFBeREEZFRAAEAREAYF

B (AEOFRAFENREER

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s
financial instruments, other than those with carrying

amounts that reasonably approximate to fair values, are as SN T
follows:
Carrying amounts Fair values
BREE A¥E
2018 2017 2018 2017 NOTES TO
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000  RMB’000 ST;'T’éfw"E‘:l"T‘;
ARETT ARETRT ARETRT ARETT B RENE
Financial assets SREE
Bills receivables* L ESE 143,404 114,028 143,404 114,028
Financial liabilities TRAE
Interest-bearing bank FTBRITER
borrowings 4,093,186 3,248,267 4,093,186 3,248,267

* Bills receivables as at 31 December 2017 amounting
to RMB114,028,000 were classified as financial assets
measured at amortised cost under HKAS 39.

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, the current portion of pledged deposits,
trade receivables, trade and bills payables, financial assets
included in prepayments, other receivables and other
assets and financial liabilities included in other payables
and accruals, approximate to their carrying amounts largely
due to the short term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the financial liabilities are included at
the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged
in a current transaction between willing parties, other than
in a forced or liquidation sale. The following methods and
assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of interest-bearing bank borrowings have
been calculated by discounting the expected future cash
flows using rates currently available for instruments with
similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The risk
ratings of the banks from where the bills receivables issued
as at 31 December 2018 were assessed to be insignificant.
The Group’s own non-performance risk for interest-bearing
bank borrowings as at 31 December 2018 was assessed to
be insignificant.

* R2017F12H31H B B A K &
114,028,000T £ fE W Z 15 IR 15 &
BB SR FE B9 7 B B I A
FitEH 2 HEE °

BEEBEEHG RERREFE
W DEREFERRBED  BHE
WK BHRNREEMNEE - &
AN R R R EE
B2 B B AT A EL At FE AN R N R
AAEEMERAE A FEERE
HEMEE  TEHARZEFTAZE
HIR®E -

SHMARHAFENRERL S
B AN S GEREREREE)
TRPLZTEAMETEAR U7
=R B R (el AFAE -

SFESRITERAA ¥@EL&M
BEREARGER  EERBREET
ﬁ@%HEMIﬂmﬂi%ﬁﬁ%
KRW e REFAEF L - H2018F
12A318 - %ﬁﬁwmfmﬂﬁm
[B B AR 4 5T BTN E K » 722018
Emﬂma REERHHET R
TEFELHRRETHEATERK -
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CONSOLDATED 38. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of 38. TATANAFERAFE
STATEMENT OF Financial Instruments (continued) 4 (&)
CASH FLOWS
FEREMER
e Fair value hierarchy AEEER
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement THREAREEESHRITANLTE
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments: FrEER
Assets for which fair values are disclosed: ERELFENEE -
As at 31 December 2018 R2018F12A31H
NOTES TO
FINANCIAL ; :
STATEMENTS Fair value mea\su/liement Es:mg
bp S Bl ERANTRRETAVENE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active  observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

RER EATRE EAFTEBER
mENRE BARE BARE

(E—4%) (=) (B=8) @t

FIVE-YEAR RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

gmmg& AR®TR AR®TR AE®TR AR®TR

nEHEHE Bills receivables EWEE - - 143,404 143,404
As at 31 December 2017 A2017%F12831H

Fair value measurement using
ERNTREETATETE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
WER  EAUHE EATTEER
MiHHNRE BARE BARE
(F—H) (E=) (F=R) st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETFT ARBTR ARETT ARETR
Bills receivables eSS - - 114,028 114,028
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38. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of 38. EMTANAFERAFE CONSOLIDATED
Financial Instruments (continued) E& (&) STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
) ) _ _ BABSRER
Fair value hierarchy (continued) AFEER (F)
Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed: ERENTFENEE -
As at 31 December 2018 R2018F12H31H

Fair value measurement using

BRUTERETATETE NOTES TO
i ianifi ianifi FINANCIAL
Quote.d prI(?eS Significant Significant TS
inactive  observable unobservable RN
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

RER EATER EATTEER

mHENRE BARE BARE
() (E=#) (B=8) ot
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR  AR®TR  AR®TR  ARBTR

Interest-bearing bank borrowings SHERTER - - 4,093,186 4,093,186 FFllkl/ENYCEIA/\;FL{
SUMMARY
As at 31 December 2017 A2017%12A31H AEBHHE

Fair value measurement using
ERATRIEETATEE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
WERTSE  EATEE EATAEE
HHE BARE BARR
(F—H) (B=#) (F=8) @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETT ARBTR ARETT ARETR
Interest-bearing bank borrowings ATRRITRER - - 3,248,267 3,048,267
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Notes to Financial Statements
Eﬂi‘%iﬁi’% M{I'EI 31 December 2018

2018512 H31H

39. Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign currency risk, price
risk, and interest rate risk), credit risk, and liquidity risk.
The Group’s overall risk management program focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance.

(a) Market risk
(i) Foreign currency risk

The functional currency of most of the Company’s
subsidiaries is RMB since the majority of the
revenues of the subsidiaries are derived from
operations in Mainland China. Foreign exchange
risk arises from future commercial transactions of
limited purchases from overseas and recognised
assets or liabilities, such as cash and cash
equivalents (Note 22) and bank borrowings (Note
26), certain of which are denominated in US$ and
HKS$.

As at 31 December 2018, if RMB had
strengthened/weakened by 5.0% against US$
with all other variables held constant, the profit
for the year for each of the years would have
changed mainly as a result of foreign exchange
gains/losses on the translation of cash and cash
equivalents and bank borrowings denominated
in US$ and HK$. Details of the changes are as

39. MBEMEEBEREREE

35 R B R 3=

AEENESENE E R TR
MRk misER (B¥ENEE
% BRREREFXER)  FER
RERBEZRAR - AERENERE
RgERtERTRERTHHT
A FEAIE - 3 1 SRR AR E PR K
HAKEHHRANBETNEE -

(a) AR
(i) HNERB

ARABNZHME R TN
MEEBABEARE BB
ZEWB AR ZKZHK
NIR B B A i 5 275 o
SN RRR B B IR E H)3R
INREBARBERS RE
BRNEEXEE - I
BeMhBELSED (T
22) RiRITER (MIsE26)
(B & ETRBT
FHE) °

M2018F12A31H © i
B EMEBERFE
mMAREREEZTHE
B2B5.0% BHEES
FHNESgEMNE
TEZEHRBREUAETLR
BILEENReMRESE
B RIR1TE R E KU

follows: w/ e BHEEL
™
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
Profit for the year increase/(decrease) FEEFIEEM (FD) AR®TR ARETT
- Strengthened by 5.0% — F{B5.0% 153,931 111,594
_ Weakened by 5.0% — B51H5.0% (153,031) (111,594)
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39. Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)
(a) Market risk (continued)

(ii)

(iif)

Price risk

Tinplate and aluminium are the major raw
materials of the Group. The prices for tinplate and
aluminium may be affected by market demand
and supply, domestic government policies and
other economic conditions. In order to maintain
a continued production cycle, the Group has a
policy of maintaining a certain level of tinplate
and aluminium inventories. The level of the
Group’s tinplate and aluminium inventories will
depend on orders on hand, the prices of tinplate
and aluminium in the market and the perceived
future trend of the tinplate and aluminium
prices. To partially minimise the Group’s market
price risk exposure, the Group enters into
commodity futures contracts of aluminium. In
selecting suppliers, the Group usually takes
into consideration the price and quality of the
tinplate and aluminium. The directors believe it
is not necessary for the Group to enter into any
long-term supply contracts with its suppliers to
ensure stable material prices as there are various
sources of tinplate and aluminium and the Group
has not experienced any difficulties in securing
a steady source of high quality tinplate and
aluminium.

Interest rate risk

Except for bank deposits with stable
interest rates, the Group has no significant
interest-bearing assets. The Group’s income
and operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest rates.

The Group’s interest rate risk mainly arises from
bank borrowings. Bank borrowings obtained at
variable rates expose the Group to cash flow
interest rate risk. Bank borrowings obtained at
fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest
rate risk. The Group has not hedged its cash flow
and fair value interest rate risks. The interest rates
and terms of repayments of bank borrowings are
disclosed in note 26.

Notes to Financial Statements

31 December 2018

RS ER R Y
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39. MBEMEEERREE

(&)

MBEBEE (&)
(a) THER (&)

(i)

(iif)

e
EOEMERAEENE
DEME - BEO#IEE
WA EmBHE - B
BRI IR 28 DA B L Ath A 78
MR L - BEERIFEE
BAHNEHE  AEEST
B ASERF —ERKENE
DR E - AEEN
BO#EMIBREDUARF
SHEIE - MK N Mia
BRARATELRARZE
DR ER - BRIEA
SEmENBHMER
% AEERT IR AR
FmAL - NIBEHRER
B AEE-—REESO
BAMEERREE - ESR
e AR E DO FIER
BRLZURAKEBESK
BEEEOEHMERTE R
BB R - B A
SEYTHEEZARESD
EAmmER BT mEE
WMEHE R SR RAFE IR
AF o

T =Rk
REEREMENRITF
AN - RE BN B E
RETBEE - AEB 2K
ARBEE G REBR £
WAEMiGH RSB
2B o

AEBEOFREREE K
BERITER - FERITE
REAEEARRERE
MEERE o ESRITER
EAREEARZ A FEME
R o AEE W EFLEIR
ERERDFENXER
EITIER S o RITEK
R R 8 SRR B FE26 3%

Ego
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Notes to Financial Statements
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2018512 H31H

CONSOLIDATED 39. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 39. ¥EREREERRERBR
STATEMENT OF Policies (continued) (&)
CASH FLOWS
BERERER " L . -
Financial risk factors (continued) BEBEE (F)
(a) Market risk (continued) (a) THERE (&)
(iii) Interest rate risk (continued) (i) F=ERE (8)
Management does not anticipate any significant B R ER 1T 17 3R A1 % 58 A
impact on interest-bearing assets resulting TgRggEs EERER
from the changes in interest rates, because the HMARHEHTEHTE
interest rates of bank deposits are not expected BEEEENEARE -
NOTES TO to change significantly.
FINANCIAL
%T;ggﬁgs As at 31 December 2018, if interest rates of bank R2018F12A318 « 1§
borrowings had been 25 basis points higher/ e EMEERFTEM
lower with all other variable held constant, the RITERFIE EF TR
profit for the year for each of the years would 5B AR - RRNEEEME
have changed mainly as a result of higher/lower T BB S R
interest expenses on floating rate borrowings. L BEFESENEE
Details of the changes are as follows: GRLEEE BEFIEN
™
FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL Group
TR e
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease) Increase/
in basis in profit (decrease)
points after tax in equity*
BEEEn . BRBEFE g
(R2) #m (D) (R2)

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR®TR

Year ended 31 December HZ2018F12831H

2018 LEFE 25 (9,755) -
Year ended 31 December HZE2017F12831H

2017 LEFE 25 (8,317) -
Year ended 31 December HZE2018F12831H

2018 LEFE (25) 9,755 -
Year ended 31 December HZE2017F12831H

2017 IHFE (25) 8,317 -

*  Excluding retained profits T EEBERE

298 CPMC Holdings Limited dr#g 6 $1%f5 AR A &)




39. Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit
risk. The carrying amounts of pledged bank deposits,
cash and cash equivalents, trade and bills receivables
and other receivables included in the consolidated
financial statements represent the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk in relation to its financial assets.

The Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that
all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are
subject to credit verification procedures. In addition,
receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing
basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not
significant. For transactions that are not denominated
in the functional currency of the relevant operating
unit, the Group does not offer credit terms without the
specific approval of the Head of Credit Control.

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2018 Eji%*ﬁi%lzﬁﬂ

2018412 H31H

39. ?J%%ELI@%‘IE BEEREE

MBEBEE (&)

(b) 1=ZEm@E
AEETESEETHNEER
@ o SRA VB mAAIIEEM
RUTEFER BehkReFE
Y B 5 RYEGREEREEIA
Ko B JE WO Y BR DB B AN 5
BAfEREESREERHD
RAEERR -

AEEEEZLRAN  FER
HEOE=ZTETRS - BEBA
SEOBEK  BYHMARREK
RERTRNETRSNEFE
TERERZ - = AEEY
FEM R SRR R T IS B B E
VATE (R 7N 65 [ 1 2R [ e & N8R
fRERR - HRRERAAEEE
BUMDEEEREENRS
BRIEAKBERERBMAEE
Frpl e - B RIAREEA R
ERR S G -
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Notes to Financial Statements
g SR

31 December 2018
2018 12A31H

Policies (continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continueq)

39. Financial Risk Management Objectives and

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31

December 2018

The table below shows the credit quality and the
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the
Group’s credit policy, which is mainly based on past
due information unless other information is available
without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging
classification as at 31 December 2018. The amounts
presented are gross carrying amounts for financial
assets and the exposure to credit risk for the financial

guarantee contracts.

3&%5@%%&5%&&%

MBEBEE (&)

(b)

=B (&)
R2018F12H31H #9 &= K /&
B i 01 ] 4F 7 g R

T & & 5 R20185F12A31H
ERAEBEEBRR (EEK
BRBER  HEEMERES
- H BB MK AN Bk A 7 BD AT BAS
Bl{ERIMR) MEREHREER
FERBREAIMO - 25|80 &
HATHEERSHERAY
FERBIM O RREE -

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12f8R%
HEEFSE 2HRNEERE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage3  approach
£-Ka e £=KR BEH%E
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR  AR¥ETR AR¥Tn ARETR ARETR
Trade receivables* ERRYG - - - 1892347 1692347
Financial assets included in prepayments, st ABEME - EftEKE R
other receivables and other assets EEEMEREE
- Normal™* - 59,582 - - - 59,582
Pledged deposits BEAER
- Not et past due™* - HARE 51,69 - - - 51,696
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEEY
~Not yet past due - HAEE 893,877 - - - 893,877
1,005,155 - - 169347 2697502

*k

ok

For trade receivables to which the Group applies the
simplified approach for impairment, information based
on the provision matrix is disclosed in note 20 to the
financial statements.

The credit quality of the financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets is
considered to be “normal” when they are not past due
and there is no information indicating that the financial
assets had a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the
financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”.

As at 31 December 2018, all pledged bank deposits
and bank balances were deposited with licensed
financial institutions without significant credit risk.
Management does not expect any losses from
non-performance of these counterparties.

CPMC Holdings Limited g3 HIR AR

Y BAEBERGE ST 2T
EAYE SN - B IREIE
BRI E R TR M it 208%

AT AERL - B ERR
A EEHFETAELHEE
HY15 B B 1146 HESE A A
ZIE - RV (ZHE E R
[IEE] > &R ZFLMEZE
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39. Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

Maximum exposure as at 31 December 2017

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets,
which comprise cash and cash equivalents, amounts
due from associates and joint ventures, other
receivables and certain derivative instruments, arises
from default of the counterparty, with a maximum
exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these
instruments.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement for
collateral. Concentrations of credit risk are managed
by customer/counterparty, by geographical region
and by industry sector. There are no significant
concentrations of credit risk within the Group as the
customer bases of the Group’s trade receivables are
widely dispersed in different sectors and industries.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables
are disclosed in note 20 to the financial statements.

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2018 Eji%*ﬁi% M;J.EI
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MEEEE (F)

(b) 1=EEE (&)
R2017F12H31H &9 & X /&
B
rEEEMeREE (B1FER
e RBEEEY - BREER
AREEPENRIE - AMERK
REEFOTETR) WEER
BKERSGHFEL AR
G 0 BBz %5 T B BR = E 4
BRAEEERLRATN - 5
BRITNE=ZFETRS &
HEKFR AEBEEFE
RHEF - R IR MR AT
X¥BFEREERRESM
B AERTEREENEER
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39. Financial Risk Management Objectives and

Policies (continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)
(c) Liquidity risk

39. ,El\?g%ﬁtl?ﬁ%‘fi BERBER

MBEEEE ()
(c) nBELER

Prudent liquidity risk management includes
maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalents, the
availability of funds through adequate amounts of
committed credit facilities and the ability to close out
market positions.

EERNRDESRREERR
HBERANBASRASEE
Y BETBERRNEARKE
EREBENARIPRES
REEETISET 2880 »

NOTES TO
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
BHRRME

BRIEMBFT BRITERIN R
BERERRNH TR HPAOH
RetH - AKRERBEHBEE
BR—FARREFRFE - M
BRA WA FRBER 5
WA EEITEE

Except for non-current interest-bearing bank
borrowings, all the Group’s financial liabilities will be
settled within one year or on demand based on the
remaining contractual maturity date at the end of the
reporting period and their contractual undiscounted
payment amounts are disclosed in note 37 to the
financial statements.

RIFEHARMBANKE A&
B E BRE IR

The maturity profile of the Group’s bank borrowings
as at the end of the reporting period, based on the

FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL contractual undiscounted payments, is as follows: HERI T -
SUMMARY
TFHBHE
6 to less
Less than than 1to5
6 months 12 months years Total
6EAED
LR6EA R12BR 1EZE5F &5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR®TR AR®BTR AR¥TxR
2018 20184
Interest-bearing bank FTERITER
borrowings 56,891 2,194,848 1,992,392 4,244,131
2017 201745
Interest-bearing bank FTERITEN
borrowings 31,985 989,420 2,341,261 3,362,666

CPMC Holdings Limited g a8 BR AT
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39. Financial Risk Management Objectives and

Policies (continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The
Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital
requirements. No changes were made in the objectives,
policies or processes for managing capital during the years
ended 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is
calculated as net interest-bearing bank borrowings
divided by total equity attributable to equity holders of the
Company, in which the net borrowings are calculated as
total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents.

The Group’s strategy is to maintain a moderate gearing
ratio. The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting
periods were as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2018 Eji%*ﬁi%lzﬁﬁ
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39. MBEMEEBERREE

(&)

EXER
AEBEAEENTZENARE
AEBEBEAFELE TGS
BEREARLLE  EMFEER
R RICBREE -

AEBAELERRES NABE
EsRBFE EREAREEILE
AEEBAAZEMRELFRENS
B MREREE AN BTG
o REBEWRZ I ERINRER
HERS - HE2018F128318 &
2017F12HA31HIEFE » ERER
MERR - BURSE &S -

HEXAEMAR & AERERE
ERBELREZREER - ZL X
ThiEEE BERITEFOF BB AR R A
BRAFHE AREEERE - HP
ERFRESERRENEREHER

AEBEZRIBESBEERBL RS
FREHKF - RBEPRRZEE
BELEET

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARETT
Total interest-bearing bank borrowings STRRITET S
(Note 26) (Hzt26) 4,093,186 3,248,267
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B ReRReEEY
(Note 22) (Hiat22) (893,877) (711,179)
Net borrowings ERFRE 3,199,309 2,537,088
Equity attributable to equity holders of ERRBRAEE AR
the Company & 4,897,037 4,975,540
Gearing ratio EEABLE 65% 51%
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40. A RQ R BAMRR =

40. Statement of Financial Position of the

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

GARERER

Company

Information about the statement of financial position of the
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

BRAAR QB R®EHRY BN K

ZEBHEIWT

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREF T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
NOTES TO Property, plant and equipment ME - BENE 121 169
g'T’:\‘}’E'&'é\"‘-TS Investments in subsidiaries RIEARIRIRE 5,185,367 4,298,186
PEs Bl Prepayments SEINEN 2,361 3,774
Total non-current assets BIEREEE 5,187,849 4,302,129
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Due from subsidiaries ) NGIE ] 1,797,924 1,617,441
Prepayments, other receivables and FERR - ARG R
other assets HEE 5,478 5,893
Cash and cash equivalents HERBELEEY 63,376 208,832
FIVE-YEAR Total current assets BREEE 1,866,778 1,832,166
?LTI\AARIAE\'FA{\# CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
REBEES Interest-bearing bank borrowings sTESRITIER 2,142,232 961,297
Other payables and accruals B R ERTER 92,466 95,172
Total current liabilities BREAE 2,234,698 1,056,469
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEEHE (367,920) 775,697
TOTAL ASSETS LESS REERARBAE
CURRENT LIABILITIES 4,819,929 5,077,826
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FEMBITER 1,950,954 2,286,970
Total non-current liabilities EIERHEE 1,950,954 2,286,970
Net assets EBE 2,868,975 2,790,856
EQUITY i
Share capital e 2,730,433 2,730,433
Reserves (Note) e () 138,542 60,423
Total equity BiEm 2,868,975 2,790,856
ZHANG XIN ZHANG YE
RE R
Director Director
EF EF
304 CPMC Holdings Limited 186 #1%fE AFR A 7
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40. Statement of Financial Position of the 40. AR EI B BRI K (&) CONSOLIDATED

Company (continued) STATEMENT OF

Mt - CASH FLOWS

Note: FERERER
TREZERHERIOT -

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

Share-based Exchange

payment fluctuation Retained
reserve reserve profits Total
MR BER EXEB
‘ . NOTES T0
ZftHE 1 BEFE Eh FINANCIAL
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 STATEMENTS
Wi AE%TR  ARMTR  ARMTR  AR%TR HBHEHE
As at 1 January 2017 R201781 718 19,592 109,800 136,192 265,584
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year  EE2EWA /(E518) &4 - (152,565) 148,254 (4,311)
Transfer of share-based payment reserve BRI R Ik e
upon the forfeiture or expiry of BRI AER
share options S (812) - 812 -
2016 final dividend declared BER016FREES - - (117,456) (117,456)
2017 Interim dividend 017FH RS 11 - - (83,394) (83,394)
At 31 December 2017 and 1 January 2018 2017512 A318 R FIVE-YEAR
201851710 18,780 (42,765) 84,408 60,423 FINANCIAL
Total comprehensive income for the year FERAKALE _ 98,421 121,820 200,241 ﬁ%’;ﬂi’;ﬂ%g
2017 final dividend declared BER0ITERLRE 11 - - (71,648) (71,648) o
2018 Interim dividend 20185 ERE 11 - - (70,474) (70,474)
As at 31 December 2018 72018512 A31H 18,780 55,656 64,106 138,542
41. Approval of the Financial Statements a1, gLAERBRE
The financial statements were approved and authorised for EEEMR201943H26H 8t/ k&%
issue by the board of directors on 26 March 2019. RN E
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Five-Year Financial Summary

hFEHBHME

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and
non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial ES
years, as extracted from the published audited consolidated

TREJAEERNBERBAMBFREZ
BE BENEERERME
HEEMHEAE HHEEZERAE

financial statements and restated/reclassified as appropriate, is BHEs WEEHN EHOE (B
as below: A) -
Year ended 31 December
HZ12A31ALEE
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT AR®TT ARBTT
Revenue WA 6,591,307 5,978,238 5,220,999 5,103,718 5,295,417
Cost of sales BERA (5,621,212) (5,017,347) (4,266,546) (4,197,823) (4,350,276)
Gross profit EF 970,095 960,891 954,453 905,895 945,141
Other income and gain H b U A e Mz
- net — %% 53,402 49,633 65,248 70,995 75,980
Selling and marketing expenses ~ $5& % 4 4% B (310,937)  (286,891) (261,531) (255,852)  (238,196)
Administrative expenses TRER (276,446)  (269,548)  (303,567)  (276,095)  (286,113)
Other expenses Hith37 - - - (7,000) -
Finance costs HBER (90,366)  (43,839)  (56,144)  (53,215)  (40,482)
Share of losses of an associate  E{LEEE A A& 1E - (16) - -
Profit before income tax PR P15 B A1 I 345,748 410,230 398,459 384,728 456,330
Income tax expense FrSRim (80,476)  (98,358) (100,488)  (99,795)  (109,480)
Profit for the year FEANE 265,272 311,872 297,971 284,933 346,850
Attributable to: 1S -
Equity holders of the Company — ARAQGIRAIFE A 255,061 310,511 294,071 282,898 345,855
Non-controlling interests TR S 10,211 1,361 3,900 2,035 995
265,272 311,872 297,971 284,933 346,850
Assets, liabilities and BEE 8EH
non-controlling interests FERES
Total assets BEE 10,975,684 10,250,514 8,506,483 7,843,718 7,618,033
Total liabilities BaE (5,727,096) (4,958,422) (3,675,267) (3,519,775) (3,380,442)
Non-controlling interests IR RS (351,551)  (316,552) (120,364) (111,664)  (100,451)
4,897,037 4975540 4,710,852 4,212,279 4,137,140
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